Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission Reports of Governing and Major Subsidiary Bodies



Thirty-ninth Session of the Executive Council

Paris, 21-28 June 2006

UNESCO

Thirty-ninth Session of the Executive Council

Paris, 21-28 June 2006

UNESCO 2006

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Paris, 28 July 2006 Original: English

(SC-2006/CONF.201/CLD.15)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	OPENING1			
2.	ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION1			
2.1	ADOI	ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA		
2.2	DESI	DESIGNATION OF THE RAPPORTEUR		
2.3	ESTA	ESTABLISHMENT OF INTRASESSIONAL COMMITTEES		
2.4	INTR	INTRODUCTION OF TIMETABLE AND DOCUMENTATION		
2.5	ROGER REVELLE MEMORIAL LECTURE			
3.	DEVELOPMENTS SINCE THE 23RD SESSION OF THE IOC ASSEMBLY3			
3.1	REPORT BY THE IOC CHAIRMAN ON THE STATE OF THE COMMISSION			
3.2	REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY ON PROGRAMME AND BUDGET IMPLEMENTATION4			
4.		PROGRAMME MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS BY THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL		
4.1	GENERAL POLICY ISSUES			
	4.1.1	Regular Process for Global Reporting and Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment, including Socio-Economic Aspects		
	4.1.2	IOC Draft Medium-term Strategy (2008–2013)		
	4.1.3	IOC Participation in the International Polar Year 2007–2008 and in the International Year of Planet Earth 2007–2009		
	4.1.4	Secretariat Report on the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS) Implementation11		
4.2	OCEAN SCIENCES			
	4.2.1	Cooperation between the Census of Marine Life and IOC Main Lines of Action13		
	4.2.2	Report of the Advisory Group for the Ocean Sciences		
	4.2.3	Member State interaction with the WMO-ICSU-IOC World Climate Research Programme (WCRP)16		
4.3	OCEA	N OBSERVATIONS AND SERVICES		
	4.3.1	Follow-up to the Second Session of the WMO-IOC Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM)17		

	4.3.2	Secretariat Report on Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) Programme Implementation20
	4.3.3	Progress with the development of an IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management
4.4	CAPA	CITY-BUILDING, TEMA AND PUBLIC AWARENESS
	4.4.1	Executive Secretary Report on Implementation of the IOC Capacity-Building Strategy24
4.5	REGI	ONAL ACTIVITIES
	4.5.1	Follow-up to the Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean (IOCINDIO)
	4.5.2	Follow-up to the Ninth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE)
	4.5.3	Follow-up to the Sixth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (IOCWIO)
	4.5.4	Follow-up to the Report of the Inter-sessionnal Working Group on Regional Programmes
4.6	UNIT	ED NATIONS CONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS
	4.6.1	Follow-up to the Sixth Session of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE-LOS VI)
4.7	TSUN	AMI ACTIVITIES
	4.7.1	Follow-up to the First and Second Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/IOTWS)
	4.7.2	Follow-up to the First and Second Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS)
	4.7.3	Follow-up to the First Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for Tsunami and other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (ICG/CARIBE-EWS)
	4.7.4	Follow-up to the Twentieth and Twenty-First Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the Pacific (ICG/PTWS)44
	4.7.5	Follow-up to the Report of the ad hoc Working Group on the Framework for a Global Tsunami and Other Ocean-related Hazards Early Warning System

page

5.	ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT	49
5.1	MAIN LINES OF ACTION FOR THE DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET FOR 2008–2009	49
5.2	DATES AND PLACES FOR THE FORTIETH AND FORTY-FIRST SESSIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL	52
5.3	RECRUITMENT PROCESS OF THE IOC EXECUTIVE SECRETARY	52
6.	OPEN MEETING WITH UNESCO DIRECTOR-GENERAL	53
7.	ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS AND SUMMARY REPORT	57
8.	CLOSURE	57
ANNE	XES	
I.		

- II. ADOPTED RESOLUTIONS
- III. STATEMENTS AND ADDRESSES

A – Mr Koïchiro Matsuura, Director-General of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)

B – "GEOSS: Serving Society from Multi-Hazard to Tsunami" by Vice-Admiral Conrad C. Lautenbacher, Jr. USN (ret.), Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere

C – Mr Hugo Gorziglia, Director, International Hydrographic Bureau

- IV. THE ROGER REVELLE MEMORIAL LECTURE, 2006
- V. IOC AD HOC WORKING GROUP ON THE FRAMEWORK FOR A GLOBAL OCEAN-RELATED HAZARDS EARLY WARNING SYSTEM – GUIDELINES
- VI. REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE FOR RESOLUTIONS
- VII. LIST OF DOCUMENTS
- VIII. LIST OF PARTICIPANTS
- IX. LIST OF ACRONYMS

1. **OPENING**

1

- The Chairman of IOC, Professor David Pugh, opened the 39th Session of the IOC Executive Council at 09.50 a.m. on Wednesday 21 June 2006. The Chairman asked the participants to stand in silence for one minute as a mark of respect for distinguished individuals who have collaborated with the Commission and have passed away during the past year: Agustín Ayala-Castañares (Mexico), former Chairman IOC, Sergey Sergeevich Lappo (Russia), and Joke Waller-Hunter, Executive Secretary of the Secretariat of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.
- 2 The Chairman welcomed the three new Member States that have joined IOC since June 2005: Cook Islands, Djibouti and Papua New Guinea.

2. ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION

2.1 ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

- The Executive Secretary introduced this item. All agenda items decided by the Assembly at its 23rd Session and by the Executive Council, subsequently, were included in the Revised Provisional Agenda. The Executive Secretary informed the Council that he had decided to include, with the agreement of the Officers of the Commission, Agenda Item 4.2.3—which was not in the initial Provisional Agenda—to allow consideration of the statutory report of the WMO–ICSU–IOC World Climate Research Programme (WCRP). This decision was made at the request of the Director of WCRP, Ann Henderson-Sellers, in fulfilment of the reporting mandate contained in the Memorandum of Understanding signed by the sponsoring agencies of WCRP.
- 4 The Executive Secretary also drew the attention of the Council to the fact that Agenda Item 6 provided an opportunity to have an open discussion with the Director-General of UNESCO, which was scheduled for 9.30 a.m. on 28 June 2006, immediately following the Director-General's address to the Council.
- 5 The Executive Secretary also announced that Vice-Admiral (Retired) Lautenbacher, Co-Chairman of GEOSS, would address the Council on 21 June 2006 afternoon, in advance of the discussion of item 4.1.4.
- 6 **The Executive Council adopted** the Revised Provisional Agenda without change; the Agenda for the present session is in Annex I hereto.
 - 2.2 DESIGNATION OF THE RAPPORTEUR
- 7 The Chairman invited the Council to designate the Rapporteur for the present session to assist the Chairman and the Executive Secretary in the preparation of the Draft Summary Report.
- 8 The United Kingdom, supported by France and Italy, proposed the Republic of Korea as the Rapporteur. The Korean Delegation accepted this proposal and nominated Mr Sang-Kyung Byun to be the Rapporteur.
- 9 The Executive Council accepted the proposal and welcomed Mr Byun as Rapporteur for the present session.

10

2.3 ESTABLISHMENT OF INTRASESSIONAL COMMITTEES

The Executive Council established the following open-ended statutory intrasessional committees, following the recommendations made by the Officers prior to the present session:

- (i) Technical Resolutions Committee, under the chairmanship of Canada
- (ii) Programme and Budget Committee, under the chairmanship of IOC Vice-Chairman, Neville Smith (Australia)
- (iii) Committee on the IOC Medium-term Strategy, 2008–2013, under the chairmanship of IOC Vice-Chairman, Captain Javier Valladares (Argentina).
- 2.4 INTRODUCTION OF TIMETABLE AND DOCUMENTATION
- *11* The Executive Secretary introduced the documentation.
- 12 The United Kingdom noted with concern the late availability of documents for the present session which had made national consultation difficult and which may reflect negatively on the effectiveness of all delegations during the session and on their reporting to their respective national authorities concerned, during and after the session.
- *13* France particularly stressed the importance of distributing the Action Paper to Member States in all languages at the earliest possible date prior to the session.
- 14 Portugal supported the remarks of the United Kingdom and France and pointed out that the impact of IOC would be stronger at the national level if national consultations in advance of the session, based on the relevant available documentation, are effective. Portugal added that this issue also poses the question of the IOC in terms of budget and staff to perform its tasks.
- 15 The Executive Secretary apologized for the late delivery of the documentation for the session, particularly the working document on the Draft Guidelines for the IOC Medium-term Strategy, 2008–2013.
- 16 The Chairman invited the Council to adopt the Provisional Timetable taking into account: (i) the time required by the invited speakers and any reporting in Plenary of intrasessional committees; (ii) the timely preparation of the Draft Summary Report in all the Commission's working languages; and (iii) the need to take full advantage of the UNESCO interpretation services.
- *17* **The Executive Council adopted** the second revised Provisional Timetable.
- *18* The list of documents is in Annex VII.
- 19 The Chairman reminded the Council that 21 June had been declared "World Hydrography Day" by the UN General Assembly (by Resolution A/RES/60/30, in November 2005). He then invited the Director of the International Hydrographic Bureau (IHB), Mr Hugo Gorziglia, to address the Executive Council.
- 20 Mr Gorziglia presented the World Hydrography Day as a special opportunity to highlight the importance of learning more about the oceans and seas, and of close cooperation between the IHB and the IOC. The theme for this first World Hydrography Day is "85 years of the IHO's

contribution to worldwide safety of navigation." The full text of Mr Gorziglia's statement is in Annex III-C.

2.5 ROGER REVELLE MEMORIAL LECTURE

- 21 Dr John Church, of the CSIRO, Australia, and Chair of the Joint Scientific Committee of the World Climate Research Programme, delivered the 2006 Roger Revelle Memorial Lecture under the title "Global Sea Levels: Past, Present and Future". He also co-chaired recently a WCRP Workshop on Understanding Sea-Level Rise and Predictability, which took place in UNESCO, Paris, 6–9 June 2006.
- 22 Dr Church addressed the factors governing sea-level rise; he summarized the various scenarios of sea-level change and the actions required to reduce the present uncertainty in its prediction. He also identified requirements for additional research, technical development and collection of sustained systematic observations. The Roger Revelle Memorial Lecture 2006 will be published in the IOC Technical Series.
- 23 On this occasion John Church was presented the IOC Roger Revelle Medal by the Chairman.

3. DEVELOPMENTS SINCE THE 23RD SESSION OF THE IOC ASSEMBLY

3.1 REPORT BY THE IOC CHAIRMAN ON THE STATE OF THE COMMISSION

- 24 The Chairman explained that, under Rule of Procedure No. 8.1a, the Chairman reports on the state of the Commission only to the Assembly. Nevertheless, in keeping with an established practice, he reported on actions taken by himself and the other Officers, on behalf of the IOC, since the 23rd Session of the Assembly (UNESCO, Paris, 21–30 June 2005). The Officers had held a meeting in Buenos Aires in January 2006 to discuss several policy issues, and in particular to plan for this 39th Session of the Executive Council. They were very appreciative of the facilities and hospitality given by the Argentinian Government hosts. Immediately after this meeting, a meeting was held, also in Buenos Aires, with the Bureau of the World Meteorological Organization to discuss ongoing cooperation, including JCOMM, and possible future interactions. This was a most useful exchange, and a similar meeting is planned for early 2007. The WMO Bureau expressed concern that the IOC was not able to contribute as fully as they had hoped to the cost of running the WCRP.
- The Chairman then informed the Council that the General Conference of UNESCO has set up a Panel to conduct an Overall Review of Major Programme II, Natural Sciences, and Programme III, Social and Human Sciences. The Chairpersons of six Science Programmes were invited to make presentations to the Panel on 10 May 2006. The Chairman of IOC attended on behalf of IOC and made a presentation of the work, following consultations with the other Officers. The conclusions of the Panel are to be finally presented to the General Conference in 2007, but their initial recommendations will be transmitted to the Director-General well before that. The IOC Executive Secretary is a member of the Panel, which is chaired by the Deputy Director-General of UNESCO, Dr Marcio Barbosa.
- 26 The Chairman reported that, on 24 April 2006, he attended a ceremony at the IOC/IODE Project Office in Ostend, as part of the ODINAFRICA Workshop, his first visit to this facility hosted by the Government of Flanders. The ceremony was honoured by a visit from the Vice-Minister-President of Flanders, Ms Fientje Moerman. The Chairman thanked her and her

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 4

Government on behalf of IOC for their excellent support. He expressed the hope that many more delegates will have an opportunity to visit Ostend and see IOC in action at its best. Earlier, on 8 November 2005, he attended a ceremony in Helsinki to mark the opening of Dynamicum, the new joint premises of the Finnish Meteorological Institute and the Finnish Institute for Marine Research. Again it was a pleasure to thank personally the President of Finland, H.E. Ms Tarja Halonen, for the Finnish Government's support to the work of IOC on tsunami warning systems in the Indian Ocean. Finally, he informed the Executive Council that, recently, he had attended the UN Informal Consultative Process on Oceans and the Law of the Sea, in New York, with the IOC Executive Secretary.

- 27 The Chairman reported that the IOC Officers, Alphonse Dubi and Mario Ruivo, participated in The Ocean Policy Summit (TOPS) 2005, International Conference on Integrated Ocean Policy: National and Regional Experiences, Prospects, and Emerging Practices, held in Lisbon, Portugal, 11–13 October 2005.
- Argentina highlighted the importance of the Joint Consultative Meeting of the IOC Officers and WMO Bureau Members and referred to the Overall Review of Major Programme II, Natural Sciences, and Programme III, Social and Human Sciences and the need for better coordinating IOC's activities with those of UNESCO in the field of social sciences.
- *29* Italy seconded Argentina and announced that Italy will support this position in UNESCO in the framework of the Overall Review.

3.2 REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY ON PROGRAMME AND BUDGET IMPLEMENTATION

- 30 The Executive Secretary introduced this item. He presented the Executive Council with a report on the work accomplished since the previous session and on the implementation of the IOC budget for the period 2004–2005. He then focused on salient aspects of the work of the IOC in the last year and elaborated on opportunities and challenges that the Commission faces and needs to resolve.
- 31 He stressed that all IOC capabilities were put to the test to discharge the responsibility of organizing the tsunami response in the Indian Ocean entrusted to it by UNESCO. This effort has been particularly successful, leading to: (i) the establishment of capabilities to detect a tsunami wave; (ii) 25 new seismological stations already functioning, compared to the five instruments that detected the 26 December 2004 event; and (iii) the establishment of 26 new Tsunami Information Centres, acting as focal points, with the task to establish national plans for tsunami preparedness and awareness. The IOC Executive Secretary then mentioned other salient aspects of programme implementation; in particular: the decision of GLOSS to upgrade a subset of its global sea-level network so as to broadcast information in real time, for servicing tsunami earlywarning purposes; other ocean services being developed under the technical guidance of JCOMM; IOC's new facilities in Ostend—the IODE Programme Office—with 1,100 m² of office space generously donated and supported by the Flemish Government, serving as a hub for capacity-building. The Executive Secretary also reported that the Capacity-Building Strategy is making significant progress; a good example of this was a very fruitful seminar with the directors of East African marine centres who met to discuss common problems and priorities. He thanked Sweden for supporting this very relevant work in Mozambique.
- 32 Concerning financial aspects, the IOC Executive Secretary reminded the Executive Council that the year 2005 started on a worrying note, the announcement of a 19 percent reduction in the Regular Budget contribution from UNESCO for the biennium 2006–2007.

Despite these fears, 2005 actually produced the largest annual budget ever for the Commission, because of the extra-budgetary resources received for the tsunami response, with \$ 6,190,105 of additional funding from extra-budgetary sources specifically allocated to tsunami-response actions in the Indian Ocean region in 2005. Counting these additional funds, the total amount of resources available for programme implementation in 2005 was \$ 13,199,755, of which, \$ 10,827,895 was from sources other than the UNESCO Regular Budget, the latter representing only 18 percent of the total available for programme implementation were \$ 7,795,862, of which, \$ 4,551,962 was from extra-budgetary resources, with the UNESCO Regular Budget representing 41 percent of the total available funding.

- 33 The additional extra-budgetary resources for the tsunami response were earmarked for the Indian Ocean, but the coordination of tsunami-related activities has increased worldwide, and therefore the IOC Regular Budget is still under severe pressure. It was only thanks to the contributions of the Governments of Australia, Barbados, Chile, France and Italy, and of WMO, that it was possible to advance tsunami coordination activities in other regions. In addition, the personnel responsible for tsunami activities is financed by extra-budgetary contributions and managed through short-term contracts, hence projecting an unsustainable scenario. Overall, there is also a significant disproportion between the number of staff covered by the UNESCO Staff Allocation (9 professionals and 12 general service posts for the current biennium) and the total staff number (53 people).
- 34 The Executive Secretary restated the fact that, following the decision of the 23rd Session of the IOC Assembly, the IOC is currently facing a critical financial situation with regard to its budget, not so much in terms of the total funding available as in terms of unbalanced distribution among the MLAs of the IOC Programme and Budget and of the severe reduction in the regular budget. IOC Resolution XXIII-16 offered a pragmatic transitory solution, but at the same time produced undesired effects on several important programmes. Among them is the fact that the overall amount available for regional activities, after paying for staff and fixed costs, is \$ 75,000 for two years for seven IOC regional subsidiary bodies.
- 35 The Executive Secretary called upon the Executive Council to respond to the challenge to identify innovative and feasible ways of financing the Commission's regional work and to provide a sustainable framework for global programme development. The Executive Secretary urged Member States to participate actively in the work of the intrasessional Committees on Programme and Budget and on Medium-term Strategy, in order to further examine the situation and provide appropriate guidance and solutions.
- 36 The Executive Secretary then introduced the Overall Review of Major Programme II, Natural Sciences, and Programme III, Social and Human Sciences, mandated by the last General Conference of UNESCO. While not being a programme or a division of UNESCO, IOC is part of this Review, being integrated into UNESCO Programme and Budget as one of the Subprogrammes of Programme II. The Review Committee—of which the IOC Executive Secretary is a member—has so far expressed concerns about the visibility and importance of Programme II within UNESCO, given the reduced budget and the wide variety of activities. From an efficiency and effectiveness standpoint, a particular difficulty lies in properly factoring the value of IOC programmes and activities that are not funded by UNESCO or IOC, identifying criteria to better measure the impact of UNESCO and its IOC's work. The Review Committee will meet in July 2006 to discuss ideas that could be considered jointly with the guidelines for the Medium-term Strategy of UNESCO at the forthcoming session of the Executive Board of UNESCO in September 2006. Therefore, the discussion on the IOC Medium-term Strategy at the present

Session presents an opportunity to provide inputs to the Review and ultimately to the role of the IOC within UNESCO's Medium-term Strategy.

- 37 Argentina, Australia, Belgium, Brazil, China, Cuba, Dominican Republic, India, Italy, Japan, Kuwait, Nigeria, Portugal, Russian Federation and Venezuela shared the concerns expressed by the Executive Secretary with respect to the shortfall in funding and the resulting unbalanced budget for programme implementation. They agreed that the UNESCO Overall Review of Major Programmes II and III provided an opportunity for IOC to raise its visibility and coordinate its programmes with those of the Social Sciences sector of UNESCO.
- 38 Argentina stressed the importance of an effective application of the Resolutions of the IOC Governing Bodies, and considered it essential to evaluate the tasks of the IOC Subsidiary Bodies in the light of the results and the specific products that flow from them. Argentina also referred to the recommendations of the external auditor, which have not been yet fully implemented. With respect to the budget question, Argentina emphasized the chronic problem of the IOC's underfunding, which demonstrates that the solutions tried so far are insufficient, and that it is therefore necessary to seek imaginative ways to deal with the situation, and thus to produce a more stable financial situation. In this context, Argentina suggested the creation of an effective network of associates, as well as the possibility of establishing a more robust juridical framework for the Commission, possibly based on the experience of other intergovernmental organizations, such as the World Heritage Centre.
- *39* Japan requested the Executive Secretary to reflect its extra-budgetary financial contribution to WESTPAC properly in his report on budget execution. The Executive Secretary agreed to do this.
- 40 Several Member States made a number of pertinent programme-related comments, notably with regard to marine biodiversity, operational oceanography, ocean services, ocean sciences, marine pollution, Member States' individual contributions to regional activities, capacity-building and national institutional developments in ocean affairs.
- 41 The Executive Council agreed that the time is ripe to engage in a fresh analysis of programme implementation, not only concerning developments in science and technology, but also actual changes in the Commission's financial and management capacities. The analysis should also provide clarification of why the IOC's programmes are unequally important, but also of how they link to and complement the programmes of other international organizations. It further agreed that, at this stage of its development, the Commission and its Member States need to find innovative and robust ways of financing its activities so as to be able to address effectively its strategic ambitions and goals, both at the global and regional levels, bearing in mind that extra-budgetary funds do not necessarily result in a sustainable programme of work.

4. PROGRAMME MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS BY THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

4.1 GENERAL POLICY ISSUES

4.1.1 Regular Process for Global Reporting and Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment, including Socio-Economic Aspects

42

The Executive Secretary introduced this item. He recalled IOC's commitment to play an active role in the establishment of the UN Global Marine Assessment and the steps to be taken

by the Commission. The World Summit on Sustainable Development (Johannesburg, South Africa, 26 August–4 September 2002) agreed to establish by 2004 a regular process under the United Nations for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socio-economic aspects, both current and foreseeable, building on existing regional assessments (called the Regular Process). Referring to the developments concerning the Regular Process, he further recalled that the UN General Assembly at its 60th Session (A/RES/60/30, paras. 89–96) decided to launch the start-up phase, the Assessment of Assessments (AoA), to be completed within two years, as a preparatory stage in the formal establishment of the Regular Process.

- 43 The primary aims of the AoA are (UNGA doc. A/60/91): to assemble information on, and carry out a constructive appraisal of, past or on-going assessments relevant to the marine environment; to identify gaps and uncertainties in scientific knowledge and current assessment practices and assess how these assessments have been communicated to policy-makers at the national, regional and global levels; and to produce a framework and options for the Regular Process itself.
- 44 The organizational elements of the AoA include: (i) an ad hoc Steering Group to oversee the execution of the AoA; (ii) two United Nations agencies to co-lead the process; and (iii) a Group of Experts to undertake the AoA.
- 45 The members of the Ad hoc Steering Group are to be selected from the representatives of Member States by the President of the General Assembly; the Steering Group will also include a representative of each of UNEP, IOC, FAO, IMO and WMO. UNEP and the IOC of UNESCO have been invited by the General Assembly through Resolution A/RES/60/30 to be the joint lead agencies, under the guidance of the Ad hoc Steering Group. The composition of the Group of Experts, who will be proposed by the two lead agencies, will be approved by the Ad hoc Steering Group and communicated by it to the Member States of the UN.
- 46 In relation to the financial aspects of the AoA, UN Resolution A/RES/60/30 requires that AoA "...be financed through voluntary contributions and other resources available to participating organizations and bodies, and invites Member States in a position to do so to make contributions."
- 47 The first meeting of the Ad hoc Steering Group was held at the UN Headquarters, New York, 7–9 June 2006. The meeting elected Professor Elva Escobar (Mexico) and Dr Peter Harris (Australia), as Co-Chairpersons of the Ad hoc Steering Group.
- 48 The matters considered at the Steering Group meeting included adoption of a tentative two-year work plan and budget as well as the criteria for selection of the group of experts and its terms of reference.
- 49 The Steering Group agreed a budget of \$ 2.11 million for the implementation of the AoA. According to the work plan endorsed by the Steering Group, the earliest possible date for the commencement of the AoA work is October 2006, with a completion date of October 2008.
- 50 The Report of the first meeting of the Ad hoc Steering Group will be made available to Member States shortly.
- 51 The USA and Belgium informed the Executive Council that they will consider providing limited financial support for the first meeting of the Group of Experts.

- 52 The Executive Council stressed the importance of the Regular Process and AoA as its preliminary phase and expressed its appreciation of the work carried out to date by IOC and UNEP. It emphasized that the Regular Process will underpin the application of the ecosystem approach to the management of the ocean and its resources.
- 53 The Executive Council noted that both the Science and Ocean Observation Programmes of IOC should be involved in the evolution of the Regular Process. The Executive Secretary pointed out that, as regards the selection of the experts by the lead agencies, consultations will be carried out with the Member States as widely as possible.

4.1.2 IOC Draft Medium-term Strategy (2008–2013)

- 54 IOC Vice-Chairman, Javier Valladares, introduced this item. The Assembly, at its 23rd Session, in response to the document "We Have a Problem" (IOC-XXIII/2 Annex 8), established, through Resolution XXIII-15, an ad hoc Working Group to, among other charges, *"consider possible future scenarios for the organization that could be used to reformulate its mechanisms and medium- and long-term plans predicated on IOC mission priorities and on a consistent set of programme performance metrics."* Additionally, the Assembly instructed the Executive Secretary to prepare an IOC draft Medium-term Strategy 2008–2013 for the consideration of the Executive Council at its 39th Session. Considering the clear linkages between these decisions, the Secretariat prepared document IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 3 which includes both a report on the activities of the Working Group, from IOC Vice-Chairman, Javier Valladares, and draft guidelines for an IOC Medium-term Strategy 2008–2013 prepared by the Secretariat.
- Vice-Chairman Valladares indicated that, in facing the "problem", there is a unique 55 opportunity for reshaping IOC as a whole, and for defining or identifying a stable financing mechanism for its programmes and perhaps also for developing a Convention to provide the Commission with a stronger juridical framework. He recalled the relevant role IOC plays in the United Nations system, in promoting international cooperation on ocean issues, as well as in the coordination of programmes in ocean research, observations/services and capacity-building. He stressed the dramatic challenges IOC is facing, with severe budget restrictions, but also with new opportunities for the development of operational services, as demonstrated by the efficient work of IOC in, for example, the response to the Indian Ocean tsunami of 26 December 2004. As possible immediate actions, he proposed to revisit the definition of the IOC Main Lines of Action, focusing on the promotion of marine scientific research and operational oceanography, jointly with new technologies and the provision of a development framework for ocean and coastal services, with capacity-building as a cross-cutting programme. Furthermore, Vice-Chairman Valladares suggested that Member States should agree on: (i) priorities for IOC's response to targets and goals defined within the UN system; (ii) exploring long-term reinforcement of IOC's visibility and response capabilities; (iii) setting the Commission up as a specialized body dealing with the global and regional/local needs related to the oceans; and (iv) taking into consideration the presence of non-governmental organizations, and all this based on a strong regional participation and commitment of the Member States.
- 56 With respect to the second part of the mandate given to the Working Group, he listed several performance-indicator systems applied by governments of IOC Member States and expressed the need of professional advice to complement the efforts of the Secretariat in this area.
- 57 Member States reflected, in their interventions, a general agreement with the views expressed by Vice-Chairman Valladares and congratulated him for his presentation. Several

Member States referred to the budgetary restrictions IOC is facing and called for an innovative and realistic approach to finances, given that UNESCO is not likely to increase resources for the Commission. In this regard, Argentina, supported by Chile, Portugal, the Russian Federation and Venezuela, expressed their willingness to explore the establishment of a Convention or similar instrument to better reflect the Commission's status as a specialized intergovernmental body within the UN system, to have a binding mechanism for Member States *vis-à-vis* the mandate of the Commission and to provide the Commission with a sustainable financial framework.

- 58 The Russian Federation stressed that the mission statement of IOC in the statutes should explicitly reflect its activities in the field of ocean observation and monitoring and oceanographic data exchange. Several Member States pointed out specific themes that need to be covered by an eventual Convention, such as deep-sea marine ecosystems, large marine ecosystems, monitoring of coastal zones, and the broad scientific assessment of the state of the oceans.
- 59 Canada, China and the United States of America supported the need to establish a set of measurable outcomes and performance metrics for the activities of IOC for management purposes. In this regard, the United States of America offered technical assistance to the Secretariat of the Commission to reinforce IOC's management tools.
- 60 The Executive Council recognized that the fiftieth anniversary of the Commission, in 2010, will be an important milestone in the Commission's history. It requested the IOC Vice-Chairman, Professor Mario Ruivo, and the former IOC Chairman, Mr Geoff Holland, to work in co-operation with the Officers of the Commission and of its Subsidiary Bodies, and with other persons well vested in the history and the activities of the IOC, as appropriate, to prepare suggestions for the celebration of this occasion, for presentation to the Member States for action. The Executive Council also noted the forthcoming tenth anniversaries, in 2008, of the International Year of the Ocean and of Ocean Expo'98, and considered that these anniversaries, as well as the UN Commission on Sustainable Development's review of its progress on ocean issues, in 2014, may provide opportunities to enhance the visibility of the IOC and its programme of work at the global and regional levels.
- 61 The Chairman called on Member States to participate actively in the intra-sessional Working Group on the Medium-term Strategy and to take this as an opportunity to strengthen IOC.
- 62 The open-ended Intra-sessional Committee on the Medium-term Strategy 2008–2013, chaired by the Vice-Chairman responsible for programme and budget and finance matters, Captain Javier Valladares (Argentina), comprising Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Cuba, Egypt, Finland, France, Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Nigeria, Norway, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Russian Federation, South Africa, Sri Lanka, Sweden, Turkey, United Kingdom, United States of America, Venezuela and WCRP, met three times during the present session of the Executive Council, on 22, 23 and 24 June 2006.
- 63 The Committee considered the need to provide the IOC contribution to the formulation of the UNESCO Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013 (34 C/4), which will be considered by the Executive Board of UNESCO at its 175th and 176th Sessions, and submitted to the UNESCO General Conference, at its 34th Session, for approval.
- 64 Considering the guidance provided by UNESCO's Principles and Guidelines in the Preparation of the Draft Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013 (Resolution adopted on the reports of Commissions I to V, on 20 and 21 October 2005), the Committee identified four high-

level objectives as the IOC's fundamental contribution to UNESCO's Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013:

- Prevention and reduction of the impacts of natural hazards;
- Mitigation of the impacts of, and adaptation to, climate change and variability;
- Safeguarding the health of ocean ecosystems;
- Management procedures and policies leading to the sustainability of coastal and ocean environment and resources.

65 The four high-level objectives will be achieved through the promotion and intergovernmental coordination of ocean sciences, services, observations, data management and related activities, including transfer of technology and capacity-building, at the regional and the global levels, and with due consideration given to integrated ocean and coastal-zone management. The four high-level objectives will be met through specific activities based on the following three main lines of action:

- <u>Main Line of Action 1</u>: The science of climate and climate change and of integrated ocean and coastal-zone management, including natural hazards;
- <u>Main Line of Action 2</u>: The coordination of activities in ocean observations, data management and ocean services;
- <u>Main Line of Action 3</u>: Capacity-building, transfer of technology and improved ocean governance arrangements, at regional and global levels.

66 The Committee also invited Member States and subsidiary bodies to suggest mechanisms to make the budgetary system more sustainable and to instruct the Executive Secretary, with technical expert assistance provided by Member States, to establish and improve appropriate performance metrics.

67 **The Executive Council adopted** <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.1</u>.

4.1.3 IOC Participation in the International Polar Year 2007–2008 and in the International Year of Planet Earth 2007–2009

68 The Director of the Programme Office for the International Polar Year (IPY), David Carlson, introduced this item.

69 IPY enjoys the full sponsorship of ICSU and WMO. IOC is represented ex officio on the Joint Committee overseeing IPY planning. IPY is built up from scientific projects with international participation. Each IPY project has agreed to: share data openly and freely; include an outreach programme; and demonstrate its ability to include the local and the scientific polar communities in IPY projects. Of more than 1,000 initial expressions of interest, 400 coordinated proposals were invited, leading finally to slightly more than 200 endorsed projects. An overview of these 200 projects was provided.

- 70 Numerous Member States expressed their strong support for IPY and provided overviews of their substantial national commitments to support IPY projects.
- 71 The Russian Federation expressed its concern regarding IOC participation in IPY, considering it insufficient and in particular not fully compliant with Resolution EC-XXXVII.3, which called for development of a plan for IOC's participation in the science initiatives of the IPY.

- 72 The United States of America expressed its willingness to work with interested Member States on the development of an Arctic GOOS Regional Alliance.
- 73 The Co-President of JCOMM indicated the ongoing cooperation in IPY through several IOC programmes, including IODE and GOOS.
- ⁷⁴ In response to the reservation of the Russian Federation, the Head of the GOOS Project Office noted that IPY planning was a bottom-up, scientific-community-driven process and that IOC's obligation to develop a plan had been met through its active and continuing participation in the IPY Joint Planning Committee, including full involvement in the review of over 1000 proposals from the worldwide scientific community, which led to the final IPY Plan comprising over 200 projects, of which, 60 are focused on the ocean.
- 75 WMO indicated their strong support for IPY and pointed out that over 60 of the 200 IPY projects focused on the oceans.
- The Executive Council reconfirmed its support for the ongoing IOC contributions to the organization and conduct of the IPY, noting the concern expressed by the Russian Federation about the lack of an IOC plan for IPY. Noting that over 60 of the IPY projects are related to physical oceanography, biodiversity and sea-ice processes, the Executive Council instructed the Executive Secretary to prepare an IOC Web document reflecting the main contributions of IOC Member States to the IPY, as requested by Resolution EC-XXXVII.3. With regard to the IPY legacy, the Executive Council stressed the need to establish a mechanism to sustain the observation infrastructure established during IPY. **It agreed** that GOOS, JCOMM and IODE should play active roles in this process and support future observing systems in polar regions. It also urged IOC Member States to provide sufficient resources to implement all the oceanographic proposals in the IPY Plan.

4.1.4 Secretariat Report on the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS) Implementation

- 77 The Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere and Administrator of the US National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher, spoke on the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS), in his capacity as the Co-Chair of the Group on Earth Observations (GEO). He pointed out that the IOC is the lead agency on one of the first GEO deliverables—establishing tsunami warning and mitigation systems and congratulated the IOC Executive Secretary on his leadership in steering the work of the IOC and implementing the Executive Council Resolutions on coordination for tsunami warning systems.
- 78 Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher then recalled that the 1250th drifting buoy was deployed in September 2005, and that this was the first component of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) to be fully implemented. At this important milestone, he stressed that the oceans are the key to understanding the Earth's many systems, and implementing GEOSS will not be possible without a complete Global Ocean Observing System. He emphasized that, on the other hand, GEOSS is vital to the future of the oceans, for this will provide opportunities for GOOS to incorporate biological and chemical measurements which are so important for monitoring, measuring and managing the health of the ocean.
- 79 Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher then introduced the GEO annual Work Plan to achieve the GEOSS 10-year Implementation Plan which, for 2006, identifies 96 specific benefit-driven activities that address such needs as capacity development in small island communities,

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 12

83

sustainability of marine ecosystems, durability of disaster-monitoring networks, and establishment of global charters for satellite communication. The IOC is identified as either a lead or contributing organization to 21 of these action items. He noted, in particular, important actions to be addressed by GEO, including: (i) facilitating the free and open exchange of data and information; (ii) strengthening regional, real-time observation and communication networks. Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher emphasized the IOC's and the ocean community's role and responsibility in those areas, and noted that the quality of the GEOSS will depend on the willingness of members and participating organizations to ensure free and open exchange of data.

- 80 Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher expressed his appreciation of IOC's effort for its Pacific Tsunami Warning Centre and the relevant Assembly resolutions, which have been at the forefront of international action to address tsunami events. He also stressed the importance of conserving the present forward momentum on tsunami and related coastal-hazard issues while they still hold the world's attention. In particular, he emphasized the importance of focusing on the development of a multi-hazard approach to disasters, from tsunamis to hurricanes, flooding, earthquakes, volcanoes and other natural disasters.
- 81 Building on existing systems and leveraging the power of observational systems, such as Argo, GLOSS and others, GEOSS will work to identify and fill gaps in coverage by providing a sound scientific basis for policy- and decision-making. In this context, Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher again emphasized the importance of cooperation and partnership between IOC and WMO through JCOMM, not only to making the GEOSS operational but also to realize GEOSS goals. He encouraged the Member States to work closely with GEO to help shape the future of GEOSS, particularly providing IOC input to GEO annual Work Plans. He concluded by wishing a continuing partnership between GEO and IOC. The full text of Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher's statement is in Annex III-B.

82 The IOC Executive Secretary informed the Executive Council that, since the GEO Secretariat was established at the WMO in Geneva (2005), IOC has remained in close cooperation with GEO not only in the activities of the GEO Working Group on Tsunami Activities but also in developing annual Work Plans to realize the GEOSS 10-Year Implementation Plan. He noted that, in cooperation with the scientific community concerned and other ocean-related organizations, the IOC has provided expert advice in the drafting of the 10-Year Implementation Plan and the 2006 Work Plan, focusing on enhancing the capacity of existing ocean observing systems. For better coordination of the ocean-related international bodies and the GEO, representatives of GOOS, JCOMM, POGO and IOC decided, during the Second Meeting of GEO (GEO II, Geneva, 13-5 December 2005), that IOC should act as the ocean voice in GEO and decided to conduct consultations to better coordinate inputs to GEO through an informal forum of experts and representatives of relevant organizations/programmes. These consultations are open to any ocean experts and representatives active in GEO. The objectives are to: (i) share information on GEO-related activities and plans within their organizations and programmes; (ii) contribute to GEO through consolidated and integrated input, under the coordination of IOC; and (iii) provide a direct link to each programme/organization to contribute to the implementation of GEOSS.

In the development of the 2006 Work Plan, the forum provided the GEO with two proposals: (i) to undertake a 'gap analysis' of GEOSS *vis-à-vis* GOOS (as proposed to GSSC-IX, Paris, 6–8 March 2006); and (ii) a proposal on a pilot project on chlorophyll observation through satellite ocean-colour observations under the umbrella of the coastal module of GOOS (as proposed and approved by GSSC-IX, and to be led by GOOS and POGO). These proposals

would be contributions to GEO from the ocean community, and, at the same time, possible areas of activity in which GEO could contribute to ongoing/planned ocean observations.

- 84 On behalf of the ocean organization and programmes active in GEOSS, Professor David Farmer, Dean of Oceanography at the University of Rhode Island (USA), will maintain liaison between them and the GEO Secretariat. The Executive Council noted that UNESCO, IOC (Executive Secretary) and GOOS (Head of GOOS Project Office or the Chairperson I-GOOS) are directly represented in GEO as Participating Organizations/Programmes, and provide substantial input via various ocean-related programmes, such as IODE, and JCOMM. Moreover, Professor David Farmer (USA/Canada) will maintain liaison between the ocean organizations active in GEO and the GEO Secretariat on ocean matters.
- 85 The Executive Council expressed its appreciation to Vice-Admiral Lautenbacher for his statement and on the successful work of GEO so far. It also expressed its appreciation of the leadership of IOC Executive Secretary in steering the work on the establishment of tsunami warning and mitigation systems, as well as his contribution to the relevant GEO activities. The Executive Council noted that such efforts should be made in line with a multi-hazard approach, and instructed the Executive Secretary to report to GEO on the global coordination of the development of a marine multi-hazard warning and mitigation system.
- 86 The Executive Council recognized the broad areas of interest incorporated into the GEOSS 10-Year Implementation Plan, as well as the GEO annual Work Plan, and stressed the importance and relevance of the IOC's mandate to several of the GEO's tasks. It instructed the Executive Secretary to identify an appropriate set of GEO tasks in the subsequent Work Plan for which IOC could take the lead or participate in, with a view to maximizing the synergy between IOC and GEO activities, and to enhancing efficiency by focusing on key activities.
- 87 The Executive Council also noted that, in the future, a real-time marine information system in GEO (GEO-Netcast) should be developed in the context of GEOSS and that such activity should be lead by IOC, with input from its programmes, including IODE, GOOS and its regional programmes, considering its interoperability and integrity with other data systems, such as the WMO Information System, as well as relevant national and regional activities.

4.2 OCEAN SCIENCES

88

89

4.2.1 Cooperation between the Census of Marine Life and IOC Main Lines of Action

- Henrik Enevoldsen, IOC Secretariat, introduced the item. By Resolution XXIII-3 (Census of Marine Life), the IOC Assembly instructed the IOC Executive Secretary to report to the Executive Council at its 39th session on: (i) the potential of the major elements of the Census of Marine Life initiatives [History of Marine Animal Populations (HMAP); Ocean Realm Field Projects; and the Future of Marine Animal Populations (FMAP)] to contribute to the IOC Main Lines of Action, in particular Ocean Sciences and GOOS, as well as to other activities supported by IOC, such as the International Polar Year; and (ii) the contributions that IOC Main Lines of Action are making to the Census of Marine Life.
- To assess the ongoing interaction, as well as the potential for interaction, all IOC programme coordinators have been requested to make an assessment. The immediate and major focus is in IOC Main Line of Action 2, IODE. Resolution XXIII-3 urged Member States, particularly those whose scientists are not already involved in the Census of Marine Life or in its Ocean Biogeographic Information System (OBIS) initiative, to support active participation, with

a view to contributing to the achievement of the goals of the Census of Marine Life by 2010; the Resolution also encouraged the integration of OBIS into the IODE.

- 90 During the OBIS Managers' Committee Meeting at the Senckenberg Natural History Museum, Frankfurt, Germany, 6–7 November 2005, and during the IODE Officers Meeting in Ostend, 6–7 February 2006, it was decided to prepare an IODE Circular Letter to all National Oceanographic Data Centres (NODC), to ask them to provide information on potential or existing collaboration between IODE and OBIS. The letter was circulated just prior to the 39th Session of the Executive Council. The results are expected to provide the basis for the formalization of future data exchange between IODE and OBIS. The replies so far indicate that more than 80% of data centres have not yet collaborated with OBIS, but that more than 60% manage species distribution data, and that close to 90% of these centres are willing and able to contribute their data to OBIS. These results will be followed up by the Secretariat and IODE in the coming months.
- 91 Within the IODE's ODINAFRICA, there have been two training sessions: one at the IOC Project Office for IODE, Ostend, Belgium, 18–22 April 2005; and one in Grand Baie, Mauritius, 22–26 August 2005. Both were on Marine Biodiversity Data Management, with part of the curriculum intended to assist African NODCs in generating input and in generally collaborating with OBIS. A third training session was jointly organized by IODE and MarBEF (Marine Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning, which runs the European node of OBIS); it took place at the IOC Project Office for IODE, Ostend, Belgium, 6–11 March 2006.
- 92 Also within ODINAFRICA, IODE has organized a series of marine biodiversity datamobilization workshops. The first one, on molluscs, was held at the IOC Project Office for IODE, Ostend, Belgium, 13–22 March 2006, with a view to extracting data from various sources (mainly printed publications) for contribution to the African node of OBIS. Another two are planned, for November 2006 and for March 2007, on sponges and polychaetes, respectively.
- 93 Dr Ian Poiner, member of the CoML International Steering Committee, was invited to make a presentation to the 8th GOOS Scientific Steering Committee Meeting (GSSC) in Melbourne, Australia, 21–23 February 2005. The GSSC welcomed continued and enhanced cooperation with CoML and fully supported making all relevant GOOS data available as a contribution to CoML. Similarly, CoML makes an important contribution of non-physical data to GOOS, as already indicated in the Implementation Strategy for the Coastal Module of GOOS (IOC/INF-1217).
- 94 The Secretariat informed the Executive Council that it will continue to identify areas of potential interaction between CoML and IOC programmes, with a view to identifying areas in which IOC could benefit from and contribute to CoML.
- 95 Several Member States gave examples of their strong national commitment to and involvement in CoML.
- 96 The Executive Council welcomed the progress in the interaction between IOC and CoML and called for its continued development.

4.2.2 Report of the Advisory Group for the Ocean Sciences

97 Vice-Chairman IOC, Dr Neville Smith, introduced this item. The Advisory Group for the IOC Ocean Sciences Section was formed as a result of discussions at the 22nd Session of the Assembly and follow-up discussions at the 23rd Session of the Assembly of the IOC. The Advisory Group provides advice to the Ocean Sciences Section of the Secretariat on the Ocean Science Programme of the IOC.

- 98 Dr Smith indicated that he chaired the Advisory Group in his capacity as Vice-Chairman IOC. The Group met in Paris, 9–10 November 2005, and reported on its discussion to the Executive Secretary in December 2005. The discussion was conducted in the context of the IOC Medium-term Strategy (Agenda Item 4.1.2 of the present session of the Executive Council) and provided an opportunity both to examine the Ocean Sciences Section's work and to gather some expert views on future challenges. Many of the views that emerged from the meeting may be mapped onto the Medium-term Strategy.
- 99 The Advisory Group expressed general satisfaction with the present elements of the Ocean Sciences Programme, but noted the overwhelming constraint due to the insufficient resources made available for IOC activities. The Group advised that a more explicit statement of objectives and strategy for the Ocean Sciences Programme was needed, paying particular attention to relevance and integration. The fundamental role of ocean observations, for research as well as operational ocean systems and services, and the overall cross-cutting relevance of such activities, should be more prominent in the Ocean Sciences Programme strategy.
- 100 A restatement of the functions of the Ocean Sciences Section, so as to provide guiding principles for the adoption of work and responsibility within the Programme, should be developed. The Advisory Group noted the general weakness of internal and external communication and, in particular, the urgent need to improve communication with Member States.
- 101 Notwithstanding relatively recent restructuring of the Science Programme of the Commission, the Advisory Group concluded that the structure of the Programme should be modified so as to clearly show the main strategic objectives and more explicitly to reflect the relevance of the Programme to the mandate of IOC and the needs of the Member States. With respect to existing themes, the Advisory Group recommended:
 - Strengthening the IOC's involvement in the World Climate Research Programme;
 - Giving greater priority to the integration of presently distinct elements and the relationships among them;
 - Assigning high priority to the integration of the science programme with other IOC Programmes, particularly those on ocean observation and on data and information management; and
 - Providing more attention to presenting work in its policy context, emphasizing its possible application and utility within a common framework.
- *102* Regarding future activities, the Advisory Group recommended the incorporation of several new aspects and/or raising the priority of existing actions, including:
 - The impacts of climate variability and climate change on the marine environment and on its living resources and ecosystems;
 - Explicit recognition of coastal research as a primary element (Sub-Programme), including (the overlapping) climate impacts introduced above, direct human influences, integrated coastal management, natural marine hazards and coastal environmental forecasting;

- Early introduction of marine assessment as a primary element (Sub-Programme), with emphasis on the science that will underpin the Regular Process for the Global Marine Assessment and its Assessment of Assessments; and
- Introduction of an underpinning, cross-cutting element in marine modelling, recognizing the need for IOC to exercise its mandate and responsibility in new technology and its unique position which allows it to facilitate interaction and coordination among many existing activities.
- 103 The Advisory Group emphasized the need for effective cooperation and integration among the new and existing themes, recognizing the inevitable overlaps, but also the strengths that arise from successful joint development and interoperability among the sub-programmes and themes.
- 104 In conclusion, Dr Smith thanked the members of the Advisory Group for their good work. He noted that their report was a report to the Executive Secretary and, as such, it was not appropriate to provide it as part of the information documents for the present session of the Executive Council. In effect, the report comprised the views of a Group of Experts, not Member States; nevertheless, the Secretariat could provide copies to those with a particular interest in this subject. The report should provide a basis for the Medium-term Strategy and could therefore be used in part as a basis for discussion of the Strategy at the present session of the Executive Council.
- *105* The Executive Council expressed its appreciation of the report of the Advisory Group and commended the Chairman of the Group for his work and presentation.
- 106 The Executive Council instructed the Executive Secretary to distribute the Advisory Group's report to the Member States so as to receive feedback from interested Member States and thus assist the preparations for the 24th Session of the Assembly.
- 107 The Executive Council stressed the importance of resolving the scientific problems in the coastal zone in relation to forecasting, coastal ocean modelling and coastal ecosystems; an ecosystem approach is essential and should underpin any strategic planning in interdisciplinary ocean science.
- 108 The Executive Council also stressed that measures should be taken to ensure the participation of developing countries in research based on the ecosystem approach.
- *109* **The Executive Council agreed** with the incorporation of the four new aspects and/or raising the priority of existing actions, provided that, when a new programme is added, its priority is assessed in the light of existing priorities and programmes.
- 110 **The Executive Council further agreed** on the usefulness of the report in the development of the Medium-term Strategy for IOC, 2008–2013.

4.2.3 Member State Interaction with the WMO-ICSU-IOC World Climate Research Programme (WCRP)

111 The Chairman of the World Climate Research Programme (WCRP) Joint Scientific Committee, John Church, introduced this item. The agreement establishing the IOC as a sponsor of the WCRP, with the WMO and ICSU (Document IOC/INF-1228), requires that annual reports of WCRP activities be presented to the sponsoring organizations, and that budget estimates for the following biennium be submitted for approval by the executive bodies of the WMO, IOC and ICSU. The Joint Scientific Committee, as a joint subsidiary body of the IOC, is also required by IOC Rule of Procedure 48.3 to report to a Governing Body on its progress in its work.

- 112 Dr Church highlighted WCRP's past and present programmes, addressing in particular: (i) the role of the oceans in climate variation and change and their forecasting; (ii) WCRP's close links with the ocean observing system coordinated through GOOS, JCOMM and IODE; (iii) the WCRP's role in coordinating the science that underpins the assessments of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), and in contributing to meeting the needs of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).
- 113 Dr Church invited IOC Member States to provide input to the WCRP. He informed the Executive Council of his role as co-convener of a Symposium on the Effects of Climate Change on the World's Oceans, to be convened by IOC, PICES and ICES in May 2008, and of the readiness of the WCRP to assist in the development of the IOC science programme and medium-term strategy.
- 114 The Assembly, at its 23rd Session (UNESCO, Paris, 21–30 June 2005), noted the importance of the work of the WCRP to the achievement of IOC's objectives, and commended the WCRP's effort in coordination. It reaffirmed its continued sponsorship and support of the WCRP, instructing the Executive Secretary to find ways to support the WCRP at a level of at least \$ 125,000 per year through Regular Programme Funds.
- 115 The Executive Secretary welcomed the report by the WCRP and reminded Member States of the IOC's significant investment in the WCRP and, through it, in its scientific projects, such as CliC and CLIVAR.
- 116 Several Member States expressed their satisfaction at receiving the report from the WCRP, noting that it helped to forge the desired closer link between the IOC and the WCRP.
- 117 The Executive Council called on the WCRP to provide annual reports on research of interest to Member States, and on its planned biennial budget and the extra-budgetary resources sought. The Executive Council urged Member States to contribute to the IOC Special Trust Fund for the WCRP. Given the diversity of WCRP's activities and the diversity of Member State interests, the Executive Council also urged Member States to work with the WCRP Joint Planning Staff in order to identify specific ongoing activities or new activities consistent with the aims of the WCRP that could be supported by their contribution to the IOC Special Trust Fund.
 - 4.3 OCEAN OBSERVATIONS AND SERVICES

4.3.1 Follow-up to the Second Session of the WMO–IOC Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM)

- 118 The co-president of the Joint WMO–IOC Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM), Dr Jean-Louis Fellous, introduced this item. He presented the results of the second session of JCOMM (Halifax, Canada, 15–27 September 2005), reviewed the progress that has been made in the Services, Observations and Data Management Programme Areas, and highlighted priority areas for the next four-year period.
- 119 JCOMM-II was preceded by two events: (i) a scientific conference "Operational Oceanography and Marine Meteorology in the 21st Century"; and (ii) the deployment of surface drifter #1250 of the Global Drifting Buoy Array, with a special ceremony to commemorate the significant milestone of completion of the first GOOS component to be fully implemented.

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 18

- 120 The session itself was notable for a significant improvement over the First Session (Akureyi, Iceland, 19–29 June 2001) in the overall level of, and participation in, the discussions. JCOMM-II adopted a comprehensive Work Plan, elected new co-presidents and coordinators for the Observations, Services and Data Management Programme Areas; it approved a slight redesign in structure which assigned work in capacity-building and satellite data requirements to cross-cutting teams; and awarded Outstanding Service Certificates to Mr Val Swail (Canada) and Dr Neville Smith (Australia). Mr Geoff Holland gave the George Needler Memorial Lecture on operational oceanography, to commemorate the significant contribution of Dr Needler to the development of GOOS and JCOMM.
- 121 The core business of JCOMM takes place within the Programme Areas and is implemented by the corresponding programmes of WMO and IOC. There was a clear recognition at JCOMM-II that the work is progressing well, with broad satisfaction with past achievements and ongoing activities. Key results included: (i) the ocean *in situ* observing system is approximately 56% implemented, with the JCOMM plan driving to full implementation, in principle, by 2012; (ii) a successful integration of ship-based observations has taken place under the new Ship Observations Team; (iii) the value and further development of JCOMMOPS as a major technical information and support portal for *in situ* ocean observing system performance monitoring; (iv) the practical coordination and cooperation between JCOMM and IODE is now almost seamless; (v) an outline of a guide to storm surge forecasting has been prepared.
- 122 The coming inter-sessional period will be a busy one, with great expectations for it to be very productive. Dr Fellous summarized priority issues, including:
 - (i) The further development of oceanographic products and services, and the transition to operational oceanography;
 - (ii) An enhanced involvement in and support for natural-disaster prevention and impact mitigation, and the development of marine multi-hazard warning systems;
 - (iii) Full implementation of the ocean observing system and its long-term maintenance on an operational basis, including existing pilot projects, such as Argo and the key ocean satellite missions;
 - (iv) An active engagement with the GOOS community in the implementation of the GOOS Coastal Implementation Plan;
 - (v) Substantial enhancement of JCOMM data management and its integration with IODE and WIS;
 - (vi) A greater involvement of smaller maritime countries, in particular, in the work of the Commission;
 - (vii) An engagement with the private sector in support of the implementation of the JCOMM work programme and of operational oceanography in general.
- 123 Dr Fellous emphasized that the work approved by JCOMM-II will only be accomplished through the investment of resources, both financial and human. A JCOMM-II working group on budget estimated that the resources needed to implement the approved Work Plan would be approximately double those earmarked in the Regular Budget of UNESCO (\$ 189,831 is

provided for the work of JCOMM through MLA 2; an additional, estimated extra-budgetary contribution of \$ 160,000 would be necessary to implement the IOC component of the JCOMM Work Plan). He acknowledged the current contributions of Member States, and urged their continued and increased support for the realization of the ambitious but vitally important Work Plan.

- 124 The Executive Council expressed its thanks to Dr Fellous for his comprehensive report, and its appreciation of the significant progress that has been made in the coordination activities of the Joint Technical Commission.
- 125 A number of Member States described their contributions to the work of JCOMM, and some noted specific contributions to the work of the Commission.
- 126 Canada announced its hosting of the 9th International Workshop on Wave Hindcasting and Forecasting (Victoria, Canada, September 2006).
- *127* The Republic of Korea offered to host a JCOMM storm-surge symposium in 2007.
- 128 The Representative of the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) emphasized the strong partnership that exists between IOC and WMO on JCOMM, and the fact that this cooperation is an important highlight in the work of the two organizations.
- 129 The Executive Council recognized the challenges associated with this collaboration, and noted that JCOMM provided an incentive for the oceanographic and the meteorological communities at the national level to work together for the advancement of oceanography and marine meteorology.
- 130 The Executive Council also recognized that support from the Regular Budget was not likely to change during the current biennium, and that extra-budgetary funds would need to be secured for JCOMM to accomplish the Work Plan approved by JCOMM-II; it therefore urged Member States to consider providing this extra-budgetary support for specific activities.
- 131 The Executive Council recognized the importance of complementarity and nonduplication of the activities overseen by JCOMM with those of other bodies and programmes of IOC and WMO and stressed the importance of implementing the activities planned by the Joint Technical Commission through the appropriate programmes and support structures in WMO and IOC.
- 132 The Executive Council emphasized the importance of communicating the activities of the Joint Technical Commission, both within the WMO and IOC communities and externally. It expressed its appreciation of the initiation of an electronic JCOMM newsletter and of a communications strategy that would help foster this outreach.
- 133 The Executive Council expressed its satisfaction with the contributions of JCOMM to a developing marine multi-hazard warning system, specifically the work of the Data Buoy Cooperation Panel (DBCP) in fostering the development and use of multipurpose platforms; and the work of GLOSS, in increasing the number of tide gauge stations reporting data via the GTS in real time.
- 134 The Executive Council restated the importance of capacity-building as a cross-cutting activity across the JCOMM Observations, Services and Data Management Programme Areas, and of these activities within a regional context, for many Member States, needs that should be streamlined into the IOC capacity-building plans and activities.

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 20

- 135 The Executive Council noted the important work of JCOMM *In-situ* Observing Platform Support Centre (JCOMMOPS) in providing a range of technical support functions for the *in situ* observing system, and expressed its appreciation of the work of the former DBCP Technical Coordinator, Etienne Charpentier, in establishing and strengthening this JCOMMOPS.
- *136* The Executive Council urged that the Work Plan and priorities of JCOMM be incorporated into the IOC Medium-term Strategy.
- 137 The Executive Council thanked Canada for its offer to host the 9th International Workshop on Wave Hindcasting and Forecasting, and the Republic of Korea for its offer to host a storm-surge symposium in 2007.

138 **The Executive Council adopted** <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.2</u>.

4.3.2 Secretariat Report on Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) Programme Implementation

- 139 The Chairman of the IOC–WMO–UNEP Intergovernmental Committee for GOOS (I-GOOS), François Gérard, introduced this item. He presented an overview of GOOS governance, scientific guidance and implementation bodies and mechanisms, and highlighted the important role of I-GOOS in ensuring the sustainability of the observing system.
- 140 Dr Gérard then provided an overview of the current state of the climate component of GOOS, followed by a brief history and current status of GOOS Regional Alliances (GRAs) as the primary bodies for the implementation of Coastal GOOS. Following the advice of the GOOS Scientific Steering Committee, and with the endorsement of the I-GOOS Board, he encouraged the Executive Council to consider the formation of a proposed Joint GOOS-GTOS Panel on the Implementation of Coastal Observations (J-PICO), outlined in the background paper IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 6. He invited broad participation in the planned 3rd GRA Forum, organized by GOOS-Africa, to be held in Cape Town, 14-17 November 2006. The Forum is expected to provide a major opportunity to clarify the role of GOOS Regional Alliances in the implementation of the GOOS coastal module and to define a mechanism for coordinating the GRAs compatible with the long-term strategy of the IOC. Finally, Dr Gérard pointed out that, at I-GOOS VIII, to be held in Paris just prior to the 24th Session of the IOC Assembly, in June 2007, the process for sustaining the global ocean observing system would be initiated and that this meeting would require substantial input and support from Member States to ensure its success.
- 141 Several Member States stated that GOOS was a critical component of GEOSS and that the advent of GEOSS was potentially a substantial opportunity for sustaining GOOS.
- 142 Several Member States pointed out that the substantial growth of interest in developing tsunami warning capabilities provides an opportunity for development and strengthening of regional GOOS efforts.
- 143 Some Member States expressed their interest in the formation of an Arctic GOOS Regional Alliance.
- 144 Some other Member States expressed the view that GRAs should operate under the auspices of, and not duplicate the efforts of, existing IOC regional subsidiary bodies.

- 145 Brazil thanked the IOC for its continued support of the Rio-GOOS office and highlighted the fact that the office had played an important role as a catalyst of substantial regional observational efforts. Brazil informed the Executive Council that the GOOS Regional Alliance in Oceanography for the Upper Southwest and Tropical Atlantic held its 2nd meeting in Montevideo, Uruguay, 21–23 February 2006.
- 146 Thailand offered to support the South East Asia GOOS secretariat, hosted within the WESTPAC Office in Bangkok, for a period of five years.
- 147 The United Kingdom supported the decision to prioritize outreach and communications in the GOOS Project Office as a vital means of publicizing the GOOS programme and the value of GOOS products, and thus encouraging participation in GOOS activities.
- 148 The representative of the Global Climate Observing System (GCOS) pointed out that the climate component of GOOS was the ocean component of GCOS and, as such, GOOS relied on GCOS to provide reporting and visibility for ocean observations in the context of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change. GCOS acknowledged the historically strong interaction between GOOS and GCOS and looked forward to continuing this productive interaction and continued financial support from IOC.
- Although some Member States supported the formation of the proposed joint committee on coastal implementation (J-PICO), others expressed serious reservations on the formation of such a committee, fearing that it might involve undoing decisions made by the Assembly at its 23rd Session and that, owing in part to the late availability of the documentation, Member States had not yet had sufficient time to consider the proposal.
- 150 Portugal called for an independent review of the effectiveness of the coastal module of GOOS and a critical evaluation of the capabilities of the GRAs.
- 151 Finally, numerous Member States congratulated the I-GOOS Chairman on his presentation and on the successful work of the I-GOOS leadership since their election at I-GOOS ext-1, UNESCO, Paris, 20 June 2005; several Member States additionally expressed their support for the newly appointed I-GOOS Vice-Chairman, Admiral Hector Soldi (Peru).
- 152 The Executive Council noted the state of development of GOOS and, in particular, its long-term funding; it urged IOC Member States to help develop I-GOOS as a high-level mechanism for taking stock of, and coordinating, Member States' efforts to observe the global ocean and encouraged them to send delegates to the Eighth Session of I-GOOS as the main governing body for GOOS. **The Executive Council decided** that the proposal to establish a GOOS-GTOS Joint Panel for Integrated Coastal Observations (J-PICO) warranted further discussion and instructed the Executive Secretary to provide a revised proposal for the consideration of the Assembly at its 24th Session. **The Executive Council**, however, recognized the need for scientific advice for the implementation of the Coastal Module of GOOS through I-GOOS and **agreed** that I-GOOS should consider an interim arrangement.

4.3.3 Progress with the development of an IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management

153 The Chairwoman of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange (IODE), Dr Lesley Rickards, introduced this item. She recalled that the IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management had been developed in the light of the results of the 18th Session of IODE (IODE-XVIII, Ostend, Belgium, 26–30 April IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 22

2005), the 2nd Session of the WMO–IOC Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM-II, Halifax, Canada, 19–27 September 2005) and of the IODE Officers meeting (Ostend, Belgium, 6–7 February 2006), as well as of the collaboration between Lesley Rickards, as Chairwoman of IODE and Robert Keeley, Coordinator of the JCOMM Data Management Programme Area (DMPA). IODE-XVIII had decided to submit a progress report to the IOC Executive Council at its 39th Session and that a draft of the Strategy should be considered by the IODE Committee at its 19th Session, in 2007, and thence be submitted to the IOC Assembly at its 24th Session, in 2007.

- 154 Dr Rickards explained that the vision statement for the Strategy is as follows: "A comprehensive and integrated ocean data and information system, serving the broad and diverse needs of IOC Member States, for both routine and scientific use." The concept of delivering a data service for the "global ocean commons" (global public good) is central to this vision. The scope of the Strategy is comprehensive and across all of the disciplines within the mandate of IOC; there is no a priori separation of functions based on the lead time for data delivery (e.g., real-time versus delayed mode); and different strategies might be employed to satisfy global, regional and local requirements, and to meet timeliness needs.
- 155 Within the different components of the oceanographic community, although there are still improvements to be made, the global archiving of some of the individual streams of data is now reasonably well organized. What is lacking is a consistent and unified way to deliver the data to researchers, modellers and other users. This had led to the concept of an "Oceanographic or Marine Data Automatic Teller Machine (ATM)". This will be a system that will connect data assembly centres to data users wherever they are in the world. The IOC Oceanographic Data and Information Strategy should adopt this approach. Elements of this are already under development, albeit on a limited basis. The key to the successful development of this system will be agreement on standards, including what information to carry with the data and how to check the validity consistently. This implies a unified data-exchange structure including software at the user end to interpret and understand the data. The system will need to be developed bearing in mind three core elements: the client or user view; governance of the strategy; and technical development.
- 156 The client/user view will address the questions "Where can I send my data to ensure they are preserved?" and "Where can I find data of interest, and how can I get them?" This will result in the following activities or elements of the system: (i) Archive—assemble and preserve data; (ii) Discovery—find what data and information are available; (iii) Exploration—determine what data are needed; and (iv) Delivery—acquire the data of interest.
- 157 Already there are existing governance structures of IODE and JCOMM. The Strategy will need to avoid interference in the present arrangements but, at the same time, provide a mechanism for an eventual smooth union of now separate ocean data management activities—this also includes major projects which have developed their own strategies. The Strategy will need to recognize a broad set of requirements from the IOC and as such will need careful guidance, both in terms of management and in terms of technical and scientific guidance. There should be an efficient Management Committee that can review and endorse data and information activities. It needs to be small (10–12) in order to be efficient, and able to draw in expertise as required. The future data and information system is likely to be ambitious and, like WMO, will need access to expert advice. Dr Rickards suggested a time-bound Task Team for this task. The Management Committee would be responsible for the development and execution of the Oceanographic Data and Information Management Strategy.

- 158 In terms of technical development, Dr Rickards identified the issues that the development of the future IODE Data System—"the marine data ATM"—should address during the next four years. The major components of this system include metadata, best use of technology, qualitycontrol and capacity-building. By the end of 2009, a comprehensive (and interoperable) data system for IODE should be available. The System should also meet the needs of JCOMM and major science programmes and be compatible (interoperable) with the WMO Information System (WIS).
- 159 Dr Rickards gave an undertaking to provide an update on progress to the JCOMM Management Committee and JCOMM DMCG in October 2006 and a draft report will be submitted to IODE-XIX and the 24th Session of the IOC Assembly in 2007.
- *160* The Executive Council thanked Dr Rickards for her comprehensive and clear progress report.
- 161 Canada informed the Executive Council about the emergence of cabled ocean observation systems, mentioning the VENUS and NEPTUNE projects and noting that these systems, with a broad bandwidth, will generate substantial new volumes of data. Canada called on IODE to take into consideration these new systems when developing the IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management.
- *162* The Executive Council reaffirmed its view that one of the core objectives of IODE is the secure and long-term archival of ocean data and information and that this function should be re-emphasized.
- 163 The Executive Council expressed its appreciation of the transformation of IODE involving the management of biological, chemical and coastal data, while being called upon for its expertise by major initiatives such as GEO/GEOSS. The Executive Council stressed that IODE is a core programme of the IOC, underpinning all the science and observation programmes.
- 164 The Executive Council welcomed the participation of IODE in regional (e.g., SeaDataNet) and global (e.g., GEO/GEOSS) initiatives that promote the development of global ocean data systems. It urged IODE to further establish close collaboration with regional and scientific organizations (and projects) in order to: (i) make available IODE data and information management expertise; (ii) avoid duplication, by establishing joint data and information systems; (iii) raise funding for the implementation of IODE activities, particularly capacity-building, at the regional level. In this regard, the Executive Council instructed the Executive Secretary to ensure that all IOC programmes fully utilize the IODE expertise and systems for their data and information management requirements and thus avoid setting up their own systems; such programmes and projects should include a comprehensive data management plan that incorporates IODE expertise.
- 165 The Executive Council expressed its strong appreciation of the success of the ODIN systems in Africa (ODINAFRICA) and in the Caribbean and South America (ODINCARSA) regions as effective multi-disciplinary and end-to-end capacity-building mechanisms that address marine environmental issues at national and regional level. The Executive Council welcomed the development of ODINs in the Indian Ocean (ODINCINDIO) and the western Pacific (ODINWESTPAC). The Executive Council further welcomed the emerging collaboration of other organizations (e.g., ROPME, NEPAD, CPPS) in the ODINs.

- *166* The Executive Council called on Member States to provide financial and other resources to maintain and further develop ODIN systems.
- 167 The Executive Council noted with appreciation the success of the IOC Project Office for IODE in Ostend, Belgium, and that, during the first year, following the opening in April 2005, more than 160 participants from 65 Member States had received training at the Office. The Executive Council expressed its gratitude to the Government of Flanders for its continued and increased support for the Project Office.
- 168 The Executive Council expressed its concern about the diminishing funds allocated to IODE in the budget resolution adopted by the IOC Assembly at its 23rd Session, as well as the impact of this on the stability of the position of the Head of the IOC Project Office for IODE in Ostend, Belgium; it requested the intra-sessional Working Group on Programme and Budget to address these issues. The Executive Council stressed the need for securing a realistic and sustained funding base for the IODE Programme and, while acknowledging that funding from the UNESCO Regular Programme was unlikely to increase substantially in the near future, it invited consideration of innovative funding approaches which should be based on: (i) establishing agreements with IOC and other programmes, projects and organizations that promote convergence in data and information management activities; (ii) funding of IODE regional capacity-building activities from regional funding sources; and (iii) increased financial and/or in-kind extra-budgetary contributions by Member States.
- 169 The Representative of WCRP stated that the new approach and global portal vision facilitated the collaboration between WCRP and IODE and he invited IODE to discuss the practical aspects of such collaboration, which could involve several WCRP projects, such as CLIVAR and SOLAS.
- 170 The Chairman of I-GOOS, making special reference to IODE's comprehensive and successful capacity-building programmes, called for closer collaboration between GOOS Regional Alliances and IODE to enable the GRAs to fully benefit from IODE.
- 171 The Executive Council expressed its strong support for the visionary development of a global data system and portal "Data ATM" that will focus on joining national and regional data systems to provide global and easy access to a wide variety of ocean data and data streams.
- 172 The Executive Council instructed IODE to ensure that the following elements also be taken into consideration in the IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management: (i) developments within WMO related to the future WMO Information System (WIS); (ii) need for harmonization between the JCOMM and IOC/IODE data management strategies; (iii) application of elements of the IOC Capacity-Building Principles and Strategy in terms of, *inter alia*, relevance, sustainability, value and affordability, to the IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management.
 - 4.4 CAPACITY-BUILDING, TEMA AND PUBLIC AWARENESS

4.4.1 Executive Secretary Report on Implementation of the IOC Capacity-Building Strategy

173 The IOC Vice-Chairman concerned with capacity-building, Dr Alfonse M. Dubi, introduced this item. He presented the many challenges involved in developing capacity, and its importance for developing countries. He emphasized the need for capacity-building to be part of the overall IOC Capacity-Building Strategy (IOC/INF-1211).

- 174 The Assembly, at its 23rd Session, through Resolutions XXIII-10 and XXIII-11, instructed the Executive Secretary to: conduct regional assessments of existing capacities to undertake marine scientific research and operational oceanography; pursue and secure new sources of funding and human-resource support for capacity-building; implement the work programme through workshops on innovative leadership, team-building and drafting of regional project proposals; enhance inter-sectoral harmonization of capacity-building activities; and form a Consultative Group on Capacity-building. To carry out these instructions, increased manpower and financial resources are required. Extra manpower, both at Headquarters and in the field, is necessary to monitor workshop outcomes, maintain a support network for directors between workshops, and ensure long-term continuity of the process.
- 175 Consultation between the IOC Sections and Field Offices has led, in the 2004–2005 biennium, to increased harmonization and alignment of IOC capacity-building activities with the IOC Principles of Capacity-building. Inter-sectoral collaboration with UNESCO programme activities of education, science and internal oversight was also pursued.
- 176 Thanks to a major grant from the Swedish International Development Agency, the Executive Secretary was able to hire a consultant to conduct a suite of workshops in leadership and team-building, as called for by Resolution XXIII-11. IOC also received Italian government funds for capacity-building in countries bordering the Adriatic Sea under a programme that is consistent with the Coastal GOOS Implementation Plan. Extra-budgetary funding was also received from France and the United States of America.
- 177 The Ocean Services/IODE and the Capacity-building Sections of the Secretariat are jointly conducting training workshops for this programme.
- 178 The First Leadership Workshop was held in Maputo, Mozambique, 29 October–1 November 2005, for directors of institutes in the IOCWIO region, and a Second Leadership Workshop for directors in the IOCARIBE region is being prepared, with dates to be chosen by the participants.
- 179 The use of operational products was demonstrated during the First Leadership Workshop in Maputo, with a modelling exercise that used existing regional operational data for model initialization. At the 9th session of the GSSC (UNESCO, Paris, 6–8 March 2006), the IOC's Capacity-building Section presented a proposal for the organization of regional two-week training workshops in remote sensing, GIS, and coastal modelling using available GOOS data and products. Such Decision Support Systems workshops will begin in East Africa in consultation with NEPAD.
- *180* Visits to several marine institutes in the western Indian Ocean and the Caribbean regions provided valuable information and will guide capacity-building interventions in these regions.
- 181 The Consultative Group on Capacity-building was formed by the Executive Secretary based on nominations received from Member States in response to a letter of 2 February 2006 (Ref. IOC/35/PB/ED/sg).
- 182 Ecuador emphasized the important contribution of ODINCARSA to the development of capacity in the region, including in the field of operational oceanography.
- 183 Several Member States emphasized the importance of harmonization and integration of capacity-building activities among the various Sections of the Secretariat, as well as between

Headquarters and the Regional Offices, and several also expressed their satisfaction with the progress achieved in this domain.

- 184 Several Member States stressed the importance of the IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology prepared by the Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE-LOS), which recently received mention in the United Nations General Assembly, and held that these guidelines should be more fully utilized to enhance IOC capacity-building.
- *185* Japan recalled its support for capacity-building in marine scientific research capability, and stressed the importance of providing opportunities for young scientists to develop their skills.
- 186 India and Mexico expressed their approval of the importance given to the definition of needs and priorities, believing that this task should be determined by the Member States themselves and that the results should be reflected in training and education. India recalled the importance of adequate capacity for developing and using the products of operational oceanography, and assured its full support to the IOC capacity-building efforts and its willingness to share its expertise and to host training courses. India further highlighted the important data management needs that will grow as capacity is developed.
- *187* France expressed its interest in capacity-building and the continuation of its support, particularly by inviting young scientists aboard its research vessels, with a view to allowing them to receive training in marine research. It also supported the proposal to increase Secretariat manpower for capacity-building.
- 188 The Russian Federation emphasized the key role of UNESCO/IOC Chairs in capacity development—part of the UNITWIN network—and recalled the support provided, including for the successful training programmes in the Baltic and Caspian Seas.
- 189 The United States of America expressed its expectation that IOC capacity-building will enhance networking and cooperation among Member States and contribute to the development of GOOS. The United States of America also requested the Secretariat to undertake an assessment of human-resource needs and priorities to allow adequate planning within the next Medium-term Strategy.
- 190 The Republic of Korea expressed its full approval of the principles that Member States should set their own priorities in capacity-building and that capacity-building be embedded in ongoing regional projects.
- 191 Belgium welcomed the attention given to training at the level of science leaders, and expressed its satisfaction with the fact that the Capacity-building Strategy included an awareness-raising component. Belgium will continue its support for capacity-building through IODE and its Project Office in Ostend.
- 192 South Africa expressed the high priority given by its government to capacity-building in marine sciences, and noted the cooperation among Brazil, India and South Africa (IBSA) as a successful example of South–South cooperation.
- 193 Nigeria stated that one of the most important requirements of the nine countries bordering the Guinea Current Large Marine Ecosystem (GCLME) is an increase in opportunities for upgrading the skills of their marine scientists in oceanography, fishery resources, marine geology and geophysics. To this effect, joint ocean cruises involving interested Member States are needed

annually. Such programmes now being facilitated by FAO/UNIDO/GCLME need further encouragement from the IOC Capacity-Building Programme.

- 194 Portugal offered to examine requests from countries in Africa that use Portuguese as a communication language for textbooks and scientific material, and noted the reference in the information document IOC/INF-1229 to the value of the Marine Science Country Profiles, which were the result of earlier surveys, for guiding capacity-building for a diversity of role players in this field of endeavour, including bilateral donors. Portugal also expressed its support of the items put to the Executive Council for its consideration and decision.
- 195 The Head of the IOC Capacity-building Section thanked the Member States for their positive comments and guidance on the capacity-building efforts, and particularly those Member States that had offered resources for capacity-building activities. He emphasized that integrating the varied and rich experiences of the different IOC programmes was an on-going process facilitated by the Principles that had been approved earlier by the Assembly. The principle that had been agreed to was to add benefit whilst harnessing the energies of various programme efforts.
- 196 The Executive Secretary responded to the several queries raised on the use of the Transfer of Marine Technology, in light of Resolution XXIII-9. He agreed in particular with Member States that had stressed the importance of the IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology (IOC/INF-1203) for enhancing capacity development, and the special role that the IOC has to play in this respect. He stressed that the main niche of IOC would be in promoting the transfer of soft technologies, such as management and modelling tools, and recalled the many efforts by the Secretariat to promote the "Guidelines", including the development of a dedicated web site. He acknowledged the limitation due to a lack of resources to further develop these activities, and the importance of linking these efforts with capacity-building. He agreed with the United States of America on the need to carry out a thorough assessment of staffing needs and priorities. The Executive Secretary recalled the lessons learned from the IOC's experience in capacity-building, and the critical importance of following the Principles approved by the Assembly at its 23rd Session, which allow sustainable benefits from capacity-building.
- *197* The Executive Council thanked the many Member States that had contributed financially and in kind or in human resources to the Commission's capacity-building activities.
- 198 The Executive Council urged Member States to: (i) second experts to the Capacitybuilding Section of the IOC Secretariat, both at headquarters and in the field; (ii) contribute financially, if necessary targeting regions, to the organization of Decision Support Systems workshops; and (iii) designate a single-point capacity-building contact person to pursue actively the creation of an effective assessment product for use by all stakeholders concerned with capacity-building.
- 199 The Executive Council invited the Director-General of UNESCO to consider with high priority the establishment of one professional and one administrative post in the IOC Secretariat, in the Capacity-building Section, to ensure continuity of critical capacity-building initiatives.

200 **The Executive Council adopted** <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.3</u>.

201 On behalf of the Executive Board of the International Ocean Institute, the Executive Director of IOI, Dr Iouri Oliounine, presented the Elizabeth Mann Borgese Medal to the IOC

"In gratitude for its continued support and encouragement extended to IOI in realizing its vision and mission, and in recognition and appreciation by the IOI community of the IOC leadership in promoting equitable global co-operation for advancing and understanding and knowledge of the nature, resources and sustainability of the oceans."

- 202 The Executive Secretary presented an IOC Certificate of Appreciation to Alexei Suzyumov for his long-standing and dedicated steerage of the IOC "Training-through-Research" Programme for developing capacity in research at sea.
- Alexei Suzyumov has been continuously involved in the IOC Floating University programme since its inception. In two weeks' time the programme will be completing its 16th annual cycle of activities when the RV *Professor Logachev* docks in Norway. Without Alexei's hard work in providing the necessary administrative support, this achievement would have been impossible. Besides being deeply involved in the annual major scientific research and teaching cruise, he has been involved in each of the 15 international scientific meetings, all of the committee meetings and the publication of the 14 reports in the IOC Technical Series. He has freely given us the benefit of his wisdom and conscientious approach to organization. Much has been done in his own time and has been truly "beyond the call of duty". The 700 or so students and scientists who have been involved recognize that they owe Alexei Suzyumov a great deal and the IOC very much hopes that he will continue to give his wise counsel and support.
- 204 The Executive Secretary, on behalf of the Commission, in plenary, thanked Ms Françoise Ricotou for her longstanding service to the IOC; she will leave the Organization at the end of August this year.
- 205 Françoise Ricotou was born in Madagascar and has been working in the UN system for 31 years, first for FAO, Rome, as well as in Beirut, then for 26 years in UNESCO, including 21 years in the IOC where she first worked for the GLOSS and GOOS programmes and then joined the Ocean Services Section in 1993. She assisted Iouri Oliounine as well as Peter Pissierssens (with IODE, ODINAFRICA, ITSU, GLODIR and the *WINDOW Newsletter*) until December 2005. Françoise is now working in the Tsunami Unit.

4.5 REGIONAL ACTIVITIES

4.5.1 Follow-up to the Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean (IOCINDIO)

206 The Chairman of IOCINDIO, Dr Nasser Zaker, introduced this item. The IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean held its 4th Session in Colombo, Sri Lanka, 8–10 December 2005. Dr Zaker reported on the implementation of the IOCINDIO Work Plan for the period 2000–2005, noting the considerable achievements, mainly in the area of capacity-building in ocean research, services and observation. He highlighted the organization of seven training courses, in the areas of HAB, ICAM, GLOSS, coral reefs, IOGOOS and data management. Other important regional programmes, such as ODINCINDIO, were initiated through IODE and with the support of the Government of Flanders. ODINCINDIO was also identified as a capacity-building component of IOGOOS for ocean data and information management. The IOC–ROPME Workshop on Coral Reef Management (Kish Island, Islamic Republic of Iran, 14– 17 December 2003) led to the establishment of a regional GCRMN node for the Persian Gulf. The IOCINDIO Chairman recalled that the Iranian National Centre for Oceanography (INCO) has provided administrative support to IOCINDIO activities and has established a dedicated web site for the Regional Committee. He also welcomed the increased level of collaboration with other international and regional bodies and programmes, such as ROPME, IOI, LOICZ and IOGOOS.

- 207 Dr Zaker briefly presented the main decisions of the 4th Session of IOCINDIO, as well as the two recommendations adopted, which include a regional Work Plan for the period 2006– 2008 and recommendations for enhancing the effectiveness of IOCINDIO in the context of the present IOC regional policy. He recognized that, since the proposed IOCINDIO Work Plan exceeds by far the level of resources available for IOC regional activities, the mobilization of adequate resources through in-kind and extra-budgetary financial contributions from Member States is critically needed.
- 208 The Executive Council thanked the IOCINDIO Chairman for his comprehensive report and welcomed the work achieved by IOCINDIO during the inter-sessional period.
- 209 Some Member States emphasized the importance of building regional capacity in the area of ICAM and operational observations, and the development of near-shore bathymetry for use in the preparation of coastal inundation maps in relation to the mitigation of the impact of oceanic hazards.
- 210 The Representative of IHO reconfirmed the readiness of his organization to fully collaborate with IOC in the development of inundation maps and related coastal bathymetric activities required for the region.
- 211 **The Executive Council endorsed** the Report of the 4th Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean and its Recommendations, and expressed its appreciation to Sri Lanka for having hosted IOCINDIO-IV.
- 212 The Executive Council adopted <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.4</u>.

4.5.2 Follow-up to the Ninth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE)

- 213 The Chairman of the IOCARIBE Sub-Commission, Mr Guillermo Garcia (Cuba), introduced this item. The Executive Summary of the 9th Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (Cartagena, Colombia, 19–22 April 2006) is contained in Executive Summary Report IOC/SC-IOCARIBE-IX/3s.
- The Chairman of IOCARIBE briefly reviewed the main results of the 9th Session of IOCARIBE, among them: (i) the development of the "White Water to Blue Water Initiative" and the Caribbean Region; (ii) the review of the IOCARIBE-GOOS Action Plan for Regional GOOS Development and its links to the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem and to the CARIBE-EWS; (iii) the development of the regional Large Marine Ecosystem (LME) projects; (iv) the implementation of the Ocean Data and Information Network for the Caribbean and South America (ODINCARSA); (v) the strengthening of the project on Integrated Coastal Management in Latin America and the Caribbean; and (vi) the conduct of regional assessments of existing capacities to undertake marine scientific research and operational oceanography.
- 215 The Chairman of IOCARIBE also discussed the main achievements during this intersessional period, particularly: (i) the approval by GEF of the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem Project, PDF-B phase, "Sustainable Management of the Shared Living Marine Resources of the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem (CLME) and Adjacent Regions"; this is an 18-month project, with the participation of 25 GEF-eligible countries, starting in June 2006, with IOC as

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 30

the implementing agency, and UNDP, the executive agency, with the project office in CERMES, at the University of the West Indies, in Barbados; (ii) the approval and publication of the IOCARIBE Strategic Science Plan and Related Services for 2006–2016; (iii) the advances in the implementation of the "Know-Why Network," a joint IOCARIBE and UNEP CAR/CU project, with the support of the Swedish International Development Agency; and (iv) the initial phase for the establishment of the "Tsunami and other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions."

- 216 The following items were approved by the Sub-Commission at its 9th Session: (i) the IOCARIBE Strategic Science Plan and Related Services for 2006–2016; (ii) a Memorandum of Understanding between IOCARIBE and the Centre for Resource Management and Environmental Studies (CERMES) of the University of the West Indies, Barbados, on the establishment of the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem (CLME) PDF-B Project Office at CERMES, Barbados; (iii) an Action Plan for the establishment of the Tsunami and Other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions; and (iv) its Draft Biennial Programme and Budget for 2006–2008.
- 217 Of particular importance were the advances by IOCARIBE in enhancing and strengthening links with other United Nations and regional programmes and organizations. The IOCARIBE Chairman informed the Executive Council of the Memoranda of Understanding (MoU) and the cooperation developed with: (i) the Caribbean Disaster Emergency Response Agency (CDERA) of CARICOM; (ii) the Caribbean Regional Fisheries Mechanism (CRFM). He also pointed out the fruitful cooperation with WMO, UNEP and ISDR, and the need to strengthen the links with the International Maritime Organization and its Marine Environment Protection Committee (MEPC).
- 218 Mexico expressed its satisfaction with the work done in the region during the intersessional period and manifested its interest in continuing its support for the IOCARIBE programmes and projects.
- 219 Brazil stressed the importance of the "IOCARIBE Strategic Science Plan and Related Services for 2006–2016" and pointed out the challenges that the region is facing to implement it. Brazil also commended Colombia for its support and hosting of the IOCARIBE Secretariat during the last twenty years.
- 220 Ecuador pointed out the experience of recent years in strengthening the cooperation between regions, and particularly recalled the joint activities developed between IOCARIBE and the Permanent Commission for the Southeast Pacific.
- 221 Nigeria also stressed the need for strengthening South–South cooperation in capacitybuilding, particularly for implementing LME projects.
- 222 Venezuela said it would make available to the Member States of the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions information from its state-of-the-art sea level and seismological networks. Venezuela also informed the Executive Council of the support that the Venezuelan National Commission for Risk Management has given to the countries of the Caribbean and the Andean region in various recovery processes following flooding and other dangerous coastal zone events. Venezuela stressed the need for countries to develop an appropriate legal framework for the work and cooperation relating to warning systems, and underlined the importance of a shared financing of activities and programmes by UNESCO, the IOC Member States and international, regional and national organizations. Venezuela also stressed the usefulness of Member States
creating their respective Commissions or Working Groups for each of the various programme and activities of the IOC.

- 223 Colombia reaffirmed its government's intention to continue supporting the IOCARIBE Secretariat in Cartagena. Also, the Colombian Government is reviewing the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem Project with the view to endorsing it and actively participating in its implementation.
- 224 The Representative of the WMO, Mr Edgard Cabrera, highlighted the role of IOCARIBE and pointed out the importance of its coordination in the region and the good cooperation achieved with the NMHSs in the framework of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Caribbean Sea and Adjacent Regions (ICG/CARIBE-EWS). He stressed the long history of WMO activities beyond the strict domain of weather, climate and water. These activities have reached far beyond natural disasters. Safety at sea has been a primary driver for internationally coordinated marine observations since the foundation of WMO. Over the past decades the demand has steadily grown for expanding marine observation systems to support other applications, such as long-range weather forecasting, coastal-area management, fishing, pollution prevention, climate modelling and prediction. In this sense, a close cooperation in the region with JCOMM in support of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS is especially important.
- The Representative of UNEP, Mr Nelson Andrade, pointed out the on-going project developed within the framework of the Memorandum of Co-operation between IOCARIBE and UNEP, signed during the 7th Session of IOCARIBE, in Veracruz, Mexico, in February 2002. IOCARIBE and UNEP CAR/CU established the Regional Network in Marine Science and Technology for the Caribbean: The "Know-why Network." This is a partnership within the White Water to Blue Water Initiative, with support from the Swedish International Development Agency. Institutions from Colombia (Invemar), Cuba (Cimab-RAC), Trinidad and Tobago (IMA) and Venezuela (Universidad de Oriente) are participating in the project. The overall objective of the project is to enhance the capacity of the countries of the Wider Caribbean Region to implement the Protocol concerning Land-based Sources of Pollution (LBS Protocol) and to improve knowledge of the status and quality of the marine environment and its resources.
- The Representative of IHO, Mr Hugo Gorziglia, recalled the 59th UN General Assembly's call, in 2004, to the International Hydrographic Organization to intensify its efforts to build capacity in developing countries, in particular the least-developed countries and Small Island Developing States, to improve hydrographic services and the production of nautical charts, including the mobilization of resources and building of capacity. With this in mind, the IHO's Meso-American and Caribbean Hydrographic Commission agreed, and decided as a follow-up action, to visit the Small Island States in the Caribbean region in 2006, to work with national authorities to determine the optimum, but most economical, means of ensuring the updating and provision of modern surveys and charts.
- 227 The Executive Council expressed its appreciation of the excellent work being done by IOCARIBE. It congratulated Mr Guillermo Garcia on his recent election as IOCARIBE Chairman and commended past IOCARIBE Chairman, Mr Marco-Polo Bernal (Mexico), and the IOCARIBE Secretary, Mr Cesar Toro, for their achievements during the last inter-sessional period.
- 228 The Executive Council also expressed its recognition to IOCARIBE for providing a successful model of work for an IOC regional subsidiary body in the new financial context.

- 229 The Executive Council thanked the Government of Colombia for hosting the 9th Session of IOCARIBE in Cartagena, and for having hosted and supported the IOCARIBE Secretariat during the last twenty years.
- *230* **The Executive Council endorsed** the Executive Summary of the report of IOCARIBE-IX and **adopted** <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.5</u>.

4.5.3 Follow-up to the Sixth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (IOCWIO)

- 231 The Chairman of IOCWIO, Dr Antonio Hoguane, introduced this item. The IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean, at its 6th Session (Maputo, Mozambique, 2-4 November 2005), recognized that the extra-budgetary funds made available under the Flanders UNESCO Science Trust Fund (FUST) had enabled the implementation of a wide range of activities in the context of the Ocean Data and Information Network for Africa (ODINAFRICA). The Regional Committee adopted its Work Plan for 2006–2008, focusing on the development of a coastal observing system and of the skills required to address the needs of integrated management of the coastal environment and resources, as well as the development of systems of early warning of marine hazards, such as storm surges, cyclones and tsunamis, and mitigation of their impact. The Committee agreed that this initiative calls for the installation and upgrading of sea-level stations, and the strengthening of skills in modelling, remote sensing, GIS, and mapping of coastal areas. It recognized the roles that the Indian Ocean Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System and the Ocean Data and Information Network for Africa (ODINAFRICA) could usefully play in the implementation of this programme. The Regional Committee emphasized the fact that the work programme required more resources than were currently available; it therefore attached great importance to the planned workshops on proposalwriting for the mobilization of resources, as well as to the need for continued collaboration with other organizations in the region, such as the United Nations Environment Programme, the Secretariat for the NEPAD Coastal and Marine Sub-theme, and the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association (WIOMSA).
- 232 Dr Hoguane emphasized the importance of the establishment of the Regional Group of Experts on Ocean Dynamics and Climate to stimulate oceanographic research through the participation of western Indian Ocean countries in global programmes. Resources will be required for at least one meeting of this Group during the inter-sessional period.
- 233 South Africa informed the Executive Council that it is considering making an oceanographic research vessel available to regional programmes, in line with the Benguela Current LME and the Agulhas-Somali LME. At this time, South Africa is also discussing the design, development and deployment of moored real-time-data buoys and drifting buoys along the east and west coasts of southern Africa. A decision on this will be announced during the GOOS-related Workshops hosted by GOOS-Africa in November 2006 in Cape Town, South Africa:
 - Pan-African LMEs/GOOS-AFRICA Leadership Workshop on Operational Oceanography and Remote Sensing in Africa, Cape Town, South Africa, 6–10 November 2006;
 - The Second Pan-African LMEs Forum, Cape Town, South Africa, 13 November 2006;
 - The Third Forum of the GOOS Regional Alliances (GRAs), Cape Town, South Africa, 14–17 November 2006.

- The Representative of the IHO informed the Executive Council of the capacity-building activities of his organization in the region. A mission to assess available facilities had been undertaken to Kenya, Madagascar, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, Tanzania and Uganda. A technical workshop was held (Maputo, Mozambique, 7–8 June 2006) to identify national and regional needs. The results of this workshop will orient the IHO capacity-building efforts. He informed the Executive Council that IHO encourages the establishment of National Hydrographic Commissions.
- 235 The Executive Council congratulated the Chairman of IOCWIO on his re-election and noted the progress that has been made in the development and implementation of programmes in IOCWIO region.
- 236 The Executive Council welcomed the very important and substantive offer of South Africa to make an oceanographic research vessel available for use by institutions in the region for a period of up to six months, and the deployment of moored and drifting buoys, and expressed its appreciation of the generous offer.
- 237 The Executive Council reaffirmed its support for the strengthening of capacity-building initiatives in the region, especially the planned leadership and proposal-writing workshops.
- 238 **The Executive Council endorsed** the Executive Summary report of IOCWIO-VI and its four recommendations and urged Member States to provide extra resources for the full implementation of the approved Work Plan.

239 The Executive Council adopted <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.6</u>.

4.5.4 Follow-up to the Report of the Inter-sessional Working Group on Regional Programmes

- 240 IOC Vice-Chairman, Professor Mario Ruivo, introduced this item. By Resolution XXIII-6, the Assembly recognized that the role of Regional Subsidiary Bodies must be made more effective and efficient by examining and correcting the present deficiencies, improving communications and interactions and ensuring a comprehensive programme following the Commission's Main Lines of Action. The Resolution, *inter alia*, also instructed the Executive Secretary to create an Inter-sessional Working Group, composed of the Chairpersons of Regional Subsidiary Bodies and involving all interested Member States, to: (i) assess the efficiency and effectiveness of regional programmes through quantifiable indicators; (ii) assess the role of regional activities in the long-term plans of the Commission and develop scenarios of resource needs; and (iii) report to the Executive Council, at its 39th Session, on progress achieved.
- 241 Pursuant to Resolution XXIII-6, an Inter-sessional Working Group was created in April 2006 by the Executive Secretary, under the chairmanship of IOC Vice-Chairman Professor Mario Ruivo. The Group carried out a preliminary consultation among the Chairpersons of Regional Subsidiary Bodies on its modalities of work. Further, the Meeting of IOC Major Subsidiary Bodies (Paris, UNESCO, 20 June 2006) examined the preliminary work of the Working Group and considered background information and proposals for its continuation. Before the meeting, Australia, Cuba, Finland, Portugal, Sri Lanka and the United States of America had expressed their interest in participating in the Working Group.
- 242 Several Member States noted that the Regional Subsidiary Bodies are a fundamental arm of the IOC to translate the global programmes and ocean services of the Commission into

activities for the benefit of Member States, taking into account the specificity of each region, from all points of view, and the priorities indicated by Member States.

- The Working Group recognized that this requires increased national and regional 243 capacities in marine sciences through training, networking among scientists and research and higher-education institutions, and the mobilization of specialized human resources and means, complemented by bilateral and multilateral support. A special effort to develop, at all levels, public awareness of the importance of scientific knowledge and data for ocean management is essential to sensitize decision-makers and all interested stakeholders. However, this effort occurs under two specific constraints: (i) the current insufficiency of IOC budget and the limited human and financial resources available to Regional Subsidiary Bodies to implement and sustain projects; and (ii) the limited degree of awareness of IOC activities outside the concerned scientific communities, which undermines the mobilization of extra-budgetary resources in support of regional cooperation in marine research and services. This raises fundamental questions about the visibility of IOC activities and the effectiveness of national focal points in gaining the interest of national policy-makers and stakeholders. By itself, the existence and effective functioning of formal national bodies for oceanography and related issues represents an important indicator of interest in the role and activities of the Commission.
- 244 The Group recognized that new priorities for ocean management are emerging, in particular, the application of the ecosystem approach called for by the Plan of Implementation for the World Summit on Sustainable Development and, more recently, the attention given to the conservation of biodiversity in the high seas and in the deep sea. This raises a question about the coherence between the approach to, and implementation of, IOC global programmes with a regional delivery and IOC Regional Subsidiary Bodies with such global priorities for effective ocean science and services. Important opportunities are emerging for raising the profile of oceans in the political agenda at national and international levels in the near future: in 2008, the 10th anniversary of the International Year of the Ocean; in 2010, the 50th anniversary of the IOC; in 2014, the overall review of progress on oceans and coasts by the Commission on Sustainable Development. These global events provide an occasion for the IOC to enhance its regional approaches.
- 245 Some Member States agreed that the Working Group, with the participation of the Chairmen of the Regional Subsidiary Bodies, with inputs from Technical Bodies and open to interested Member States, can provide an effective contribution to:
 - a stocktaking and an assessment of the efficiency, effectiveness and potentialities of IOC Regional Subsidiary Bodies and activities, based on measures of performance that, while flexible enough to accommodate regional differences, allow for the measurement of progress based on common metrics;
 - (ii) an analysis of the cooperation with intergovernmental organizations, in particular UNEP and UNDP, and strategic alliances with non-governmental organizations active in the same regions;
 - (iii) the process that will lead to the formulation of the IOC Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013, to be adopted by the Assembly at its 24th Session, in 2007, as a contribution to the UNESCO 33 C/4, which is expected to be finally adopted by the UNESCO General Conference in the autumn of 2007;

- (iv) an objective basis for guidance by the Assembly regarding an enhanced role of the Regional Subsidiary Bodies in the implementation of IOC programmes of work and on the budgetary, staffing and other requirements.
- 246 Australia, Cuba, Kenya, Nigeria, Republic of Korea, Sri Lanka and Venezuela expressed their appreciation of the preliminary work carried out by the Vice-Chairman responsible for regional activities.
- 247 The Chairman of WESTPAC considered that it is strongly felt by the Regional Subsidiary Bodies, and particularly WESTPAC, that a minimum funding to cover basic manpower and programme implementation for the Regional Subsidiary Bodies would have to be incorporated into the IOC Regular Programme and Budget to ensure the efficient functioning of these Bodies.
- 248 **The Executive Council decided** that the activities of the Working Group during the inter-sessional period should be continued with the support of the IOC Secretariat. A broad and regionally balanced participation of Members States is an essential element to the success of the Working Group and the Executive Council urged Member States to participate actively in its work. It requested the Working Group to make its final report available to the Member States sufficiently in advance of the 24th Session of the Assembly to enable them to examine it properly.
- 249 **The Executive Council also decided** to extend the Working Group's mandate until the 24th Session of the Assembly, to allow it to complete its work, organize an information session immediately prior to the 24th Session of the Assembly, and to report to the Assembly at that session.
 - 4.6 UNITED NATIONS CONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS

4.6.1 Follow-up to the Sixth Session of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE-LOS VI)

- 250 The Chairman of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE-LOS), Elie Jarmache, introduced this item. He thanked the Government of Spain and the Junta de Andalucía (Spanish Regional Government) for hosting the 6th meeting of IOC/ABE-LOS (Málaga, Spain, 3–7 April 2006), and France, Greece, Spain and The Netherlands for supporting the attendance of representatives from developing countries.
- 251 At IOC/ABE-LOS-VI, the following topics were addressed:
 - (i) The IOC legal framework for the collection of oceanographic data in the context of UNCLOS;
 - Emerging issues on the Law of the Sea in relation to marine scientific research in the main international fora; IOC/ABE-LOS pointed out that IOC needs to be alert and involved in any UN matter of interest to IOC Member States that might require the participation of IOC/ABE-LOS;
 - (iii) The dissemination and promotion of the IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology (CGTMT), in accordance with IOC Resolutions EC-XXXVII.8 and XXIII-9, and UNGA Resolutions A/RES/59/24 (para. 11) and A/RES/60/30 (para. 14) in

which IOC was requested to work closely with Member States in the application of these Criteria and Guidelines;

- (iv) The establishment of a Roster of Experts on Marine Scientific Research and Transfer of Marine Technology;
- (v) The new IOC/ABE-LOS web site, which is considered as a useful tool for IOC Member States to get information on UNCLOS, particularly Part XIII and XIV.
- 252 He commended the Secretariat on its initiative to provide a report on the inter-sessional activities, which had helped the Advisory Body to follow up the work undertaken by the Secretariat.
- 253 He noted the good participation in the meeting (42 countries), as well as that of Dr François Gérard, Chairman of I-GOOS, and Mathieu Belbéoch, Argo Project Coordinator, who delivered very informative presentations. He considered that IOC/ABE-LOS is progressively consolidating its achievements.
- 254 He reminded the Executive Council that the Advisory Body had decided that the Sub-Group working on the legal framework for the collection of oceanographic data in the context of UNCLOS, coordinated by Professor Kari Hakapää, should continue its work, based on the comments and observations made when the subject matter of the Sub-Group was discussed at IOC/ABE-LOS V and VI, calling for increased participation of the members of the Sub-Group in the inter-sessional work.
- 255 He explained that the Advisory Body does not intend to provide binding instruments but practical solutions to problems that have emerged in IOC programmes and activities.
- 256 Gabon affirmed its support to IOC/ABE-LOS and extended an invitation to hold the 7th meeting of IOC/ABE-LOS, which could be expected to be of particular benefit to the African Member States.
- 257 The Executive Council accepted with appreciation the offer of Gabon.
- 258 Several Member States commended the work of IOC/ABE-LOS, its Chairman and the IOC Secretariat.
- 259 Spain and Greece confirmed their support to IOC/ABE-LOS activities in the coming inter-sessional period.
- 260 Australia supported the work of IOC/ABE-LOS and informed the Executive Council of the Partnership established under the Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology by the ICG/IOTWS to deal with deep-sea pressure-sensor technology, as a clear example of the use of this IOC instrument.
- 261 The Congo expressed its full support for the activities of IOC/ABE-LOS and for the invitation of Gabon to host the next IOC/ABE-LOS meeting (2007), in Libreville.
- The United Kingdom expressed its pleasure at the completion of some of the tasks given to IOC/ABE-LOS, but noted that progress during the IOC/ABE-LOS VI meeting had been slow. It recognized that the issues for consideration were complex and would need further work. Nevertheless, it was of the view that a more streamlined approach should be considered and suggested that IOC/ABE-LOS should bring proposals on this matter to the Assembly at its 24th

Session. The United Kingdom also took the view that the routine collection of data by Argo floats should not be considered as marine scientific research but rather as an operational activity that should be treated in a similar way to meteorological activities.

- 263 Japan and Argentina disagreed with this view. They considered that IOC/ABE-LOS had achieved concrete and satisfactory results through its four Working Groups. They also believed that, given its characteristics, the Argo initiative could perfectly well be considered in the framework of Art. 247 of UNCLOS, as an activity of a group of IOC Member States on a subject of marine scientific research under the auspices of IOC. They considered also that the Argo floats are tools of marine scientific research and that the data collected by them are moreover of benefit to marine meteorology.
- Argentina highlighted the fact that IOC/ABE-LOS had shown itself capable of producing 264 specific results and products, both quantitatively and qualitatively. Argentina stressed the need to ensure an adequate follow-up of these products by the Member States and the Executive Secretary; and similarly, for the criteria and principles for the transfer of marine technology as an appropriate tool for capacity-building, and the application of which, lay both with the Member States and the Executive Secretary. Argentina called on the Member States to respond to Questionnaire Nº 3 on the practice of States; the replies received show that certain current ideas about marine scientific research are incorrect, as, for example, the suppose difficulty in obtaining the authorization of the coastal States. With respect to the Roster of Experts, Argentina considered that countries had had the possibility make their observations and comments on the constitution and mandate of the Roster and that it should now be implemented by the Secretariat and the Member States. Regarding the juridical framework for the gathering of oceanographic data, Argentina considered that the discussion had been productive, and called for the continuation and intensification of the work inter-sessionally, as had been done hitherto. Argentina suggested caution regarding the possibility that IOC/ABE-LOS concern itself with biodiversity in areas outside national jurisdiction, since this should require a clear instruction from the UN General Assembly or from the conferences of the States Parties to UNCLOS.
- 265 Japan expressed its concern that implementation of survey cruises in the EEZs of coastal States is hard to achieve, owing to difficulties in obtaining their consent to conduct cruises in a timely fashion and, sometimes, owing to the severe conditions attached to such consent. It suggested that this issue could be a possible topic for examination by IOC/ABE-LOS.
- 266 Several Member States agreed that the issue of the legal framework for the collection of oceanographic data was a delicate and difficult topic, and that there was a need to work actively in the implementation of marine technology transfer.
- 267 Several Member States said they would be submitting names for the Roster of Experts. United Kingdom sought clarification over terms of reference and expertise required for these experts.
- 268 The United States of America expressed the view that, in order to facilitate exchange of Member State practice regarding Part XIII and XIV of UNCLOS, Member States were reminded to respond to IOC Questionnaire N° 3, which is available on the IOC/ABE-LOS web site.
- 269 The Chairman of I-GOOS pointed out that IOC programmes and activities need to be undertaken within an appropriate legal framework and stated that the development of observing systems demanded the transfer of technology to ensure their success.

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 38

- 270 Regarding the future activities of the IOC/ABE-LOS, the Executive Secretary reminded the Executive Council that, according to IOC Resolution XIX-19, the matters to be dealt with by IOC/ABE-LOS are referred to it by the IOC Governing Bodies or the IOC Executive Secretary. He highlighted the fact that the IOC does not interpret UNCLOS, but that, through IOC/ABE-LOS, contributes to the implementation of the Parts of UNCLOS relevant to its fields of competence. The Executive Secretary added that there is a wide range of modalities of technology transfer, going from the soft technologies, associated with the collection and interpretation of scientific data, which may conveniently come under the IOC Capacity-building Programme, and, on the other hand, commercial or proprietary technologies which are mostly transferred through well established market mechanisms, in which IOC, as an international public-service organization, has a very limited and indirect role to play.
- 271 Several Member States identified additional emerging issues on which IOC/ABE-LOS could undertake work within IOC's area of competence; e.g. biodiversity in waters beyond national jurisdiction. Several Member States agreed that the issue of the legal framework for the collection of oceanographic data was a delicate and difficult topic, and that there was a need to work actively in the implementation of marine technology transfer.

272 **The Executive Council adopted** <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.7</u>.

273 Venezuela, while supporting Resolution EC-XXXIX.7, reminded the Executive Council that Venezuela is not a Party to UNCLOS.

4.7 TSUNAMI ACTIVITIES

4.7.1 Follow-up to the First and Second Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/IOTWS)

- The Chairman of the ICG/IOTWS, Dr P.S. Goel, introduced this item. He recalled that, by Resolution XXIII-12, the IOC Assembly decided: (i) to create an Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (IOTWS) and establish an Intergovernmental Coordination Group (ICG/IOTWS); (ii) that the IOC shall provide the Secretariat of the ICG/IOTWS; (iii) that the IOC shall develop a comprehensive programme of capacity-building on tsunami protection for the Indian Ocean, in order to assist all countries of the region, including the coastal African countries and Middle-Eastern countries, to develop the capacity to protect their populations against the impact of tsunamis. The Assembly also stressed the fact that a regional system should be integrated into a network of global warning systems for ocean-related hazards.
- 275 The ICG/IOTWS, at its 1st Session (Perth, Australia, 3–5 August 2005), established four inter-sessional Working Groups, on: Seismic Measurements; Sea-level Data; Risk Assessment, Modelling and Forecasting; and Interoperability. At its 2nd Session (Hyderabad, 14–16 December 2005), it split the tasks among five inter-sessional Working Groups (Seismic Measurements; Sea-level Data; Risk Assessment; Modelling and Forecasting; and Interoperability). The ICG also stressed the need to address the promotion of, and technical support for, public-awareness and preparedness activities at the regional and national levels, and called on the IOC Executive Secretary to take appropriate action in the inter-sessional period. Since this need had also been addressed by the ISDR, the ISDR Secretariat, in close cooperation with the IOC Secretariat, volunteered to conduct a coordination workshop, which took place in Bangkok, 14–16 June 2006, with a view also to involving, in the work of the ICG/IOTWS, representatives of IOC Member States, relevant NGOs and other UN agencies active in capacitybuilding. A list of ICG/IOTWS recommendations on the implementation of an Indian Ocean

Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System was made available to the Executive Council (Summary Report ICG/IOTWS-II/3), and a detailed Action Plan is currently being prepared by the IOC Secretariat.

- 276 Dr Goel reminded the Executive Council of the two major tsunami source zones in the Indian Ocean Basin, the Makran region, off the coast of Pakistan, and the Sunda–Sumatra Trench, and reported in detail on the plans to establish an Indian Tsunami Warning System. He also outlined the actual state of upgrading and further plans to complete the national systems for Australia, Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand. He presented the follow-up actions to finalize an end-to-end tsunami warning system and reminded the Executive Council that the next session of the ICG/IOTWS will take place in Bali, Indonesia, 31 July–2 August 2006.
- 277 The Executive Secretary thanked Dr Goel for the detailed report and stressed that he was proud that IOC was able to coordinate the work necessary to provide the promised initial system by mid-2006, which includes the installation of 28 additional sea level stations, 30 seismic stations and three open-ocean DART buoys. The Pacific Tsunami Warning Centre in Hawaii and the North-west Pacific Tsunami Warning and Advisory Centre in Tokyo are providing interim advisory information based on these new networks.
- 278 Indonesia appreciated the overview given by Dr Goel and provided additional information on the actual state of the Indonesian tsunami warning system, which has to face very specific requirements, owing to the proximity of Indonesia to the Sumatra Trench. He reported on a two-day national exhibition to mark the first anniversary of the Indian Ocean tsunami disaster of 26 December 2004 and thanked IOC for the coordination and support provided.
- 279 Malaysia reported on two recently hosted tsunami-related meetings, a Round-Table on Earthquake and Tsunami Risk in South East Asia, the South China Sea and Indian Ocean (Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 27–28 April 2006), and the UNESCO–IOC International Training Course on Tsunami Numerical Modelling: Course I: Tsunami Sources and Tsunami Propagation (Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 8–19 May 2006).
- 280 Thailand emphasized the need to take into account related environmental and capacitybuilding activities.
- 281 Sri Lanka reported on its progress in establishing a national TWS.
- 282 Venezuela pointed out that there is an urgent need to take the social aspects into account.
- 283 Japan informed the Executive Council of an international post-tsunami geophysical cruise to Indonesia to assess the huge geotectonic plate movement that generated the earthquake and the subsequent Indian Ocean tsunami disaster; the Japanese report was made available to the participants in the present session of the Executive Council.
- 284 The United States of America expressed its appreciation of the progress made by the ICG and the IOC Secretariat, emphasizing the need to accelerate efforts to complete the regional operational design and encourage ongoing commitments to the free and open exchange of relevant real-time ocean-hazard warning data without thresholds.
- 285 Kuwait asked whether there was an intention to use crystal sensors for measuring deepsea pressure changes.

- 286 Mexico was pleased to see the substantial progress in the establishment of an IOTWS, emphasizing that technology transfer, especially on data transmission and communication means, needs to be increased.
- 287 Kenya appreciated the efforts by the IOC and its Member States to establish an IOTWS, but emphasized the importance of capacity-building and training in an end-to-end warning system.
- 288 France appreciated the significant progress and announced its plan to help eastern African countries to establish national warning centres on a multi-hazard basis. France also recommended that tests of the system, such as those performed in the Pacific, be carried out as soon as possible.
- 289 Canada reported on its support for the UNESCO/IOC tsunami information centre in Jakarta and reminded the Executive Council of Canada's willingness to establish bilateral cooperation in the national implementation of end-to-end warning and mitigation systems.
- 290 Germany announced that the German–Indonesian bilateral project to establish an Indonesian Early Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System is scheduled to have a final system in place by the end of 2008, but a preliminary system is planned to be operational by the end of this year.
- 291 The Republic of Korea emphasized the need for the production of inundation maps for all endangered coastal regions around the globe.
- Based on the interventions by France and Kenya, Australia proposed that the 4th Session of ICG/IOTWS be held in the western part of the Indian Ocean.
- 293 IMO expressed its appreciation of the good and continuing cooperation with IOC. UNEP emphasized the necessary link to its Regional Seas Programme and taking environmental impact analysis into account. IOI stressed that it is looking forward to further cooperation with IOC in such fields as capacity-building, training and preparedness.
- 294 The Chairman of the ICG/IOTWS appreciated the positive feedback by the Member States and pointed out that India, although not mentioned before, is actually implementing a public outreach programme on tsunami preparedness.
- The Executive Secretary thanked the Executive Council for the positive feedback on the work of the Secretariat. In a reply to a question raised by Australia about progress on the Secretariat for the IOTWS, he pointed out that, when adopting Resolution XXIII-12, the Assembly had exceeded its authority by deciding on the location of part of the Secretariat, a prerogative that, according to the UNESCO Constitution, is bestowed only on the Director-General of UNESCO and should not be decided by intergovernmental bodies. He also stressed the fact that this was exclusively a procedural matter, but in need of clarification, since it does not constitute a precedent nor has it adversely affected the successful hiring of two professionals for the IOC Perth Regional Office: Mr Tony Elliot, who will take up his post on 1 July 2006; and Ms Jane Cunneen, who has been working in the Perth Office since December 2005.
- 296 **The Executive Council** expressed its appreciation to Australia and India for hosting ICG/IOTWS-I and ICG/IOTWS-II and **endorsed** the reports of these meetings.

4.7.2 Follow-up to the First and Second Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS)

- 297 The Chairman of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS), Professor Stefano Tinti, introduced this item. The Assembly established the ICG/NEAMTWS by Resolution XXIII-14. It also instructed the IOC Executive Secretary to initiate consultations with the European Commission on cooperation and mobilization of support for the ICG/NEAMTWS.
- 298 Resolution XXIII-14 underlined the lack of a regional tsunami early-warning system for the north-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and connected seas, and stressed the fact that the effect of a large tsunami in this region would be more disastrous than usual, given the huge increase in the development, the dense population and the intensive economic use of the coastal zone in modern times. The Resolution also noted that a project for building up a European monitoring and alert system on tsunamis covering the European waters in the Atlantic, Mediterranean and connected seas is under consideration by the European Commission.
- 299 The ICG/NEAMTWS, at its 1st Session (Rome, 21–22 November 2005), defined the scope of work of four inter-sessional working groups on: (i) Hazard Assessment, Risk and Modelling; (ii) Seismic and Geophysical Measurements; (iii) Sea-level Measurements; and (iv) Advisory, Mitigation and Public Awareness. It also defined an initial series of national focal points to receive tsunami warnings. The ICG decided the implementation of trials for key components of the early warning system, with the aim of having an initial operational system in place by December 2007. As milestones for its work, the ICG also decided to formulate a full plan of action by December 2006. A summary of the status of nominations to the network of official focal points for the ICG/NEAMTWS was made available to the Executive Council in the Summary Report of the ICG's 1st Session (ICG/NEAMTWS-I/3).
- 300 The Chairman of the ICG/NEAMTWS also reported on the 2nd Session of the ICG (Nice, 22–24 May 2006). The ICG restated the urgent need to establish a tsunami warning system for the NEAM region and emphasized the necessity of ensuring full and active participation of all the Member States of the NEAM region, and of the concerned organizations, in the establishment of this tsunami warning system, urging Members States to provide continuous support to the activities of the inter-sessional Working Groups and to the Secretariat for coordinating the process.
- 301 The ICG nominated or confirmed the Chairpersons and co-Chairpersons of the four Working Groups and, through Recommendation ICG/NEAMTWS-II.1, adopted the terms of reference for each Working Group, as well as recommendations for the Plan of Action based on their deliberations. The ICG also proposed three functional levels of the architecture of the tsunami warning system, taking into account the experience of the PTWS. These recommendations will form the basis for the formulation of a complete Plan of Action for the ICG/NEAMTWS that will be presented at its 3rd Session, to be held in Bonn, Germany, in early February 2007.
- *302* Several Member States expressed their appreciation of the work of the ICG/NEAMTWS.
- 303 The United States of America encouraged the NEAMTWS to work through existing programmes and activities, including the ICSU World Data Centre, regional GOOS and GLOSS, and leverage practices in place at ITIC and PTWC. The USA also encouraged collaboration with

other regions, such as the Caribbean and Pacific, on non-seismic sources, interconnected seas, and small-island issues.

- 304 Tunisia noted that, until now, the number of Member States that have identified tsunami focal points is still very low and informed the Executive Council that Tunisia will communicate the name of its focal point soon.
- 305 Canada informed the Executive Council that a prototype for a Canadian TWS has been developed with the cooperation of the USA (NOAA) and tested. Canada also noted that storm surges need to be considered in the context of TWSs with a multi-hazard approach. Canada emphasized the need to ensure that the activities of the ICGs concerning the Atlantic Ocean be adequately integrated.
- *306* Germany confirmed its offer to host the 3rd Session of the ICG/NEAMTWS in Bonn in early February 2007.
- 307 France also noted the low number of countries that have nominated national focal points and believed that this is mainly due to organizational problems within the Member States. France observed that a regional early warning and mitigation system should be built on existing structures, in particular seismic networks, such those of the Euro-Mediterranean Seismological Centre. France supported the proposal of Working Group 4 presented at NEAMTWS-II to develop Guidelines on Mainstreaming Awareness and Mitigation of Marine-Related and Other Hazards into Integrated Coastal Area Management.
- 308 The United Kingdom suggested as well that all efforts should be made to build the systems, including those for other ocean-related hazards, making use of existing structures and that, where possible, opportunities for cooperation with existing activities should be considered; for example, the European North West Shelf Operational Oceanographic System, that is generating data which are now available.
- 309 Portugal expressed its appreciation of the work of the ICG during the inter-sessional period. It expressed the intention of Portugal to host the 4th Session of the ICG/NEAMTWS, towards the end of 2007, during the semester of the Portuguese Presidency of the EU. Portugal also supported the recommendation of ICG/NEAMTWS-II on conducting testing and training for the operation of the NEAMTWS.
- 310 Norway expressed its support for, and cooperation in, the ICG/NEAMTWS. It stressed that the efficiency and effectiveness of the regional tsunami warning system will require optimal use of existing networks, such as the European Sea-level Service (ESEAS). It supported a multi-hazard approach to the implementation of the ICG/NEAMTWS and to the cooperation with GEO, and called on the IOC Tsunami Unit to coordinate the work of the different ICGs concerned.
- 311 Greece recalled that it is the country of the European Union with the highest seismic activity and is fully involved in tsunami-related activities, including the organization of the 22nd International Tsunami Symposium. The development of the tsunami early warning and mitigation system will depend on the availability of data and advances in numerical modelling. Cooperation between the ICG and IODE will also be needed, to avoid duplication of effort.
- *312* The Representatives of UNEP and the Mediterranean Action Plan expressed their willingness and readiness to cooperate closely with the ICG/NEAMTWS.

- 313 The Executive Council called on the Member States to commit themselves to the establishment of an intergovernmental ocean-related natural-hazards warning system in Europe, building on existing operational oceanographic infrastructures.
- 314 The Executive Council called on the ICG/NEAMTWS to ensure that its plans take into account the relevant national and international initiatives in the region, and to strengthen its work on other ocean hazards, such as storm surges and harmful algal blooms. It also requested the ICG to establish appropriate linkages with IODE and other IOC activities, and to coordinate its plans with those of the other regions and with activities in the framework of GEO.

4.7.3 Follow-up to the First Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for Tsunami and other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (ICG/CARIBE-EWS)

- 315 The Vice-Chairman of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS, Dr Gustavo Malavé, introduced this item. By Resolution XXIII-13, the Assembly decided: (i) to establish an Intergovernmental Coordination Group for Tsunami and Other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (ICG/CARIBE-EWS); (ii) that the IOC shall provide the Secretariat of the ICG (ICG/CARIBE-EWS); and (iii) to support through its ITIC the development of communications and capacity-building activities to assist communities to be resilient in the region.
- 316 Dr Malavé described the four Working Groups that were established at the 1st Session of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS (Bridgetown, Barbados, 10–12 January 2006), namely: 1 – Tsunami and Coastal Inundation Hazard Risk Assessment and Research; 2 – Monitoring and Detection Systems, Warning Guidance; 3 – Warning, Dissemination and Communication; and 4 – Preparedness, Readiness and Resilience.
- 317 Following a decision adopted at the 1st Session of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS and based on the recommendations of the four Working Groups, the ICG Vice-Chairpersons and some of the Working Group Vice-Chairpersons met during SC-IOCARIBE-IX (Cartagena de Indias, Colombia, 19–22 April 2006) and produced a 22-item Action Plan for the establishment of the Tsunami and Other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (six action items were added to the original recommendations). SC-IOCARIBE-IX recommended the approval of the Action Plan annexed to its Summary Report (IOC/SC-IOCARIBE-IX/3, Annex V), which was introduced under item 4.5.2 of the present session of the Executive Council.
- 318 The Vice-Chairman of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS highlighted two recommendations contained in the Action Plan: to call for designating National Focal Points to serve as the point of contact not only for the receipt of and response to warnings, but also for the implementation of recommended actions at the national level; and to carry out national assessments of capabilities, readiness, education and resilience, in order for the ICG to have a clear picture of the needs of the Member States and of the region as a whole.
- 319 At the invitation of Venezuela, the 2nd Session of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS will take place in Venezuela in the second or third week of January 2007.
- 320 The United States of America congratulated the ICG/CARIBE-EWS for adopting the multi-hazard approach and encouraged efforts to build resilient communities and partnerships among small island nations. The USA expressed its availability to provide interim regional warning information through the PTWC and ATWC as additional warning and mitigation

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 44

capacities develop in the region. As a point of clarification, the USA informed the Executive Council that it does not intend to make the University of Puerto Rico the exclusive operational centre of the system, as was suggested in the report from the ICG Vice-Chairperson. Instead, it is anticipated that a distributed responsibility will be established, with the USA contributing operational and research systems (including the seismic centre in Puerto Rico) to the future collaborative warning and dissemination system.

- 321 Venezuela congratulated the ICG/CARIBE-EWS and recalled the importance of strong institutions and adequate legal frameworks, regulations and governance for disaster management. Venezuela pointed out the need to include the local communities in the development of the warning network. Venezuela offered training and capacity-building possibilities by Venezuela centres, such as the Instituto Oceanográfico of the Universidad de Oriente in Cumaná and the Caribbean Maritime University.
- 322 Colombia underlined its interest in developing and strengthening the warning system nationally, and provided information about new seismographic equipment that will be purchased for enhancing the observing network. Also, Colombia described the drill carried out in December 2005 in Tumaco and the role of this kind of activity in education and public awareness.
- 323 The Dominican Republic reminded the Executive Council of the role of deforestation and its additional impact, especially on the erosion of larger areas by floods.
- 324 The Executive Council expressed its appreciation of the excellent work accomplished by ICG/CARIBE-EWS and thanked Dr Gustavo Malavé for his report. It thanked Venezuela for its offer to host the 2nd Session of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS.
- 325 The Executive Council thanked Barbados for having hosted the 1st Session of the ICG for the Establishment of a Tsunami and Other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean Sea and Adjacent Regions, in Bridgetown, 12–14 January 2006.
- 326 **The Executive Council,** having considered the decisions and recommendations of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS concerning the establishment of a Tsunami and Other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions, **endorsed** the ICG's Action Plan.

4.7.4 Follow-up to the Twentieth and Twenty-First Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the Pacific (ICG/PTWS)

- 327 The Vice-Chairman of the ICG/PTWS, Mr Fred Stephenson, introduced this item. He highlighted the activities of the Member States of the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System in the inter-sessional period, including the outcomes of the Pacific-wide tsunami drill, Exercise Pacific Wave 06, which took place on 16–17 May 2006.
- 328 The 20th Session of the ICG/ITSU (Viña del Mar, Chile, 3–7 October 2005) was the first meeting of Pacific Member States after the Indian Ocean tsunami of 26 December 2004; it therefore provided an opportunity to reflect on the importance of years of commitment to the coordination and the free and open exchange of data to support tsunami warnings, and on how this coordination and experience is providing an example for other regions as they implement regional tsunami warning and mitigation systems. The ICG/ITSU decided to reconvene exceptionally within six months in Melbourne, Australia, before any of the decisions and recommendations of the 20th Session could be brought to the attention of one of the IOC Governing bodies, as required by Rule of Procedure 48.3. Given the urgency and importance of

these recommendations, the Executive Secretary decided to implement them and requested the Executive Council to endorse his decision and consequently approve the recommendations contained in the Summary Report ICG/ITSU-XX/3.

- 329 At its 20th Session, the ICG/ITSU formed five inter-sessional Working Groups whose areas of focus were very similar to those of the Working Groups of other regional tsunami warning systems. The Working Groups met prior to ICG/PTWS-XXI, and requested approval to continue their work through the next inter-sessional period. The ICG instructed the Working Groups to liaise, as appropriate, with analogous Working Groups in other regions. Working Group 2 on Sea-Level Measurements, Data Collection and Exchange met jointly with the ICG/IOTWS Sea-level Working Group, to find synergies in their work and coordinate activities across adjacent ocean basins. The most recent terms of reference for these Working Groups are contained in the Executive Summary for ICG/PTWS-XXI (document ICG/PTWS-XXI/3s).
- 330 The ICG endorsed: continued support for the International Tsunami Information Centre (ITIC); the development of TsunamiTeacher as an important educational initiative intended to improve preparedness by people, groups and governments in at-risk regions, with translations into French and Spanish; and integration of the Historical Tsunami Data Bases presently maintained by the Tsunami Laboratory in Novosibirsk, Russian Federation, and the World Data Centre A (WDC-A) in Boulder, Colorado, USA.
- The ICG decided to conduct a Pacific-wide tsunami warning exercise to test communications at least to the level of the national emergency management, and organized a Task Team, chaired by Australia, to help with preparations. During Exercise Pacific Wave 06, five countries further tested local emergency response plans and carried out community evacuation exercises. An earthquake near Tonga on 5 May 2006 highlighted the communication challenges faced by the Pacific Island States and, in fact, by small-island countries everywhere. Reliable 24/7 communications proved to be a challenge, as was the timely dissemination of messages to local communities. Altogether, 40 IOC Member States participated in one of the tsunami warning and communication exercises. Messages were sent by the PTWC, WC/ATWC and the NWPTAC via the normal operational mediums, and countries were encouraged to make critical and timely decisions and disseminate information and warnings through their standard channels to relevant authorities.
- 332 A preliminary assessment of the exercise indicated strong support for future exercises. Tsunami Warning Focal Points should be regularly reviewed. The need for mechanisms for media involvement was also recognized, since they are a key communicator of information. The ICG/PTWS encouraged the other regional tsunami warning systems to conduct similar tsunami warning and communication exercises, and, in the framework of a Global Ocean-related Hazards and Early Warning and Mitigation System, carry out exercises to test inter-regional communication procedures and formats.
- 333 The ICG expressed its support for the continued efforts of the Working Group on the Central America Pacific Coast Tsunami Warning System, and a new Working Group on Tsunami Warning and Mitigation in the Southwest Pacific Ocean, with Terms of Reference in Recommendations ICG/PTWS-XXI.4 and 5. The South Pacific Applied Geoscience Council (SOPAC) expressed its interest in working closely with this Working Group. The ICG further recognized the need to address tsunami hazards and undertake capacity-building to reduce risks in the South China Sea region. The ICG requested both the PTWC and JMA to provide interim tsunami advisory services for the South China Sea region and develop a communication plan for the South China Sea. The interim service was started in April 2006 and is available to all countries on request.

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 46

- 334 The ICG recommended renaming the International Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific (ICG/ITSU) the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/PTWS) and to revise the Group's Terms of Reference in order to align its name and TORs with the other tsunami warning and mitigation systems established under the auspices of the IOC.
- 335 The ICG/PTWS-XXI decided to establish an inter-sessional Working Group to develop a Medium-term Strategy for the ICG/PTWS, chaired by the Chairperson of ICG/PTWS, to address both inter-regional and global coordination, as well as the concepts of an end-to-end system under the Terms of Reference given in Recommendation ICG/PTWS-XXI.1.
- 336 The ICG/PTWS-XXI also decided to form an inter-sessional Task Team to review proposed PTWC tsunami information bulletin language changes, consider additional changes, and solicit input from all Member States on the potential impact of these changes, in accordance with the US National Weather Service (NWS) standards. This Task Team will also address the need for continued improvement in the timeliness and clarity of messages and other communications, especially recognizing the ready access of the media to tsunami bulletins and the problems caused during the Tonga earthquake and non-destructive tsunamis.
- 337 In 2002 the IOC Executive Council, through Resolution EC-XXXV.1, had previously endorsed a decision of ITSU-XVIII to conduct an independent Programme Review. That has not been done, and, in view of the dramatic changes in tsunami warning and mitigation since December 2004, the ICG requested of the IOC Executive Council that this Programme Review be further postponed until such time as a full review of the IOC tsunami programme can be carried out.
- 338 The Vice-Chairman of the ICG requested the consideration of the Executive Council on: (i) additional extra-budgetary support and/or secondment of individuals to assist with the implementation of ITIC programmes; (ii) the need to encourage voluntary contributions to the IOC Trust Fund earmarked for the PTWS in support of the operational programmes of the ICG/PTWS and the ITIC; (iii) an instruction to the IOC Executive Secretary to streamline and document the procedure for Member States to make contributions to IOC Trust Funds.
- 339 At its 21st Session, the ICG decided to organize its 22nd Session in October 2007 and accepted the offer of Ecuador to host the 22nd Session. The ICG further accepted the offer of Samoa to host the 23rd Session in 2009.
- Australia reported that \$ 20 million is planned to help 12 South Pacific countries over the next two years, which will improve the detection and monitoring of tsunamis in the region, and further reported that its 24/7 warning centre was in interim operation. Several new members to the IOC and ICG/PTWS have been recruited. Australia highlighted the need to develop a strategy for working with the media so that accurate information is conveyed to the public.
- 341 Canada called on the IOC to take account of the significant decrease in the Regular Programme funding for the PTWS over the years. However, Canada indicated that it would again make a contribution to the PTWS, as it did last year.
- 342 Chile called attention to the important concern, for some countries, to take into account both the local and the distant tsunami threat, noting that preparedness and strong stakeholder coordination, with redundancy in communications, and sub-regional cooperation are all essential for an effective course of action to save lives. Chile offered its assistance in sharing its experience and technical assistance with all interested Member States.

- 343 Ecuador welcomed the opportunity to host the ICG/PTWS-XXII in 2007. Noting that 30 January 2006 marked the 100th anniversary of the worst tsunami disaster in the history of Ecuador, it emphasized also the importance of local readiness and the engagement of research institutions and the media in building awareness, since every partner is needed to sustain tsunami mitigation at a high political level.
- 344 The Russian Federation reported on its planned enhancements to its data networks, numerical modelling capabilities, and tsunami warning centres, and stated its strong interest in the development of non-seismic detection of tsunamis under the Group's Medium-term Strategy. It expressed appreciation to Japan for its contributions, and welcomed Member State cooperation and collaboration in its conduct of marine surveys of the sub-region.
- 345 Japan informed Member States that the NWPTAC, an in-kind contribution from Japan to the PTWS, had issued five advisories for the northwest Pacific Ocean, in close cooperation with the USA PTWC, in order to help countries mitigate the impact of tsunamis, and expressed its ability to continue the interim service for the region.
- 346 Peru reported much progress in making available real-time data to its national warning centre and the construction of coastal inundation maps for the development of evacuation plans. Peru stated it would make a voluntary contribution to the IOC Trust Fund for the PTWS and assist in the translation of TsunamiTeacher into Spanish.
- 347 The Republic of Korea reported that, in addition to its seismological enhancements, the National Oceanographic Institute will help to support the USA DART instrument(s) in the northwest Pacific. China noted the positive and important influences in building awareness and avenues for data sharing that resulted from Exercise Pacific Wave 06. It took note of Japan's offer of a long-term commitment of the NWPTAC to the South China Sea, but noted that it should continue on an interim basis until a full discussion could take place at the next ICG/PTWS.
- 348 The United States of America supported the recommendation to establish an ICG for the PTWS, including the role of ITIC as a Programme Office. The USA reaffirmed its commitment to the strengthening of other national systems and information services and its offer to provide technical support for capacity development. The USA encouraged all IOC Member States to leverage the operational experience, interoperability, warning formulation and dissemination standards of PTWS. The USA also invited greater collaboration in sustaining observational networks, including making available ships to assist in the operation and maintenance of the strengthened deep-ocean assessment and reporting (DART II) network.
- 349 Australia, Canada, Chile, China, Colombia, France and Peru expressed their appreciation of the Exercise Pacific Wave 06 and hoped that future exercises would be organized.
- 350 The Chairman thanked the ICG/PTWS for its report on its activities.
- 351 The Executive Council, recognizing the important contributions made in the aftermath of the Indian Ocean tsunami, based on the ICG's 40 years of experience, acceded to the ICG's wish to delay the Programme Review; it also called for further voluntary contributions to the IOC Trust Fund for the PTWS, while thanking Member States who had already pledged assistance during the present Session.

- 352 **The Executive Council decided** to rename the International Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific (ICG/ITSU) the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/PTWS).
- 353 The Executive Council thanked Chile and Australia for having hosted, respectively, the 20th Session of ICG/ITSU and the 21st Session of ICG/PTWS.
- 354 The Executive Council adopted <u>Resolutions EC-XXXIX.8</u> and <u>EC-XXXIX.9</u>.

4.7.5 Follow-up to the Report of the ad hoc Working Group on the Framework for a Global Tsunami and Other Ocean-related Hazards Early Warning System

- 355 The Chairman of the ad hoc Working Group on the Framework for a Global Tsunami and Other Ocean-related Hazards Early Warning System, Dr Francois Gérard (also Chairman of I-GOOS), reported the results of the first meeting of this Working Group, established by the IOC Assembly at its 23rd Session through Resolution XXIII-15. The meeting was attended by 23 IOC Member States, the Chairpersons or Vice-Chairpersons of the ICG/PTWS, ICG/IOTWS, ICG/NEAMTWS, ICG/CARIBE-EWS, JCOMM, IODE, IOC Regional Subsidiary Bodies, as well as WMO, IHO, GEO, SOPAC and ICSU.
- 356 Two background papers were presented at the meeting. The first, on "The Role of the IOC in the Context of an Ocean-related-Hazard Warning and Mitigation System", which explained how a possible interaction between IOC bodies and programmes should be implemented to ensure sustainability of an operational ocean-related multi-hazard system. The second was on "Developing Global Synergies amongst Regional Ocean-related Hazard Warning and Mitigation Systems". It especially emphasized the necessary collaboration and coordination of activities with the governing bodies of other organizations than IOC and the need for 'best practice' implementation. The Chairman of the ad hoc Working Group emphasized the fact that, during the meeting, several cross-cutting issues and, explicitly, the need for harmonization, standardization and "best practice", as well as for outreach, were mentioned.
- 357 The four ICG representatives reported on common issues and problems and identified priorities of common interest.
- 358 Representatives of WMO, GEO, IHO and ICSU referred to the positive synergies to be developed within an integrated marine-related hazard warning system, using existing networks and products.
- 359 The ad-hoc Working Group had concluded that, in view of the complexity of the issues and the necessary consultation with Member States and other organizations, more time was needed for the ad hoc Working Group to fulfil its mandate. The ad hoc Group proposed to concentrate its efforts on the preparation of a framework document for presentation to the IOC Assembly at its 24th Session.
- 360 The Russian Federation recommended preparation of a complete list of coastal-related natural hazards and emphasized the need to cooperate closely with WMO on forecasts on different time-scales.
- 361 The United Kingdom outlined the possibility to take remote sensing and micro-satellites into account and asked the Working Group to consider incorporating these aspects when developing the framework document.

- 362 Italy appreciated the fact that the Chairman of I-GOOS had taken over the responsibility of chairing the ad-hoc Working Group. He stressed the need to harmonize inundation mapping and standardize warning procedures for touristic regions.
- *363* France expressed its concern about the complexity of the system established by IOC and recommended that a synthesis of the work performed by the four ICGs concerned be made by the Executive Secretary for presentation to the Assembly at its 24th Session.
- 364 Nigeria thanked the Chairman for the good summary report on the 1st meeting. He also urged the Working Group to take into account those regions of the globe that are not yet covered by one of the existing ICGs, especially the southwest Atlantic Ocean.
- 365 The Executive Council acknowledged the lack of an ICG for this region and the need to take steps to fill this void.
- 366 China noted the timely creation of the ICG/CARIBE-EWS and the establishment of the global architecture, which expressed the need to coordinate with IOC regional bodies in capacity-building and the development of ocean-hazard-related projects.
- 367 Given the progress that the several regional ICGs had reported during the present session, Australia emphasized the need to urgently prepare the framework document on the global architecture to ensure strong links and harmonization and to make it available for consultation at the forthcoming ICGs' meetings.
- 368 The Executive Council acknowledged the report from the Chairman of the ad hoc Working Group, on the progress in the Group's work and the present status of the framework document.
- 369 **The Executive Council agreed** to extend the mandate of the ad hoc Working Group until the end of the 24th Session of the Assembly, and accepted the Guidelines in Annex V to the present Summary Report.
- 370 The Executive Council accepted the offer from Dr François Gérard to continue in his capacity as Chairman of the ad hoc Working Group.

5. ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT

- 5.1 MAIN LINES OF ACTION FOR THE DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET FOR 2008–2009
- 371 The IOC Vice-Chairman Neville Smith introduced this item. He reported that the Sessional Programme and Budget Committee had held three meetings. The first meeting of the Committee was devoted to the examination of the Report on Budget Execution (2004–2005) and the Budget Outline and Progress Report for 2006 (document IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 2).
- The Committee confirmed that the budget for 2004–2005 has been executed in accordance with the Programme and Budget for 2004–2005.
- 373 The Committee noted that the full support provided by Member States to activities of the Secretariat are not always covered by financial statements; specifically, funds put at the disposal of the Secretariat, but financially managed and audited elsewhere. The Committee agreed that a

mechanism should be developed for explicitly displaying such contributions, for the information of the Member States.

- 374 At its second intra-sessional meeting, the Committee discussed the initial execution of the Programme and Budget 2006–2007 and several aspects of budget presentation.
- 375 The Committee considered several aspects of the debate at the present session of the Executive Council and the Draft Resolutions with implications for the 2006–2007 Budget. This discussion revealed one aspect: the agreed budget and criteria adopted for IOC Resolution XXIII-16 were inconsistent (Ostend Office Staff, MLA 2). The discussion also suggested further clarification was needed of the budgetary measures adopted to meet the commitment to support the WCRP (paragraph 85 of the Summary Report IOC-XXIII/3).
- 376 The Committee noted the several interventions, which pointed to the significant stress being placed on Programmes by the lack of sufficient Regular Budget resources for 2006–2007 budget execution. It noted the comments of the Executive Secretary and several Member States concerning the stresses resulting from instructions from the IOC Assembly at its 23rd Session, specifically in relation to the WCRP, to regional activities and to staff supported from the Regular Budget, which, in the Executive Secretary's view, were unsustainable in their present form.
- 377 The Committee recognized the considerable success in supporting the Programme of the IOC through extra-budgetary contributions, both for specific scientific and technical activities and for capacity-building and regional activities.
- 378 The Committee noted specific requests for additional Regular Budget support from IOCINDIO, IOCARIBE, IOCWIO and WESTPAC. It concluded that the appropriations defined for 2006–2007 by IOC Resolution XXIII-16 should be retained, but suggested that these requests should be conveyed through to the discussion of the 2008–2009 Budget at the 24th Session of the IOC Assembly.
- 379 The Committee noted that, in some instances, it was likely that the critical, minimum level of resources needed for regional activities was not being met and that the sustainability of such activities was now in doubt. It requested the Inter-sessional Working Group for Regional Programmes to develop further advice on this matter.
- 380 The Committee noted the debate on the regular process for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socio-economic aspects (item 4.1.1) and the outline of the budget developed by UNEP and IOC to support this activity. Though UN Resolution A/RES/60/30 specifically requires that the Assessment of Assessments "*be financed through voluntary contributions and other resources available to participating organizations and bodies*", the Committee noted that there were implications for MLA 1 (Ocean Science) and that the Executive Secretary should take these into account.
- 381 The Committee agreed: (i) to adjust the 2006–2007 Budget outline to include the actual cost of the Ostend Office staff in MLA 2 and to spread the consequent adjustments *pro rata* across the whole Programme; and (ii) to clarify the sources of the contribution to the WCRP.
- 382 The Committee's third intra-sessional meeting was devoted to discussion of budget management, initial consideration of the outline for the 2008–2009 Programme and Budget, and to preparing the Draft Resolution on this item.

- 383 As noted in the Budget Outline and Progress Report for 2006, (document IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 2), the budget appropriations to the Main Lines of Action agreed at the 23rd Session of the Assembly (the sub-totals in the Table) are subject to a 13.4% overhead to cover the cost of management and financial services provided by UNESCO, independently of the IOC Secretariat.
- 384 However, since the costs cited for staff do not include this overhead, it appears overall as a reduction in the resources available for programme implementation. The Committee suggested that, in future budget reports to the Executive Council or Assembly, this cost be explicitly captured, for each Main Line of Action.
- 385 Document IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 2 also drew attention to aspects of support for Secretariat activities that are not reported through the UNESCO financial system. The Committee suggested that, in future reports on Budget execution, this fourth type of funding be included for the information of IOC Member States.
- 386 The Committee also considered the issue of actual budget for projects, including real costs to the Secretariat arising from its involvement in extra-budgetary projects and other initiatives. It concluded that the actual costs were not always transparent and that a systematic approach to such budgets was needed. The Committee also noted the need for information on the total value (budget) of IOC projects and initiatives, so as to inform Member States and partners of the size of activities within the scope of IOC.
- 387 The Executive Council instructed the Executive Secretary, with the assistance of the Vice-Chairman responsible for budget matters, to develop advice on these matters in the form of a framework and set of guidelines and principles. The framework should include: (i) the scope of the initiative (the nature of the investment); (ii) field(s) of activity relative to the MLAs of IOC and their sub-objectives; (iii) the roles, functions and responsibilities of participants, including the IOC Secretariat; and (iv) budget details a profile of the resources.
- 388 The Committee suggested that the Executive Secretary should take account of the budget advice provided by the Executive Council and report to the IOC Assembly, at its 24th Session, on the adjustments to and execution of the 2006–2007 Budget, in line with these decisions.
- 389 To improve the IOC's internal planning and to address more efficiently the staffing problem, the Committee considered it appropriate that the Executive Council instruct the IOC Executive Secretary to report to the IOC Assembly, at its 24th Session, on the deployment of staff resources to meet effectively and efficiently the IOC's objectives for the present biennium and in the next Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013, including the request to reinforce the Capacity-Building Section.
- 390 In the short ensuing discussion, South Africa and Nigeria expressed their concern about what they see as a lack of alignment of the IOC programmes with those of UNESCO in terms of the priority given to the African continent. Although the Draft Medium-term Strategy contains an explicit reference to the Johannesburg Plan of Action and the Millennium Goals, it should also include a concrete strategy for Africa.

391 **The Executive Council adopted** <u>Resolution EC-XXXIX.10</u>.

5.2 DATES AND PLACES FOR THE FORTIETH AND FORTY-FIRST SESSIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

- 392 Vice-Chairman IOC, Neville Smith, introduced this item. Taking into account the recommendations of the Assembly on this matter and bearing in mind that the Executive Council, at its 40th Session, will act as the Steering Committee for the 24th Session of the Assembly in 2007, the Executive Council will meet for half a day on the day (Monday 18 June 2007) preceding the opening of the 24th Session of the Assembly (19–28 June 2007).
- 393 The Executive Council decided to hold its 41st Session from Tuesday 24 June to Tuesday 1 July 2008, for a total of six working days, leaving the final decision of shortening it by one day to the IOC Officers and the Executive Secretary, taking into account the Agenda for the 41st Session of the Executive Council.
- 394 The Executive Council stressed the importance of making the documentation available sufficiently in advance of the session to reflect positively on the efficiency of the session and its schedule of work. In particular, it stressed the necessity of having the Action Paper available in all working languages six weeks in advance of the session.

5.3 RECRUITMENT PROCESS OF THE IOC EXECUTIVE SECRETARY

- 395 The Chairman introduced this item. He informed Member States that, given the fact that the statutory retirement age of Dr Patricio Bernal will arrive in the second half of 2007, the intended purpose of this agenda item was to clarify the procedure for consultation with the Director-General on the appointment of a new Executive Secretary of the Commission, at the level of Assistant Director-General. However, recently, the Director-General informed the Officers of the Commission of his decision to extend the appointment of the current Executive Secretary beyond the second half of 2007. This implies that the recruitment procedure will most probably not need to be initiated in 2007, thus giving more time to the Executive Council to clarify the procedure.
- The Chairman then referred to Document IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 5, which is an updated version of document IOC/EC-XXIX/2 annex 5, which was discussed by the Executive Council at its 29th Session (24 September–4 October 1996). He emphasized that the proposed procedure provides sufficient time for Member States to evaluate candidates before they express their opinion at an in camera session of the Executive Council, as established in the procedure. He also pointed out that the actual procedure used in 1997 allowed Member States to express their order of preference of three candidates (three votes for the first preferred candidate, two votes for the second, and one vote for the third). To reflect this, paragraph 12 of Document IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 5 could be modified.
- 397 The Executive Secretary commented on the specific roles of the Director-General and the IOC Governing Bodies in the evaluation of the performance of the Executive Secretaries of the Commission, as clarified by the IOC Assembly at its 23rd Session. He further recalled that the consultation on the recruitment of the IOC Executive Secretary, Assistant Director-General for IOC, is a unique feature of the IOC, departing slightly from the normal UNESCO standard recruitment procedure, insofar as the elected officers of IOC assume the responsibility of the Selection Panel in the standard procedure, designating the short list of best candidates.
- 398 Mr Geoff Holland (Canada), former Chairman of the Commission (June 1995–July 1999), suggested that special attention should be paid to the format of applications, with a standardized document that will simplify Member States' evaluation of candidates. Portugal and

Germany agreed that Member States should express their order of preference when selecting their three candidates.

399 **The Executive Council decided** that the procedure used in 1997 for the consultation with the Director-General on the appointment of the next Executive Secretary of IOC would be followed, but that the details would be finally decided at its 40th Session in June 2007.

6. OPEN MEETING WITH UNESCO DIRECTOR-GENERAL

- 400 The Chairman invited the Director-General of UNESCO, Mr Koichiro Matsuura, to address the Executive Council, and reminded Member States that the intervention of the Director-General would be followed by a short session of questions and answers with Member States of the Commission.
- 401 The Director-General expressed his pleasure at being invited to address the IOC Executive Council to share with Member States his views on common areas of concern emerging from programme implementation, the challenges that UNESCO and the UN are facing, and the outlook for the future as UNESCO prepares the Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013. Recalling the catastrophic tsunami of 26 December 2004, he considered that the international community had reacted with a wealth of solidarity, goodwill and material aid, bit it will take many years before the affected countries recover the many livelihoods lost to the tsunami. He recalled that, immediately after the tragedy, IOC started to promote a global strategy to provide the whole world with protection from the tsunami hazard.
- 402 He expressed his satisfaction with the role played by IOC in leading the response to the tsunami tragedy; indeed, the Indian Ocean highlighted the strategic importance of IOC. The skills and competences of UNESCO and its IOC have been fully recognized within the UN system, and beyond. If, before the 2004 tragedy, few knew about UNESCO's strong involvement in ocean sciences and services through IOC, the world was genuinely surprised when they learned that the IOC of UNESCO had established a Tsunami Warning System for the Pacific as early as 1965. UNESCO's work in establishing the IOTWS is now applauded and recognized at all levels, including by the UN Secretary-General.
- 403 While progress made is significant, the Director-General called the attention of Member States to the fact that this successful work is far from being finished. The first national plans that will eventually reinforce this initial system have delivery dates in 2007 and 2008. Furthermore, the new systems need to be tested in real situations. Overall, great capacity-building is needed all across the board. He further emphasized that there are two big challenges facing IOC and its Member States:
 - First, the need to ensure that everything that has been done to date and, more importantly, all that needs to be done from now on, becomes seamlessly part of the internationally coordinated efforts under the governance provided by IOC. The challenge and the effective open and free exchange of data and the full interoperability of the systems is crucial for success.
 - Second, we need to ensure that the investment in detection networks, essential for having the "upstream flow" of data needed to issue an early warning, are accompanied by a parallel long-term investment securing the "downstream flow" of information from the warning centres to populations and communities at risk.

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 page 54

- 404 With respect to the second challenge, the Director-General indicated the need to pay attention to the experience that the humanitarian and disaster communities since the establishment of the UN International Decade for Disaster Reduction after the Kobe earthquake in Japan in 1995. National governments must take responsibility for issuing warnings in their territories and for ensuring the downstream flow of information from the centre to the periphery. National governments are also responsible for putting in place and implementing the necessary awareness and emergency-preparedness plans and for securing their relentless implementation. This requires a high level of political will.
- 405 Turning to programme and budget matters, he recalled that UNESCO's last Programme and Budget has reinforced the work on natural disasters in the Organization, and we should then ensure close coordination between IOC and the natural disaster unit in UNESCO. He commended the Executive Council that, in discussions about the draft IOC Medium-term Strategy 2008–2013, which has an impact on the broader UNESCO process, it considers reshaping part of the programme to build a stronger Natural Hazard Line of Action, with a view to bringing together the tsunami effort with integrated coastal-zone management, the IOC–IHO mapping programme and the development of GOOS. This process could benefit from the integration of IOC's activities with the GEOSS 10-Year Implementation Plan.
- 406 The Director-General reminded the Executive Council that the UNESCO General Conference had instructed him to conduct an Overall Review of Major Programmes II 'Natural Sciences' and III 'Social and Human Sciences'. This work is in progress under the chairmanship of the Deputy Director-General, and he expects that the panel will consider suggestions to integrate IOC into a holistic approach with the rest of UNESCO activities.
- 407 The Director-General expressed his view that, from reading IOC's reports, it is clear that IOC has a significant scope to grow and to consolidate its work. For example, as the tsunami warning system demonstrates, IOC is expanding its operational work. The question that arises then, is whether it is reasonable to expect that the Governing bodies of UNESCO, considering the organization's programme and effectiveness as a whole, will be willing to support the needed growth of IOC, thus curtailing other areas of work in UNESCO? If the general criterion is to maintain a zero nominal growth for the next budget, as several Member States have already suggested, it will be very difficult to have any flexibility at all.
- 408 He concluded that, despite the many difficulties, he looks to the future with optimism. We need to accept the new conditions under which the UN is operating today and make the best use of the opportunities that are offered to us. Judging from its very successful role in providing and leading the UN response to the tsunami, the IOC is well positioned to continue to be an even more powerful Flagship of UNESCO.
- 409 The Director-General told the Executive Council that, since his appointment as ADG/IOC Executive Secretary for IOC, Patricio Bernal has shown his entire commitment to the organization. Bearing in mind the tasks facing the organization and Patricio Bernal's commitment, he has decided to extend his appointment for two years beyond his normal retirement date; that is, a two-year extension as from September 2007.
- 410 The Director-General's full statement is in Annex III-A.
- 411 The Chairman then invited questions from Member States to the Director-General.
- 412 The United States of America requested clarification on the financial and programmatic significance of being designated a "Flagship programme" within UNESCO.

- 413 Belgium asked how come that the IOC, despite the excellent work of the Secretariat, has to cope each biennium with a continuing decrease in the Regular Budget, while the workload increases considerably? Belgium urged the Director-General to consider seriously an adjustment of IOC's Regular Budget and staff allocation so that IOC can fulfil in a more proper manner UNESCO's commitments. In a written statement, Belgium added that UNESCO has gained a considerable reputation through IOC's involvement in global science, operational and ocean service programmes, such as the World Climate Research Programme (WCRP), Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) and the International Data and Information Exchange Programme (IODE), as well as through its response to the Indian Ocean tsunami.
- 414 Speaking on behalf of the African Member States of IOC, South Africa acknowledged and thanked the Director-General for his commitment to developing countries and African countries in particular. He then reminded the Executive Council that the 33rd General Conference of UNESCO decided that the overriding focus of UNESCO programmes and budget should be on achieving the Millenium Development Goals within UNESCO's fields of activities, in the G77 and with particular attention to Africa, where the least progress has been registered towards achieving the MDGs. South Africa signalled that Africa supports the contribution of IOC to the development of tsunami early warning systems in the Indian Ocean and the Caribbean and would like it also to be extended to Africa as whole. He then pointed out the discrepancy between the African priority of UNESCO and the IOC programmes and Regular Budget allocations, as well as the absence of African experts in major IOC working groups and programmes. South Africa requested that, in the IOC Medium-term Strategy 2008–2013, funding and secretariat support be allocated to the regional Ocean Observing and Forecasting Systems for Africa and for the empowerment of African capacities and full use of existing African expertise, for developing and implementing programmes in Africa. He then recalled Decision 02240 of the 30th General Conference of UNESCO on the geographical or gender balance in the staff composition of IOC, which is still awaiting implementation. South Africa called for the use of African expertise in African programmes and for mobilizing internal resources with regional institutions and foundations within Africa.
- The United Kingdom thanked the Director-General for his presentation and commented on the reform of the UN and of UNESCO. The United Kingdom recalled that there are many meetings within UNESCO that the Director-General could attend where requests for extra resources are often being made. In this sense, the Overall Review of the science sectors provides a significant opportunity that will confirm what the top priorities are and will try to avoid duplication. It will also give recognition to the significant work undertaken by UNESCO and its various bodies. It will also obtain the recognition of the Executive Board. The United Kingdom thought it was unclear how the inputs from the IOC Executive Council would be fed into the work of the Overall Review Committee and sought guidance from the Director-General as to how this could be done in order for the IOC's deliberations and decisions to have an impact on the content of the new UNESCO Medium-term Strategy.
- 416 China commended the Director-General for his personal commitment and support to the work of IOC. In accomplishing its mandate IOC enjoys a well-established reputation for its unique and leading role in dealing with ocean science, service and capacity-building within the UN system. The role of IOC in developing regional and global tsunami warning and mitigation systems enhanced such recognition. However, China noted with concern that IOC is now facing severe budget restrictions in spite of its dramatically increasing responsibilities, which lead to the decreased visibility of IOC, as well as UNESCO, at regional and global levels. China strongly urges UNESCO to give full consideration to the possibility of increasing Regular Budget and the staff allocation of IOC in the preparation of the next 34 C/5 and 35 C/5 documents. China also

expressed its wish that this exchange of view with the Director-General could become routine at each IOC Assembly or Executive Council.

- 417 Italy commended the Director-General for his commitment and support to IOC and thanked him for his presentation. Italy shares the concerns raised by Belgium and China on the reduction in the budget of IOC. Italy highlighted the fact that, while national commitment is important it cannot replace the responsibility of intergovernmental organizations. UNESCO must provide a clear political message taking account of the strategic importance of IOC not only with respect to tsunamis but also to ocean observing systems.
- 418 Chile added its thanks to Director-General for his presentation and asked for a clear definition of priorities in UNESCO with respect to the work of IOC. From the perspective of Chile, the activities of IOC have a relevant socio-economic impact that should be acknowledged by UNESCO and encouraged by an appropriate Regular Budget allocation and not only depend on additional extra-budgetary support.
- 419 The Chairman then invited the Director-General to address the questions raised by Member States in their interventions.
- 420 The Director-General, in his response to the intervention of the United Kingdom, recalled that, at the UN level, there is a High-Level Panel on System-Wide Coherence, created to address the current fragmentation of the UN's operational activities in development, humanitarian assistance and the environment. The Panel's final report is expected in August or September of 2006. While this is an ongoing process, it is clear that its outcomes would help to streamline the discussion on UNESCO's future, including the 34 C/4 and C/5 processes. The Overall Review of the Natural and Social Sciences Programmes should also provide a more clear indication, this time from UNESCO's Member States, on how to proceed. Up to now, only one principal priority is assigned by each sector within UNESCO, with Water and Ecosystems defined as the priority for Natural Sciences. Certainly there are other priorities, with natural disasters being one of them, but the main focus is already established. With regard to IOC, the Director-General looks forward to receiving clear indications from its Member States on the internal priorities and waiting for the outcome of the Overall Review. The discussion within IOC should then provide inputs to the Overall Review on the internal priorities of IOC.
- 421 Referring to Programme and Budget matters, the Director-General indicated that the policy of a zero-real-growth budget implied a net reduction in the UNESCO budget and had consequences that included reduction in the staff allocation. While he would like to avoid further reductions, UNESCO is making every effort to streamline processes and reduce costs, for example on production of documentation and translation, with the support and comprehension of Member States. He stated that, even with these restrictions, he was able to add an additional post to the IOC staff allocation in the 33 C/5, for the biennium 2006–2007. In addition, new posts with extra-budgetary funds have been created in IOC, in particular for the IOC tsunami unit.
- 422 With respect to the flagship status, the Director-General indicated that this reflects that the programme attracts visibility. In this particular case, it indicates that IOC is indeed a very important activity, but it does not imply an automatic increase in budget or staff allocations. He pointed out that he receives requests for budget increases from Member States in sectoral meetings for specific programmes, but when it comes to the Executive Board, he faces the decision of not giving more, but on the contrary to reduce. This is a big dilemma the Director-General is always confronted with.

- Responding to the intervention of South Africa, he confirmed his commitment to the 423 regions and in particular to Africa, which is a priority in UNESCO, and especially on education. The Director-General recalled that, in the context of the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System, UNESCO and its IOC are already covering East African countries, while North African countries are part of the North Atlantic and Mediterranean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System. As far as he has been informed, there is not an urgent need to establish a tsunami warning system in West Africa, because this is a low-level risk region for tsunamis. With respect to the gender and geographical balance within the Secretariat, he said that he was very proud to say that UNESCO has more than 160 nationalities working in the Secretariat within the total of 900 professional staff subject to geographical balance, with an equitable distribution for genders; however, it is not reasonable to expect that such balances would be reflected equally at each sector or division level. With respect to IOC, as well as to other specific programmes or sectors, it is not easy for him to achieve geographic balance in each programme, and, in programme sectors, the first criterion of selection is professional competence, though with due attention to geographical distribution.
- 424 The Chairman thanked the Director-General, on behalf of Member States, for accepting the invitation of the Executive Council. He further confirmed that the current state of knowledge about the risk of tsunamis in West Africa indicates that this is a low-risk region, while there are other hazards that may deserve IOC's attention.

7. ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS AND SUMMARY REPORT

- 425 The Chairman of the Technical Review Committee for Draft Resolutions, Mr Geoff Holland, presented his report to the Executive Council; it is in Annex VI.
- 426 The Executive Council took note of the Committee's recommendations to improve the preparation and processing of Draft Resolutions and thanked the Committee's Chairman for his hard work in this respect.
- 427 **The Executive Council adopted** the Summary Report and the Resolutions of its 39th Session.

8. CLOSURE

428 The Chairman closed the 39th Session of the Executive Council at 05.34 p.m. on Wednesday 28 June 2006.

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Annex I

ANNEX I

AGENDA

1 . OPENING

2. ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION

- 2.1 ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA
- 2.2 DESIGNATION OF THE RAPPORTEUR
- 2.3 ESTABLISHMENT OF INTRASESSIONAL COMMITTEES
- 2.4 INTRODUCTION OF TIMETABLE AND DOCUMENTATION
- 2.5 ROGER REVELLE MEMORIAL LECTURE

3. DEVELOPMENTS SINCE THE 23rd SESSION OF THE IOC ASSEMBLY

- 3.1 REPORT BY THE IOC CHAIRMAN ON THE STATE OF THE COMMISSION [Rule of Procedure No. 21.2c]
- 3.2 REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE SECRETARY ON PROGRAMME AND BUDGET IMPLEMENTATION [Rule of Procedure No 49.1]

4. PROGRAMME MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS BY THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

- 4.1 GENERAL POLICY ISSUES
 - 4.1.1 Regular Process for Global Reporting and Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment, including Socio-Economic Aspects [Rule of Procedure No. 21.2c]
 - 4.1.2 IOC Draft Medium-term Strategy (2008–2013) [Inst. XXIII Item 3.1. para. 28]
 - 4.1.3 IOC Participation in the International Polar Year 2007–2008 and in the International Year of Planet Earth 2007-2009
 [Dec. XXIII Item 3.2. para. 35; Inst. EC-XXXVII Item 4.1.7 para. 99]
 - 4.1.4 Secretariat Report on the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS) Implementation [Rule of Procedure No. 21.2c]

4.2 OCEAN SCIENCES

- 4.2.1 Cooperation between the Census of Marine Life and IOC Main Lines of Action [Res. IOC XXIII-3; Rule of Procedure No. 21.2a]
- 4.2.2 Report of the Advisory Group for the Ocean Sciences [Rule of Procedure No. 21.2c]

4.2.3 Member State Interaction with the WMO–ICSU–IOC World Climate Research Programme (WCRP) [Rule of Procedure No.21.2c]

4.3 OCEAN OBSERVATIONS AND SERVICES

- 4.3.1 Follow-up to the Second Session of the WMO-IOC Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]
- 4.3.2 Secretariat Report on Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) Programme Implementation [Rule of Procedure No. 21.2c]
- 4.3.3 Progress with the Development of an IOC Strategic Plan for Oceanographic Data and Information Management [Res. EC-XXXV.2, Doc. XXIII Item 4.3.1 paras. 118-119]

4.4 CAPACITY-BUILDING, TEMA AND PUBLIC AWARENESS

4.4.1 Executive Secretary Report on Implementation of the IOC Capacity-Building Strategy [Rule of Procedure No. 21.2c]

4.5 REGIONAL ACTIVITIES

- 4.5.1 Follow-up to the Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean (IOCINDIO) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]
- 4.5.2 Follow-up to the Ninth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]
- 4.5.3 Follow-up to the Sixth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (IOCWIO) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]
- 4.5.4 Follow-up to the Report of the Inter-sessionnal Working Group on Regional Programmes [Res. XXIII-6; Rule of Procedure 21.2a]

4.6 UNITED NATIONS CONVENTIONS AND AGREEMENTS

4.6.1 Follow-up to the Sixth Session of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE-LOS VI) [Res. XXIII-8; Rule of Procedure No. 21.2a]

4.7 TSUNAMI ACTIVITIES

 4.7.1 Follow-up to the First and Second Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/IOTWS) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]

- 4.7.2 Follow-up to the First and Second Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]
- 4.7.3 Follow-up to the First Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for Tsunami and other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (ICG/CARIBE-EWS) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]
- 4.7.4 Follow-up to the Twentieth and Twenty-First Sessions of the IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the Pacific (ICG/PTWS) [Rule of Procedure No. 48.3]
- 4.7.5 Follow-up to the Report of the ad hoc Working Group on the Framework for a Global Tsunami and Other Ocean-related Hazards Early Warning System [Res. XXIII-15; Rule of Procedure No. 21.2a]

5. ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT

- 5.1 MAIN LINES OF ACTION FOR THE DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET FOR 2008–2009 [Res. XXIII-16; Rule of Procedure No. 21.2a]
- 5.2 DATES AND PLACES FOR THE FORTIETH AND FORTY-FIRST SESSIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL [Rules No. 4 and 19.2]
- 5.3 RECRUITMENT PROCESS OF THE IOC EXECUTIVE SECRETARY [Statutes of the Commission, Article 8]

6. OPEN MEETING WITH UNESCO DIRECTOR-GENERAL

7. ADOPTION OF RESOLUTIONS AND SUMMARY REPORT

8. CLOSURE

ANNEX II

ADOPTED RESOLUTIONS

N°:	Agenda Item	Title	Page
1	4.1.2	IOC Draft Medium-term Strategy (2008–2013)	2
2	4.3.1	Second Session of the Joint WMO-IOC Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM-II)	4
3	4.4.1	The Role of UNESCO/IOC Chairs in capacity-building initiatives	5
4	4.5.1	Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean (IOCINDIO)	6
5	4.5.2	Ninth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE)	7
6	4.5.3	Sixth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (IOCWIO-VI)	8
7	4.6.1	Sixth Meeting of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE-LOS VI)	10
8	4.7.4	Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System	11
9	4.7.4	Follow-up to the 20 th and 21 st Sessions of the IOC Coordination Group for Pacific Tsunami	14
10	5.1	Main Lines of Action for the Draft Programme and Budget for 2008–2009	15

Resolution EC-XXXIX.1

IOC DRAFT MEDIUM-TERM STRATEGY (2008–2013)

The IOC Executive Council,

Noting the need to contribute to the Medium-term Strategy of UNESCO for 2008–2013 (34 C/4),

Recalling IOC Resolution XXIII-16 and the work of the inter-sessional Working Group on the IOC Medium-term Strategy (2008–2013),

Agrees on the text annexed to this resolution as the basis for the development of the IOC Medium-term Strategy (2008–2013);

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to use the annexed text in the contribution from the IOC to the UNESCO Medium-term Strategy document;

Also instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to transmit the annexed text to the IOC Member States for their information and comments;

Invites Member States to promote the high-level objectives of the annexed text:

- (i) in their response to the UNESCO Questionnaire on the Draft Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013 (34 C/4) and Draft Programme and Budget for 2008–2009 (34 C/5);
- (ii) in the Executive Board of UNESCO at its 175th and 176th sessions and in the General Conference of UNESCO at its 34th session.

Annex to Resolution EC-XXXIX.1

Preamble

The world community faces growing challenges arising from climate variability and change, marine environmental degradation and pollution, biodiversity losses, and natural hazards. How we respond to these global issues, while facing the increasingly complex challenges of sustainable development and ecosystems-based management will dominate the work of the IOC.

While the future state of the oceans remains uncertain, we need to ensure that society and policymakers are better informed of the impact of oceans on humankind and vice versa. The IOC programmes provide the necessary data, information and knowledge to contribute to services needed to effectively address ocean issues. For example, there is an increasing demand for improving climate and hazard forecasts at the local level; to do so, requires data from larger scales, and IOC's network of ocean observations is fundamental to this effort.

IOC outreach and public awareness activities will be underscored by the IOC 50th Anniversary in 2010.

In accordance with the mission of IOC, as established in the IOC Statutes, noting the role of IOC as the competent body and focal point for ocean matters in the UN system, responding concretely in our mandated areas of activity to the Johannesburg Plan of Action, the UN Millennium Development Goals, and acting in conformity with international law, including relevant UN

Conventions, IOC identifies the following objectives and associated activities for the 2008–2013 Medium-term Strategy of UNESCO (34 C/4):

High-Level Objectives and Associated Activities:

Through the promotion and intergovernmental coordination of ocean sciences, services, observations, data management and related activities, including transfer of technology and capacity-building, at regional and global levels, and with due consideration to integrated ocean and coastal zone management, in line with UNESCO's priority for Africa, IOC will address:

1. Prevention and reduction of the impacts of natural hazards

- a. Promote integrated and sustained monitoring and warning systems for coastal and oceanic natural hazards (for example hurricane, tsunami, storm surge), in close coordination with other relevant intergovernmental organizations, where appropriate, using enhanced coastal and ocean networks, including education and training activities.
- b. Educate communities at risk with respect to natural-hazard impact prevention, preparedness and mitigation measures.

2. Mitigation of the impacts and adaptation to climate change and variability

- a. Increase the understanding of the ocean's role in climate variability and climate change.
- b. Contribute to the better prediction of climate through ocean observation and process studies, at regional and global scales.
- c. Increase the understanding of the impacts of climate change and variability on marine ecosystems and their living resources.

3. Safeguarding the health of ocean ecosystems

- a. Actively contribute to the Regular Process for Global Reporting and Assessment of the State of the Marine Environment, including Socioeconomic Aspects.
- b. Further develop the research and monitoring required for the prevention of marine environment degradation, and the maintenance of biodiversity and the sustainable use of marine habitats.
- c. Identify and develop the capacity-building necessary for maintenance of healthy ocean ecosystems focusing on the regional needs.

4. Management procedures and policies leading to the sustainability of coastal and ocean environment and resources

- a. Enhance regional cooperation and involvement of the Member States through capacitybuilding and transfer of technology.
- b. Facilitate science related to ocean and coastal resource management.
- c. Enhance development and implementation of decision-support tools that improve integrated ocean and coastal management.

Required funding (2006–2007): not applicable

Resolution EC-XXXIX.2

SECOND SESSION OF THE JOINT WMO–IOC TECHNICAL COMMISSION FOR OCEANOGRAPHY AND MARINE METEOROLOGY (JCOMM-II)

The Executive Council,

Having considered the Abridged Final Report (WMO-MO-995, 2006), with Resolutions and Recommendations, of the Second Session of the Joint WMO–IOC Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM-II),

Endorses the Abridged Final Report and the resolutions therein;

Decides to take action on the following recommendations:

Recommendation 1 (JCOMM-II) – Guide to storm-surge forecasting

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary, in coordination with the Secretary-General of WMO, to arrange for the preparation of the Guide, and for its publication in printed and electronic form in the WMO Manuals and Guides series;

<u>Recommendation 2 (JCOMM-II) – The development of operational oceanographic products and</u> services under JCOMM

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary, in coordination with the Secretary-General of WMO, to provide support, if necessary, for the implementation of the Recommendation, within available resources;

Recommendation 3 (JCOMM-II) - Consumables for ship-based observations

- (i) **Urges** Member States to take the actions detailed in the Recommendation in support of the full implementation and maintenance of the ocean observing system;
- (ii) **Instructs** the IOC Executive Secretary, in coordination with the Secretary-General of WMO, to support the implementation of the agreed plan for the bulk purchase and supply of consumables for ship-based observations, through the establishment of a special trust fund for this purpose;

Recommendation 4 (JCOMM-II) – New terms of reference for JCOMMOPS

Urges Member States to commit through the sponsoring organizations (IOC, WMO) the resources required to support JCOMMOPS;

Recommendation 5 (JCOMM-II) – IOC Project Office for IODE

Urges Member States to support the Project Office and to second suitably qualified experts on a short- or long-term basis to facilitate its activities;

Recommendation 6 (JCOMM-II) – JCOMM data management strategy

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary, in coordination with the Secretary-General of WMO, to facilitate the preparation of the strategy detailed in the Recommendation;

Recommendation 7 (JCOMM-II) – Complementary guidelines for NAVTEX broadcasts

Urges Member States that have responsibilities for forecast, and warning preparation and broadcast, through the international NAVTEX Service, to take the actions detailed in the Recommendation;

Recommendation 8 (JCOMM-II) – Guidelines for sea-ice charts

Urges Member States that issue and/or relay sea-ice information, to take the actions detailed in the Recommendation;

Recommendation 12 (JCOMM-II) – JCOMM support for marine multi-hazard warning systems, including tsunamis

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary, in coordination with the Secretary-General of WMO, and **urges** Member States, to provide the necessary support to JCOMM to enable the Joint Technical Commission to implement its plan of action for contributing to marine multi-hazard warning systems;

Recommendation 13 (JCOMM-II) – The Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS)

- (i) **Instructs** the IOC Executive Secretary, in coordination with the Secretary-General of WMO and with the assistance of the co-presidents of JCOMM, and the Chair and Vice-Chairs of I-GOOS, to keep GEO fully informed of activities in operational oceanography and marine meteorology, and of JCOMM's capacity to provide effective technical leadership in the coordination of the global ocean observation network;
- (ii) **Invites** GEO to fully utilize the potential contribution of JCOMM, as a Joint Technical Commission of WMO and IOC, in the delivery of the GEOSS 10-year Implementation Plan.

Required funding (2006–2007):

UNESCO Regular Programme Budget available as per IOC Resolution XXIII-	
16 of the 23 rd Session of the Assembly (including overheads)	US\$ 189,831
Extra-budgetary funds (to be raised)	US\$ 160,000

Resolution EC-XXXIX.3

THE ROLE OF UNESCO/IOC CHAIRS IN CAPACITY-BUILDING INITIATIVES

The Executive Council,

Recognizing the considerable advancement in training and sharing of information in various fields of marine science as a result of the support from Member States that has complemented limited IOC resources,

Noting the important role played by the UNESCO/IOC Chairs in this process, including those Chairs created following Resolutions EC-XXXVII.9 and EC-XXXVII.10,

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Annex II - page 6

Noting the positive results achieved in scientific training by the Training-Through-Research Programme (TTR),

Decides to:

- (i) **promote** the establishment of additional Chairs under the UNESCO Chairs Programme, addressing IOC-related activities;
- (ii) **invite** existing and future Chairs to use the UNESCO University Twinning Programme (UNITWIN) to improve cooperation among universities;

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to facilitate communication among Chairs and IOC bodies and programmes.

Required funding:

None from UNESCO Regular Programme Budget

Extra-budgetary funds to be raised from Member States

Resolution EC-XXXIX.4

FOURTH SESSION OF THE IOC REGIONAL COMMITTEE FOR THE CENTRAL INDIAN OCEAN (IOCINDIO)

The Executive Council,

Acknowledging the substantial benefits to Member States from IOC programme and project implementation in the central Indian Ocean region during the inter-sessional period 2000–2005,

Having considered the Executive Summary Report of the Fourth Session of IOCINDIO, including the two recommendations therein, dealing with the national and regional coordination mechanism and its programme of work and budget 2006–2008,

Noting Document IOC-XXIII/2 Annex 5 on 'Enhancing the Effectiveness of Regional Cooperation in Marine Science and Technology and the Role of the IOC Regional Subsidiary Bodies' presented to the Assembly at its 23rd Session,

Expresses its gratitude and appreciation to the Government of Sri Lanka for hosting the 4th Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean, in Colombo, 8-10 December 2005;

Endorses the IOCINDIO-IV Executive Summary Report and its two recommendations;

Recognizes that available funds in the Approved IOC Programme and Budget for 2006–2007 are not sufficient to ensure the proper implementation of the IOCINDIO Regional Work Plan;

Urges Member States and donor agencies to participate actively in, and to provide extrabudgetary funds and other kinds of support for the implementation of the IOCINDIO Regional Work Plan;
Invites other international and regional organizations, programmes and projects to continue and/or to renew their commitments to, and partnerships with, IOCINDIO.

Required funding (2006–2007):

UNESCO Regular Programme Budget as available in MLA 3 (Regional Activities of IOC Resolution XXIII-16)

Extra-budgetary funds to be raised

US\$ 1,430,000

Resolution EC-XXXIX.5

NINTH SESSION OF IOC SUB-COMMISSION FOR THE CARIBBEAN AND ADJACENT REGIONS (IOCARIBE)

The Executive Council,

Acknowledging:

- (i) the successful implementation of the IOC Programmes in the IOCARIBE Region during the IOCARIBE inter-sessional period 2004–2006,
- (ii) the positive development in the implementation of the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem (CLME) Project and the progress of the "Know-Why Network",

Noting with appreciation the collaboration among the Member States, UN Agencies, governmental and non-governmental organizations in the implementation of IOCARIBE activities in the region,

Expresses:

- (i) its gratitude to the Government of Colombia for hosting the Secretariat of the IOCARIBE Sub-Commission and its continuous support for IOCARIBE since the establishment of the Secretariat in Cartagena in 1986;
- (ii) its appreciation to the Government of Colombia for hosting the 9th Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE-IX) in Cartagena, 19–22 April 2006;

Endorses the Executive Summary of IOCARIBE-IX and its Recommendations;

Decides to take the following action:

- endorses the MoU between the Sub-Commission and the Centre for Resource Management and Environmental Studies (CERMES) of the University of the West Indies, Barbados, on the establishment of the Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem (CLME) Project Office at CERMES, in Barbados;
- (ii) **instructs** the IOC Executive Secretary to implement the IOCARIBE-IX Recommendations, including the Sub-Commission's Work Plan for 2006–2008 in the light of the present and future budgetary possibilities of the Commission;

Urges Member States and donor agencies:

- (i) to continue participating actively in the implementation of the IOCARIBE programmes and projects, through provision of extrabudgetary funds and/or expertise;
- (ii) to further develop and strengthen capacity-building initiatives in the region, following the priorities already identified by the Sub-Commission and by the IOC Assembly; and
- (iii) to provide additional resources and technical staff to the IOCARIBE Secretariat in order to strengthen its operations;

Invites other international and regional organizations and programmes to continue their collaboration in the implementation of IOCARIBE programmes and projects.

Required funding (2006–2007, 2008):	
UNESCO Regular Programme Budget (2006–2007) as identified in MLA 3 (Regional Activities of IOC Resolution XXIII-16)	
Extra-budgetary funds committed in 2006–2007	US\$ 3,631,000
Additional Extra-budgetary funds to be raised in 2007 and 2008	US\$ 7,820,000

Resolution EC-XXXIX.6

SIXTH SESSION OF IOC REGIONAL COMMITTEE FOR THE WESTERN INDIAN OCEAN (IOCWIO-VI)

The Executive Council,

Considering the progress in the implementation of the IOCWIO-V programme in the period 2002–2005,

Noting with satisfaction the performance of the IOCWIO Project Office in facilitating and coordinating the implementation of the IOCWIO-V Work Plan, and the collaboration initiated with other organizations and programmes, such as UNEP, NEPAD/COSMAR, WIOMSA and ICPAC,

Noting that experts from the IOC, WMO and ISDR have undertaken national assessment missions in 2005 to Comoros, Kenya, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mozambique, Seychelles, and Tanzania, in order to: inform stakeholders on the requirements for the establishment and operation of a regional tsunami warning and mitigation system; assess available resources; and identify capacity-building needs,

Acknowledging with appreciation the support provided by Member States, donors and other organizations for the implementation of IOCWIO during the inter-sessional period, especially the Government of Flanders, Belgium, for their continued support through the ODINAFRICA project,

Recognizing the need to focus the work of the Regional Committee on the development and strengthening of capacity in the observation and monitoring of the oceans and coastal areas, as well as in the analysis and interpretation of the available data and information, to enable their use in the sustainable management of the marine environment and resources,

Expressing its appreciation to the Government of Mozambique for having hosted the 6th Session of the Regional Committee, in Maputo, 2–4 November 2005,

Endorses the Executive Summary of the 6th Session of the Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean including its four Recommendations, and in particular:

- (i) The establishment of a Regional Group of Experts on Ocean Dynamics and Climate to stimulate oceanographic research through the participation of western Indian Ocean scientists in IOC global programmes;
- (ii) The development of capacity in all appropriate aspects of tsunami warning and mitigation, including modelling and installation of the necessary seismic and oceanographic sensors;
- (iii) The establishment of national structures for detection, warning and preparedness, based on the national assessment reports;
- (iv) The organization of Leadership workshops, and the assessment and development of capacity in the application of modelling, remote sensing, GIS and other appropriate emerging technologies in the management of the coastal environment;

Endorses also the IOCWIO-VI Work Plan;

Instructs the Executive Secretary to explore all possible ways to ensure effective implementation in the light of the present and future budgetary possibilities of the Commission;

Urges Member States and international agencies cooperating with the Commission to participate actively in the implementation of the IOCWIO-VI Work Plan through provision of extrabudgetary funds and/or expertise.

Required funding (2006–2007):

UNESCO Regular Programme Budget (2006–2007) as identified in MLA 3 (Regional Activities of IOC Resolution XXIII-16)

Extra-budgetary funds available

Extra-budgetary funds to be raised

US\$ 643,000 US\$ 1,105,000

Resolution EC-XXXIX.7

SIXTH MEETING OF THE IOC ADVISORY BODY OF EXPERTS ON THE LAW OF THE SEA (IOC/ABE-LOS VI)

The Executive Council,

Expressing its appreciation of the progress made by the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea at its 6th Meeting (Málaga, Spain, 3–7 April 2006),

Bearing in mind the UNGA Resolution A/RES/60/30, paragraphs 14, 87 and 88, in which the United Nations General Assembly acknowledged the work done by the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO through its Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea,

Recalling IOC Resolutions XXIII-8 and XXIII-9, EC-XXXVII.8 and XXII-12, which specified the mandate of IOC/ABE-LOS with respect to its work on:

- (i) the practice of Member States with respect to Parts XIII and XIV of UNCLOS,
- (ii) the dissemination and implementation of the "Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology",
- (iii) the Procedure for the application of Article 247 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea by the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO,
- (iv) the IOC legal framework that is applicable to the collection of oceanographic data within the context of UNCLOS,

Requests the IOC/ABE-LOS to pursue its work on the "IOC legal framework for the collection of oceanographic data within the context of UNCLOS" in close cooperation with I-GOOS and UN/OLA/DOALOS;

Endorses the IOC/ABE-LOS VI Report and Recommendations;

Decides to:

- (i) **Instruct** the IOC Executive Secretary to explore actively the possibility to implement "the Procedure for the application of article 247 of UNCLOS by the IOC" for appropriate scientific programmes and systems that the IOC coordinates or sponsors;
- (ii) Request the sub-group on the IOC legal framework for the collection of oceanographic data within the context of UNCLOS to continue its work, and encourage it to come up with consensual text as soon as practicable, on the basis of comments and observations made when discussing the matter at IOC/ABE-LOS V and VI; such work is to be carried out in close cooperation with UN/OLA/DOALOS and in consultation with I-GOOS;
- (iii) **Urge** increased participation of the members of IOC/ABE-LOS in their inter-sessional work;

Urges Member States to increase financial support for the organization of the 7th Meeting of the IOC Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (IOC/ABE-LOS VII), in addition to the regular programme funds already allocated.

UNESCO Regular Programme Budget as available in MLA 3 (Ocean Governance & UNCLOS) of IOC Resolution XXIII-16 for the organization of IOC/ABE-LOS VII Meeting in 2007

US\$ 17,000

Required funding (2006–2007):

Resolution EC-XXXIX.8

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COORDINATION GROUP FOR THE PACIFIC TSUNAMI WARNING AND MITIGATION SYSTEM

The Executive Council,

Noting:

- (i) Resolution XXIII-12, Resolution XXIII-13 and Resolution XXIII-14, establishing, respectively, the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/IOTWS), the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for Tsunami and other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions, and the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connecting Seas;
- (ii) the report of the 20th session of the International Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific (ITSU-XX) Viña del Mar, Chile, October 2005), IOC/ITSU-XX/3;

Recalling that:

- (i) the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific (ITSU) provides a comprehensive tsunami warning and mitigation service which covers the Pacific Ocean and all adjacent seas,
- (ii) the ITSU is a coordinated network of regional, sub-regional and national systems and capacities,
- (iii) the International Tsunami Information Centre (ITIC) was established by the IOC through Resolution IV-6 (1965) and hosted by the United States of America in Honolulu, Hawaii,
- (iv) the North West Pacific Tsunami Advisory Centre (NWPTAC), hosted by Japan in Tokyo, was established in 2005,

Recognizing:

- (i) the long experience of the ITIC as the primary provider of information and expertise for technology transfer, training and capacity-building for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, in conjunction with the IOC Secretariat,
- (ii) the long experience of the Richard H. Hagemeyer Pacific Tsunami Warning Centre (PTWC) in Hawaii as the primary operational centre for the Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System in the Pacific,

Acknowledging with appreciation the continuing strong support of Chile, Japan and the United States of America for the operation of NWPTAC, the PTWC, the West Coast/Alaska Tsunami Warning Centre (ATWC) and ITIC,

Recalling the IOC commitment to an open, free and unrestricted sharing of tsunami-relevant realtime observational data in accordance with the UNESCO/IOC Oceanographic Data Exchange Policy and without prejudice to the sovereignty of Member States,

Stressing that all Member States should make every endeavour to exchange with other Member States:

- (i) seismic, sea-level and other data relevant to tsunamigenic events in or near real time,
- (ii) national assessments and warnings of tsunamigenic events and of tsunamis in a timely manner,

Emphasizing the importance of the role of the communication media in reporting this information responsibly,

Expressing its appreciation to the Secretariat of the UN International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (ISDR) for its guidance and support, and to the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) for contributing its infrastructure and technical support,

Decides:

- (i) to rename ITSU to be the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (PTWS);
- (ii) to establish an Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the PTWS, with terms of reference as given in the Annex to this resolution;
- (iii) that the IOC shall provide the Secretariat of the ICG/PTWS;
- (iv) that ITIC will continue to act as the primary provider of information and expertise for technology transfer, training and capacity-building for the PTWS;

Requests NWPTAC and PTWC to continue to provide interim tsunami advisory information for the South China Sea region, at least until the next meeting of PTWS;

Reaffirms that PTWS should be part of a global network of warning and mitigation systems for tsunami and other ocean-related hazards;

Welcomes and accepts the generous offer of the United States of America to continue to support the ITIC and **instructs** the IOC Executive Secretary to establish ITIC as a programme office of IOC;

Agrees that, to facilitate durability, the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System should continue to utilize or build on, where possible, existing organizations and institutions and complement existing warning frameworks, within a multi-hazard framework where appropriate;

Invites all Member States and other countries, international and regional organizations to provide financial, technical and other kinds of assistance for the PTWS, including voluntary contributions to the IOC Tsunami Trust Fund, in order to assist the Commission in the effective provision of Secretariat services for the ICG/PTWS;

Further invites Member States, including Member States of the PTWS, to encourage countries in the Pacific that are not already participating in the PTWS, to join the IOC and PTWS, and in

doing so, Member States should clarify to them the benefits that accrue from membership of the PTWS, which does not require any set annual financial contribution;

Invites WMO and ISDR to coordinate appropriately with IOC, to ensure that tsunami warning and mitigation activities are mutually consistent.

Required funding (2006–2007):

UNESCO Regular Programme Budget as available within the amount identified in MLA 2 (ITSU) of IOC Resolution XXIII-16

Annex to Resolution EC-XXXIX.8

Terms of Reference of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/PTWS)

The ICG will be established as a subsidiary body of the IOC and will report to, and seek guidance from, the IOC Assembly.

Objectives:

- 1. To identify the needs and coordinate the activities of the PTWS;
- 2. To organize and facilitate as appropriate the exchange of seismic, sea-level and other data in or near real time and information required for the interoperability of the PTWS;
- 3. To support the national tsunami warning and mitigation services;
- 4. To promote the sharing of experience and expertise related to tsunami warning and mitigation for the Pacific Ocean and adjacent seas;
- 5. To promote tsunami research;
- 6. To promote the establishment and further development of national tsunami warning and mitigation capacities in accordance with standard protocols and methods;
- 7. To develop, adopt and monitor implementation of work plans of the PTWS, and to identify required resources;
- 8. To promote implementation of relevant capacity-building, resilience-building and emergency management, including high levels of public awareness;
- 9. To liaise and coordinate with the ICGs for other tsunami warning and mitigation systems and to facilitate best practices;
- 10. To liaise with other relevant organizations, programmes and projects;
- 11. To promote the implementation of the PTWS within a multi-hazard framework;
- 12. To develop and promote best practices in tsunami warning and mitigation;
- 13. To keep under constant scrutiny the status of the system and how it satisfies the needs;

- 14. To arrange for liaison among the various national contact points and tsunami warning centres;
- 15. To maintain a current list of operational focal points and facilities for the PTWS and make it available on request to all Member States;
- 16. To maintain a list of those countries that are members of PTWS and a list of those countries that are not members, and make this available on the IOC PTWS website;
- 17. To initiate and support training activities to enhance and enrich tsunami warning and mitigation in the Pacific Ocean and adjacent seas.

Membership of the ICG/PTWS:

- Member States of the IOC within and bordering the Pacific Ocean and adjacent seas;
- Observers from other IOC Member States.
- Invited observers from other organizations (including NGOs), programmes and projects, in accordance with the IOC rules and procedures.

Officers of the ICG/PTWS

- A Chairperson and two Vice-Chairpersons, who will be elected in accordance with the Statutes and Rules of Procedure of the IOC,
- Past Chairperson,
- Director of the PTWC,
- Director and Associate Director of the ITIC.

Resolution EC-XXXIX.9

FOLLOW-UP TO THE TWENTIETH AND TWENTY-FIRST SESSIONS OF THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL COORDINATION GROUP FOR THE PACIFIC TSUNAMI WARNING AND MITIGATION SYSTEM (ICG/PTWS)

The Executive Council,

Noting the summary report of the International Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific (ITSU-XX) (Viña del Mar, Chile, 3–7 October 2005), and the Executive Summary Report of the Twenty-first Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/PTWS-XXI) (Melbourne, 1–5 May 2006),

Expresses its appreciation to Chile and Australia, respectively, for hosting the meetings;

Endorses the Summary Reports, Resolutions and Recommendations of ITSU-XX and ICG/PTWS-XXI;

Decides to postpone the planned ITSU Programme Review, originally focussed solely on the Pacific, until such time as a full review of the IOC tsunami programme is carried out;

Notes with satisfaction the successful conduct of the Exercise Pacific Wave 06;

Expresses its appreciation to Australia, Japan and the USA for their leadership in the organization and conduct of Exercise Pacific Wave 06.

Required funding (2006–2007)

UNESCO Regular Programme Budget as available within the amount identified in MLA 2 (ITSU) of IOC Resolution XXIII-16

Resolution EC-XXXIX.10

MAIN LINES OF ACTION FOR THE DRAFT PROGRAMME AND BUDGET FOR 2008–2009

The Executive Council,

Noting Articles 1.2, 10.1 and 10.4 of the IOC Statutes,

Recalling:

- (i) the emphasis placed in Resolutions A/RES/56/12 and A/RES/57/141 on Oceans and the Law of the Sea adopted, respectively, by the 56th and the 57th Sessions of the United Nations General Assembly, on the role of the IOC as a focal point for developing appropriate interactions in the field of marine science,
- (ii) the participation of the IOC in the UN/OCHA Flash Appeal: Indian Ocean Earthquake Tsunami 2005,

Stressing the unique role of the IOC as the competent international organization dealing with ocean science, services and capacity-building at global and regional levels, and also acting as the ocean arm of UNESCO,

Noting with appreciation that:

- the IOC has benefited in the past from the allocation by UNESCO of an 'incompressible' budget for its established level of Regular Budget-supported activities and the creation in the 33 C/5 of an additional professional post for the Ocean Observations and Services Section, and
- (ii) the increasing interest in IOC activities and especially its important role in the work related to the establishment of the Tsunami Warning System around the globe, has attracted substantial supplementary support from Member States, notably through contributions to the IOC Special Account,

Reiterating its concern that, as a result of the increasing responsibilities of the IOC in global and regional ocean issues, the resources available to IOC will remain below the level needed to sustain the work of the Commission, notwithstanding the significant extra-budgetary contributions,

Noting the deployment of resources for the period 2004–2005 as detailed in the following table and, in particular the unplanned additional funding to support tsunami-related activities,

		MLA 1	MLA 2	MLA 3	ITSU/TWS	MLA 4	MLA 5	Non- earmarked & interest	Total
A	Regular Budget/ operating	885,000	1,340,000	397,000	98,000	854,000	1,169,900	0	4,743,900
A	Regular Budget/ staff	733,328	1,113,572	518,956	0	918,600	467,545	0	3,752,000
В	Special Account/ operating	854,027	1,119,367	195,447	128,259	346,654	450,287	309,714	3,403,755
В	Special Account/ staff	370,660	433,821	0	0	0	0	0	804,481
С	Specific Projects/ operating & staff	1,928,355	591,675	2,570,909	6,384,775	0	1,184,830	0	12,660,545
	TOTAL	4,771,370	4,598,435	3,682,312	6,611,034	2,119,254	3,272,562	309,714	25,364,681

Summary of IOC Income in 2004–2005 (in US\$)

PART A

Recalling IOC Resolution XXIII-16 'IOC Programme and Budget for 2006–2007' and the budget allocation table contained therein,

Noting:

- the shortfall in funding for the post in the IOC/IODE office in Ostend \$120,000 identified in IOC Resolution XXIII-16 under MLA 2 (IODE Ostend Office Staff), while \$220,000 is required to cover full cost of the post,
- (ii) the uncertainty about the source of Regular Budget support for WCRP,

Noting that the regular reports on the financial status of the IOC Budget execution do not fully cover the budget available to the Secretariat, in particular finances managed through means other than the UNESCO system, and that the contributions of, and costs to, the Secretariat from various activities are often not revealed in such reports,

Confirms that the budget for 2004–2005 has been executed in accordance with the approved Programme and Budget 2004–2005;

Instructs the IOC Executive Secretary

(i) to fully support the Ostend post from within the Regular Budget funds available to support the Main Lines of Action for 2006–2007, and to source the IOC contribution to the WCRP from the \$50,000 committed under MLA 1 (Oceans and Climate) with the remainder to come from MLA 3;

- (ii) to explore the ways of providing a more complete picture of the manner in which the work of the Commission is supported, including indirect contributions that do not enter the budgetary flow of the IOC, both financial and in-kind;
- (iii) working with the Vice-Chairperson responsible for budget matters, to initiate a study on a more comprehensive and integrated approach to budget and programme matters, including a framework and set of guidelines and principles for collaborative activities; the framework should include definition of (a) the scope of the activities (the nature of the investment), (b) field(s) of activity relative to the MLAs of IOC and their sub-objectives, (c) the roles, functions, and responsibilities of participants, including the IOC Secretariat, and (d) budget details a profile of the resources at global and regional levels;
- (iv) to invite IOC Member States and Major Subsidiary Bodies to suggest mechanisms to make the funding system of the Commission more sustainable;
- (v) taking into account the budget advice provided in this Resolution, to report to the IOC Assembly, at its 24th Session, on the adjustments to and execution of the 2006–2007 Budget in line with such advice;

PART B

Recognizing the value of demonstrating good management practices covering all the activities of the Commission,

Further instructs the IOC Executive Secretary to establish a pilot project for a system of IOC performance metrics to be used regularly for the activities at both global and regional levels, and to report on the outcomes to the Assembly at its 24th Session;

Calls on Member States to provide expert assistance to the Secretariat in order to develop these performance metrics, and **accepts with appreciation** the offer of assistance by the United States of America in this regard;

PART C

Noting the mandate of the ad hoc open-ended working group established by IOC Resolution XXIII-16,

Recommends that the budget for the biennium 2008–2009 be focused on the programme strategic areas defined in Resolution EC-XXXIX.1 'IOC Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013',

- Prevention and reduction of the impacts of natural hazards;
- Mitigation of the impacts of, and adaptation to, climate change and variability;
- Safeguarding the health of oceans ecosystems;
- Management procedures and policies leading to the sustainability of coastal and ocean environment and resources;

and be based upon three main lines of action:

(i) <u>Main Line of Action 1</u>: The science of climate and climate change and of integrated ocean and coastal-zone management, including natural hazards;

- (ii) <u>Main Line of Action 2</u>: The coordination of activities in ocean observations, data management and ocean services;
- (iii) <u>Main Line of Action 3</u>: Capacity-building, transfer of technology and improved ocean governance arrangements, at regional and global levels;

Urges:

- (i) IOC Member States also Member States of UNESCO to actively support the IOC programme and budget proposals when the Draft 34 C/5 is being considered by the UNESCO Executive Board and the General Conference, and in particular to invite the UNESCO Governing Bodies and the Director-General to consider as a high priority the possibilities of further increasing the number of IOC staff;
- (ii) IOC Member States to continue and increase their support to the IOC through direct and in-kind contributions to the 2006–2007 activities and to consider complementary arrangements in accordance with Article 10.4 of the IOC Statutes.

Required funding (2006–2007): not applicable

ANNEX III

STATEMENTS AND ADDRESSES

A. Address by

Mr Koïchiro Matsuura Director-General of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)

28 June 2006

Mr Chairman,

Distinguished Members of the IOC Executive Council,

Ladies and Gentleman,

It gives me great pleasure to meet with you once again during this 39th session of the IOC Executive Council. I am happy to learn that you have had a successful and productive meeting, and look forward to learning of its outcomes in more detail.

In my closing remarks this morning, I wish first of all to draw attention to the success that UNESCO has had, through the IOC, in developing a tsunami early warning system, first in the Pacific Ocean, then more recently in the Indian Ocean, and now globally. I would also like to share with you my views on some of the challenges that UNESCO and the UN are facing in this area, and on the outlook for the future as UNESCO prepares its Medium-term Strategy for 2008–2013.

On 26 December 2004 we were confronted with an unprecedented catastrophe: the most destructive tsunami recorded in history. The international community reacted with an equally unprecedented outpouring of solidarity, goodwill and material aid. The strength of the earthquake that gave rise to this tsunami was also exceptional, the most powerful recorded since 1964. The associated rupture of the earth's crust at the bottom of the sea extended for over 1,200 kilometres. It will be many years before the affected countries recover the hundreds of thousands of livelihoods lost to the disaster.

Well before December 2004, UNESCO had been promoting the need for a global strategy to provide the whole world with protection against tsunamis. In the immediate aftermath of the Indian Ocean tragedy—and in parallel to the suggestions that Dr Pugh, the IOC Chairman, was making to Dr Zakher, the Chair of IOCINDIO—I again drew attention to the urgent need of developing a worldwide early warning system.

On 13 January 2005, just two weeks after the Indian Ocean disaster, I made the following announcement in an address to the Inter-Regional Meeting to Review the Implementation of the Barbados Plan of Action for Small Island Developing States—so called Barbados + 10, held in Port Louis, Mauritius:

"UNESCO has been advocating in favour of an early warning system in the Indian Ocean and other regions of the world, since the risk of tsunamis exists in varying degrees in all oceans and coastal seas. This is why UNESCO is now calling for the establishment of early warning systems not only in the Indian Ocean but also in the Caribbean and the Mediterranean, and for their reinforcement in the South-West Pacific. Indeed, we are actively promoting the setting up of a global early warning system for tsunamis that would provide an integrated international framework for establishing regional systems and responsible national centres and facilities."

And then, signalling the way forward, I announced that:

"We will first convene in early March in Paris a technical meeting of experts from the interested Member States and relevant regional and international organizations in order to harmonize different early warning initiatives for the Indian Ocean and define the scope and characteristics of a global tsunami warning system, and establish a single framework. [...] UNESCO will, in collaboration with ISDR, WMO and other partners, call an Indian Ocean Tsunami Regional Conference at which Member States would hopefully agree on their roles in the regional tsunami warning system."

We can be justly proud of having done all this and much more. The timetable that was established for the implementation of the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (IOTWS) has been met. We had planned to have the system up and running, even if not finalized, by June 2006—and we have. Discussions this week within the IOC Executive Council suggest that we are also fully on track to have the Global Tsunami Warning System operational by June 2007.

The Indian Ocean tsunami highlighted the strategic importance of the IOC, and I am extremely satisfied with the role that the Commission has played in leading the response to the tragedy. This speaks highly of the maturity of the IOC and its clarity of purpose, and also reflects the level of support that governments have given to its programmes.

In this process, the skills and competences of UNESCO and the IOC have been fully recognized within the UN system, and beyond. If, before the tragedy, few knew about UNESCO's strong involvement in ocean sciences and services, the world was genuinely surprised when they learned that the Organization had established a Tsunami Warning System for the Pacific Ocean as early as 1965.

UNESCO's work in establishing tsunami-warning systems is now widely applauded, not least by the Secretary-General of the United Nations, Kofi Annan. Mr Annan has on many occasions publicly congratulated UNESCO on its leadership in developing a global tsunami warning and mitigation system. This work provides visibility not only for UNESCO but for the UN as a whole, and will form an integral component of the UN-led global multi-hazard warning system.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

An interim warning system for the Indian Ocean started to operate on 1 April 2005, with 14 Member States. Today, the system has been extended to cover the entire Indian Ocean region. Relying exclusively on seismic data, there are—as of 1 December 2005—26 (out of a possible 28) national tsunami information centres. These are capable of receiving and distributing tsunami advisories around the clock, from centres in Tokyo (the Japan Meteorological Agency) and Hawaii (the Pacific Tsunami Warning Centre).

In one and a half years, we have been able to establish an initial warning system that incorporates sea-level and deep-sea pressure measurements in the region.

This initial tsunami warning system is now operational, composed of an improved seismographic network (25 new stations being deployed and linked in real time to centres of analysis) and a real-time sea-level network (23 new stations). There are also three Deep-ocean Assessment and Reporting of Tsunamis (DART) sensors—one deployed by Malaysia and two by Germany. To this we should further add the data from seismographic stations contributed by the Commission for the Nuclear-Test Ban Treaty Organization (CTBTO).

By the end of July 2006, this initial system will be capable for the first time in the Indian Ocean of the following functions:

- · improved and faster detection of strong, tsunamigenic earthquakes;
- increased precision in the location of the epi- and hypocentres of earthquakes, enabling the accurate application of tsunami warning protocols;
- confirmation of the presence of a tsunami wave in the ocean after a strong earthquake;
- issuing a "tsunami watch", "regional tsunami watch" or a "global tsunami ocean warning"; and
- calling off "tsunami watches" and "regional tsunami watches".

Our progress, as you may remark, has been significant. However, this successful work is far from being finished. The first national plans, which will eventually reinforce this initial system, have delivery dates of 2007 and 2008. The new systems need to be tested in real situations. During this last year, nature has given us ample opportunities to detect possible weak points. New communication tools—like small messaging services (SMS)—are vulnerable to saturation when they are most needed. New siren systems are heard on one side of a bay but not on the other. New seismographic networks cannot depend exclusively on the automatic determination of epicentres; they need to be overseen in interactive mode. In sum: greater capacity-building is needed across the board.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

I have noted with satisfaction that during 2005 many countries took immediate action to protect their populations from tsunami hazards. Many others started to prepare national plans to improve the protection of coastal regions. In the final analysis, success in implementing an effective end-to-end tsunami warning and mitigation system will always depend on good governance at the country level and on long-term support from national authorities.

The first to act were the affected nations in the Indian Ocean: Indonesia, Thailand, India, Australia, Malaysia, Sri Lanka, Singapore, The Maldives and Mauritius. These countries have all started to build national detection networks and national tsunami centres. In fact, today we have 26 National Information Focal Points in the Indian Ocean.

These initiatives are not restricted to the Indian Ocean, however. The USA and Canada have joined hands to protect not only their Pacific Coasts, but also the Eastern Seaboard of both nations in the North-West Atlantic. For the USA, this effort extends to the Gulf of Mexico, Puerto Rico and the US Virgin Islands. Germany is supporting Indonesia, through a strong bi-

lateral agreement. France is active in the West Indian Ocean, and is leading work in the Mediterranean, together with Italy, Greece, Germany, Morocco, Algeria, Portugal and Spain.

All this is very encouraging. We are, however, still faced with two major challenges.

First, we need to ensure that everything that has been done to date—and, more importantly, all that needs to be done from now on—is seamlessly integrated into the internationally coordinated efforts under the governance provided by the IOC. We cannot afford the risk of having a disparate array of national systems, with little or no coordination. The open and free exchange of data, and the full interoperability of national systems, is absolutely crucial for success.

Second, we need to ensure that the investments in detection networks, essential for having the "upstream flow" of data needed to issue an early warning, are accompanied by a parallel long-term investment securing the "downstream flow" of information, from the warning centres to populations and communities at risk.

Here, we need to pay attention to the experience that the humanitarian and disaster communities have accumulated since the UN established the International Decade for Disaster Reduction in 1989. A timely, 100% accurate and precise warning will not provide any protection if people do not know how to respond to the emergency. Early warning is as much an issue of 'soft' organizational technology, communication and community-based systems, as it is of 'hard' science and technology, numerical modelling and instrumental networks.

In building detection networks, we can rely on international cooperation. In preparing people for emergency situations, and in securing the adoption of all the necessary mitigation measures, we must rely on national governments and national institutions. National governments must take responsibility for issuing warnings in their territories and for ensuring the downstream flow of information from the centre to the periphery. National governments are also responsible for putting in place and implementing the necessary awareness and emergency-preparedness plans and for securing their relentless implementation. This requires a high level of political will.

This is not to say that governments confront these tasks alone. The Indian Ocean situation furnishes many examples of actions taken at the community level, with the support of a wide variety of national and international organizations, many of them NGOs. But we must recognize that building national preparedness is the most difficult part of establishing early warning systems.

The architecture of the international tsunami warning system proposed by the IOC takes fully into account this double function. The system is composed of two different networks: the upstream detection network of instruments, and the downstream network of national tsunami centres, with at least one national centre in each participating nation.

In a minimal configuration, the national tsunami centre must have the operational capability of receiving warnings 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and of disseminating these warnings both to the responsible authorities and to the general public. National tsunami centres must also be capable of defining national preparedness procedures and of putting in place national education and awareness plans.

In our experience, true ownership of such a system is achieved when national centres move away from this minimal configuration, and start to develop their own national detection networks and risk-assessment studies. These developments take time and require sustained efforts at both the national and international levels. The United Nations, through several of its programmes and agencies, is implementing a long-term strategy, namely, the Hyogo Plan of Action. This Plan aims to halve by 2015 the global losses caused by natural disasters, and to make all of the world's hospitals and schools "disaster safe".

UNESCO's last Programme and Budget has reinforced the Organization's work on natural disasters. In our plans for the 34 C/5, as well as for UNESCO's new Medium-term Strategy, we should ensure that the close coordination between IOC and the natural disaster unit in the science sector is further strengthened. I have been informed that when discussing the IOC Medium-term Strategy—which has an impact on broader UNESCO processes—you have given serious consideration to re-shaping much of the programme, with the aim of building a stronger and more integrated Natural Hazard Line of Action. This would serve to link the tsunami effort with integrated coastal management, the IOC/IHO mapping programme and the development of GOOS. Furthermore, if we can engage closely with partners involved in implementing the 10-year plan for GEOSS, there are also opportunities for benefiting from the development of GEO.

In light of this attempt to better integrate our work on natural disasters, I would like to address one of the major challenges—and opportunities—that UNESCO faces in this area: that of exploiting the multisectoral nature of the Organization.

UNESCO's mission is to contribute to peace and security by promoting education, science, cultural exchange, and the open flow of information. Over time, our Organization has developed a complex matrix of disciplines, programmes and structures. Although UNESCO has promoted multidisciplinary work and pioneered horizontal concepts—such as that of sustainable development—for a variety of reasons, UNESCO is yet to realize the potential of its cross-sectoral foundations. UNESCO clearly needs to do more in this direction, and I urge you to consider ways of enhancing our intersectoral work. The best way forward is perhaps to identify a few, carefully selected areas, where we can invest in building effective examples of multi-disciplinary action.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

Major scientific discoveries and achievements have occurred in the last 40 years, changing the way we see our planet. Plate tectonics, so intimately linked to the origins of earthquakes and tsunamis, is just one example of these new discoveries. I would like to ask: How much of this knowledge is available in our schools today? Have we made an effort to capture the imaginations of younger generations, telling in simple but accurate terms, what is perhaps the most fascinating story there is: that of the origin of our planet? How it evolved. How it functions.

In all probability, many of the major policy decisions that future generations will have to face, deal with the preservation of the global environment and, ultimately, with the preservation of the life-support system of the planet. Are we forming citizens equipped with the necessary knowledge to make enlightened decisions in this challenging new context? To do this we would need a major programme in science education—which UNESCO does not yet have.

Here, I offer you just some of the issues that are of concern to UNESCO's Member States, and that have emerged in discussions related to the Organization's new Medium Term Strategy.

As you are aware, at the 33rd Session of UNESCO's General Conference in October 2005, I was asked to conduct an overall review of Major Programmes II (the 'Natural Sciences', including IOC) and III (the 'Social and Human Sciences'). I appointed the IOC's Executive

Secretary as one of the members of the Secretariat of the Review Committee. Fifteen of the 20 members of the Committee are independent science experts, initially nominated by UNESCO's Electoral Groups. The review is progressing under the chairmanship of the Deputy Director-General. I hope that in its discussions, the Committee will take into consideration the need for the IOC to move towards a more holistic approach, and to strengthen its linkages with other sectors in UNESCO.

Here, I would also like to address the funding of the IOC. At present, UNESCO's Regular Budget finances about two-thirds of the IOC's overall budget, half going to programme activities and half to staff costs. The rest of the IOC's budget, approximately a third, is covered by extrabudgetary contributions.

There has been a significant rise in voluntary contributions to the activities of the IOC, for which I am extremely grateful. In fact, these have almost doubled over the years to constitute approximately 50 per cent of the Commissions overall budget—that is, regular and extrabudgetary contributions combined. Given the zero nominal growth imposed on UNESCO over the last few biennia, the trend throughout the Organization has been to rely increasingly on extrabudgetary funding.

We are, as you know, currently engaged in the process of defining the Programme and Budget document for the next C/5—that is, for the 2008–2009 biennium. I sincerely hope that I will be able to convince UNESCO's Member States of the importance of increasing our regular budget, so that we can continue to play our lead role in flagship activities, such as those of the IOC. In the event that I succeed, such a rise will surely be reflected in UNESCO's Regular Budget contributions to the IOC.

I believe nevertheless that the special status of the IOC within UNESCO should bring an enhanced commitment from its Member States. I therefore urge you to consider ways of achieving this. Your generosity with in-kind contributions is unmatched in the Secretariat. I call on you to be equally generous with your monetary support.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

The IOC is indeed one of the most prestigious and visible programmes of UNESCO. Together with the World Heritage Centre, it is one of the two Flagship programmes highlighted in our Medium-term Strategy for 2002–2007—and I sincerely want it to remain this way.

Since I was elected Director-General of UNESCO, I have done all I can to re-invigorate the Organization, seeking to raise its credibility and visibility. However, given the wide range of activities UNESCO undertakes, I quickly reached the conclusion that the Organization needed to establish clear priorities, and to maintain them for a sufficient period of time. Without this focus, UNESCO would fail to make a visible impact in most areas of its work.

It is likewise important for the IOC to establish priorities. Reading your reports, it is clear that the IOC has significant scope to grow and to consolidate its activities. For example, as the tsunami warning system demonstrates, your operational work is expanding. This may well necessitate the transfer of resources from other IOC activities, which at present appear less of a priority for the Commission and its Member States.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

I look forward with optimism to our future work together. Judging from your very successful role in leading the UN response to tsunamis, the IOC is well positioned to become an even more powerful flagship for UNESCO. The IOC is also particularly well placed to benefit from the current UN reform, and the progress being made towards greater system-wide coherence. We must ensure that we make the best use of the new opportunities offered to us. My optimism for the future is further enhanced by the energy and inspiring leadership of the IOC's Executive Secretary, Mr Patricio Bernal. Appointed Secretary in 1998, Mr Bernal has shown untiring commitment to the success of the IOC, and has been instrumental in shaping its strategic programmes. It is with great pleasure, therefore, that I announce the two-year extension of Mr Bernal's mandate beyond September 2007, so that he can continue his excellent work.

Thank you.

B. Statement by Vice-Admiral Conrad C. Lautenbacher, Jr. USN (ret.) Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere

21 June 2006

GEOSS: Serving Society from Multi-Hazard to Tsunami

Thank you Patricio [Bernal, IOC Executive Secretary]. Good afternoon colleagues and friends, and thank you for allowing me to present to you as a Co-chair of the Group on Earth Observations (GEO).

The past year has proven the oceans community has both the ability and the will to play a prominent part in the success of GEOSS, particularly through the IOC's leadership. The IOC is the lead agency on one of the first, and certainly most timely, GEO deliverables —establishing tsunami warning and mitigation systems. I congratulate IOC Executive Secretary Patricio Bernal for his leadership in steering the work of the IOC and implementing the Executive Council Resolutions. The successes over the past year, under the leadership of the IOC, are proof that the objectives of GEOSS are attainable with the leadership and collaboration of the GEO parties.

I would like to start by highlighting a specific milestone: In September, Member States Participating in the Data Buoy Cooperation ceremonially deployed "Global Drifter 1250," marking the first component of the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) to be fully implemented.

I agree wholeheartedly with Patricio's sentiment following that ceremony:

"Finally we must celebrate a fundamental principle. This achievement today is solid proof that international cooperation among nations, institutions, and individuals can deliver significant results for the benefit of humankind." This milestone is important for two reasons. First, it highlights that the oceans are the key to understanding the Earth's many systems. Second, it demonstrates that implementing GEOSS will not be possible without the IOC.

It should go without saying to this audience that the oceans are the key to the success of GEOSS. It is important to reiterate this point because sometimes fundamentals can get lost in the shuffle when we are discussing grand new technologies. To be sure, there is an important role for new technologies, but until we further our understanding of the ocean's role in the planet's systems, the great promise of GEOSS will go unfulfilled. Until we complete the Global Ocean Observing System, our knowledge base will remain limited.

This is a two-way street, however. As important as the oceans are to GEOSS, GEOSS is vital to the future of the oceans. As we move forward, we see important opportunities for GOOS to incorporate biological and chemical measurements, so important for monitoring, measuring and managing the health of the ocean.

The oceans cover two-thirds of the planet and we know they play a substantial role in everything from climate and weather to energy and the life sciences. However, a great deal about the ocean's role is still unknown. We will depend on the oceanographic community around the world to help fill these knowledge gaps in order to make GEOSS the landmark technology we all believe it can be. As such, it will be imperative for the IOC, particularly through its work on GOOS, to take a leading role in implementation.

I expect that you are all familiar with the GEOSS 10-year Implementation Plan and approach we are taking to conduct the work outlined by this Plan on an annual basis. The 2006 Plan identifies 96 specific benefit-driven activities that address such needs as capacity development in small island communities, sustainability of marine ecosystems, durability of disaster-monitoring networks, and establishment of global charters for satellite communication. The IOC is identified as either a lead or contributing organization to 21 of these action items.

One of the most important actions to be addressed by GEO is to facilitate the free and open exchange of data and information. All the technology upgrades in the world are meaningless if we cannot distribute the information to those who can make it valuable. The IOC and the oceans community have considerable prominence and responsibility in helping us to achieve this goal.

There are great opportunities to strengthen regional, real-time observation and communication networks. IOC efforts in hazard modelling and mapping, capacity-building, and the development of interoperability and data standards are a critical means of providing data that supports GEOSS. It is also important not to overlook the existence and the critical role of sub-regional organizations in providing technical assistance in observations, analysis, and communications.

To facilitate communications, we are working on an exciting new tool. GEO-Netcast was developed to disseminate GEOSS products including satellite and *in situ* data, products, and services. In two successful recent demonstrations of GEO-Netcast, information was transmitted to users through a global network of communications satellites, using an access-controlled, broadband capability. Through improved access to information, decision-makers will be better prepared to make effective choices. However, the quality of the GEOSS will depend on the willingness of members and participating organizations to provide free and open exchange of data.

There is perhaps no better example of the importance of establishing these communication links than the response to the devastating tsunami in December of 2004. In the example of developing a tsunami warning system, access to data can literally be a matter of life and death. The IOC, through its Pacific Tsunami Warning Centre and Assembly resolutions, has been at the forefront of international action to address Tsunami events and you deserve our thanks and congratulations.

Efforts are underway to establish durable and interoperable systems for seismic, sea level and deep-ocean monitoring, and to make this information available to decision-makers in a way which empowers them to act effectively. Once completed, we will cast a safety net over the world's oceans helping to ensure that the devastation of 2004 is never repeated.

It is imperative that we continue the momentum forward on tsunami and related coastal hazard issues while they still hold the world's attention. We have the political will to make this happen so let us turn it into political action. GEO was established to help stimulate political action and we are committed to garnering those resources for this effort.

It is also imperative that we not limit ourselves while we have this increase in political will. We must be focused on developing a multi-hazards approach to disasters. In addition to tsunamis, we should have the technology in place to guard against hurricanes, flooding, earthquakes, volcanoes and other natural disasters. Preparation, early detection and rapid dissemination of information will help us reduce the toll of natural disasters.

The beauty of GEOSS is that there will be no need to establish separate systems for each type of extreme event. GEOSS will succeed by building on existing systems and by leveraging the power of observational platforms for multiple uses. We will continue to focus on maintaining and upgrading existing systems such as Argo, GLOSS and others, even while we work to identify and fill gaps in coverage.

As I said earlier, we know gaps exist, particularly in our knowledge of the oceans. Filling those gaps will often require new or improved technologies. As part of our effort to understand more about the oceans, we will collect more observations from sea-level gauges, Deep-Sea Pressure Sensors, seismic stations and other platforms. In the end, this data will not only increase our knowledge of the oceans, but will also allow us to produce more accurate forecasts and issue more effective warnings to coastal communities.

Over time, GEOSS will provide an important scientific basis for sound policy and decision-making in every sector of our society, including energy, public health, agriculture, transportation and numerous other areas that shape the quality of everyday life. The goal of every country participating in GEO is to ensure that this understanding leads to improved operational capabilities that will benefit people throughout the world.

GEO will not fulfil these promises, however, without relying on our international partners. The cooperation and partnership between IOC and WMO through JCOMM is a critical element of making the GEOSS operational. GOOS is one of several critical IOC contributions to the GEOSS, and I encourage IOC members and participants to continue its good work on this programme.

Now that a GEO Secretariat has been established at the WMO in Geneva, I also encourage you all to work closely with them to help shape the future of GEOSS. Annual Work Plans for future years are currently being developed and IOC input on them will be very beneficial.

The GEOSS effort has made significant progress in a short amount of time. That kind of success is not possible without groups like the IOC. For that, I thank you. We can and must continue to build upon these successes by taking concrete actions to improve our observational capacities. I look forward to continuing our partnership in the months and years ahead as we seek to meet these challenges and develop this great gift for all the world's citizens.

C. Statement by Mr Hugo Gorziglia, Director, International Hydrographic Bureau

21 June 2006

Mr President, Distinguished Delegates, Observers, Ladies and Gentlemen,

Once again the International Hydrographic Organization (IHO) thanks the IOC for having invited our Organization to participate in the meeting of this governing body.

The International Hydrographic Organization is pleased to have this opportunity to inform the Executive Council of IOC that the IHO will for the first time, this year and today, 21 June, be celebrating "World Hydrography Day", the date that Organization was established in 1921.

The United Nations General Assembly, on 29 November 2005, under its Agenda item on the Oceans and the Law of the Sea, adopted Resolution A/RES/60/30. This resolution includes the following statement:

"Welcomes the adoption by the International Hydrographic Organization of the 'World Hydrography Day', to be celebrated annually on 21 June, with the aim of giving suitable publicity to its work at all levels and of increasing the coverage of hydrographic information on a global basis, and urges all States to work with that organization to promote safe navigation, especially in the areas of international navigation, ports and where there are vulnerable or protected marine areas".

The IHO is pleased to share with IOC this information that constitutes a new tool and an annual opportunity to highlight the importance of learning more about the ocean and seas and its uses and to highlight the close cooperation that exists between our organizations to tackle different matters of common interest.

World Hydrography Day will be celebrated nationally by Hydrographic Offices around the world and internationally by the IHB in Monaco. The theme for this first celebration will be "85 years of the IHO contributing to worldwide safety to navigation".

Thank you Mr President.

ANNEX IV

THE ROGER REVELLE MEMORIAL LECTURE, 2006

Global Sea Levels: Past, Present And Future

John A. Church

Chair, Joint Scientific Committee for the World Climate Research Programme, CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric Research and Antarctic Climate and Ecosystems Cooperative Research Centre

Summary— By 2100, tens of millions of people may be vulnerable each year to coastal flooding events associated with sea-level rise and extreme events.

Sea level has risen by over 120 m since the last glacial maximum, about 20 thousand years ago. The majority of this rise occurred before 6 thousand years ago. From ancient Roman times until the 18th century there has been little rise in global average sea level. The longest tide gauge records, extending over several centuries, indicate an increase in the rate of rise commenced in the 19th century. A combination of tide gauge data and satellite-altimeter data have been used to estimate sea levels from 1870 to the present. These data show sea levels have risen by about 20 cm over this period, a 20th century rate of rise of 1.7 ± 0.3 mm yr-1 and a significant acceleration in the rate of rise. Satellite-altimeter data from 1993 indicate a rate of rise closer to 3 mm yr-1, but it is not yet clear if this is a further acceleration in the rate of rise or part of natural decadal variability.

The largest contributions to late-20th-century sea-level rise are ocean thermal expansion and the melting of glaciers and ice caps. The ice sheets of Greenland and Antarctica have made smaller contributions. The contributions from changes in terrestrial storage have significant uncertainties. Volcanic activity is one of the causes of decadal variability in sea level. Immediately after an eruption, the decrease in short-wave radiation reaching the ocean surface results in an ocean cooling that can persist in the oceans for decades to centuries.

Sea level is likely to continue to rise through the 21st century and beyond. Even after stabilization of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere, sea levels are likely to continue to rise for decades and centuries because of the long time scales associated with ocean circulation and the ice sheets. There is increasing concern that the large ice sheets of Greenland and Antarctica might contribute significantly to sea-level rise through surface melting (Greenland in particular) and dynamic responses.

A rise in sea level leads to more frequent flooding events of a given level. There is already evidence that this has occurred during the 20th century. Changes in the intensity of atmospheric weather patterns (for example, an increase in the intensity of tropical cyclones) will also alter the frequency and intensity of extreme events. Changing sea-levels and extreme events will potentially impact on tens of millions of people. Appropriate planning and adaptation actions can significantly reduce the number of people affected.

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Annex IV - page 2

John A. Church is an oceanographer with CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric Research and the Antarctic Climate and Ecosystems Cooperative Research Centre. He has published across a broad range of topics in oceanography and his area of particular expertise is the role of the ocean in climate, particularly climate change due to human activities. He is co-editor of a book "Ocean Circulation and Climate" published by Academic Press. He was Co-Chair of the international Scientific Steering Group for the World Ocean Circulation Experiment from 1994 to 1998 and is now Chair of the Joint Scientific Committee of the World Climate Research Programme. He has been a Principal Investigator on NASA/CNES Topex/Poseidon and Jason Science Working Teams since 1987. He was co-convening lead author for the Chapter on Sea Level in the IPCC Third Assessment Report. He co-chaired the recent WCRP Understanding Sea-level Rise and Variability Workshop.

ANNEX V

IOC AD HOC WORKING GROUP ON THE FRAMEWORK FOR A GLOBAL OCEAN-RELATED HAZARDS EARLY WARNING SYSTEM

GUIDELINES

Preamble

An inter-sessional ad hoc Working Group on Global Ocean-related Hazards Warning and Mitigation System (GOHWMS) was established by IOC Resolution XXIII-15. Annex 4 to the Action Paper for the 39th Session of the IOC Executive Council provided terms of reference (guidance) for the initial meeting of the Working Group on 20 June 2006.

The Commission concluded that, in building toward global system(s) for tsunami and other ocean-related hazards, due account should be taken of existing mechanisms and capabilities and that any framework should address all the necessary components of an integrated end-to-end system. The strategy would seek to improve our understanding and forecasting of ocean hazards through focused scientific research and technological development and utilize and work to improve durable global observational capabilities, particularly through the transfer of marine technology. All information from the system(s) would be broadly available.

The Executive Council, at its 39th Session, agreed to extend the mandate of the Ad Hoc Working Group through the next inter-sessional period, and agreed the following guidelines.

Guidelines

The ad hoc Working Group on the Framework for a Global Ocean-Related Hazards Early Warning System will:

- (i) Continue the development of the framework document, taking account of the need for the System to:
 - Address the effectiveness, relationship and sustainability of the technical components of all IOC regional tsunami and ocean-related hazard warning systems;
 - Consider potential gaps in the present system, particularly in areas for which no system exists;
 - Develop and exploit synergies amongst all regional warning systems, in the form of a global system of systems; and
 - Harmonize and promote the efficiency of the governance mechanisms for all IOC regional tsunami and related-hazard warning systems.
- (ii) Provide an outline for a permanent group or mechanism to discharge the governance tasks elucidated in (i).
- (iii) Provide an outline for the further development of a strategy for ocean-related multihazards.

- (iv) Through the Executive Secretary, present the Working Group's preliminary consideration of these matters to the Officers for their meeting in January 2007, and a full report to the IOC Assembly at its 24th Session.
- (v) Initially, conduct its work by e-mail; subsequently, the Working Group should meet (meeting to be organized by the Executive Secretary IOC) in early 2007, so as to allow timely consideration of these matters by the Member States.

ANNEX VI

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE TECHNICAL COMMITTEE FOR RESOLUTIONS

Mr Geoff Holland (Canada)

The Technical Committee for Resolutions met several times during the Executive Council and I would like to thank the many delegates that gave their time to reviewing the Draft Resolutions (Drs) being considered at this session. I would also like to thank Julian Barbière and Ms Aurora Mateos, of the IOC Secretariat for providing the Technical Committee with documentation assisting with amendments and the final preparation of the DRs for translation.

Despite the efforts of Member States and the Secretariat, there were difficulties in getting through our work. Due to the limited time available, the Technical Committee had to consider some DRs in advance of the agenda item being discussed in Plenary. Although the set of guidelines for the Technical Committee does allow for such an occurrence, it is not the preferred way of handling DRs. There are some changes that will be necessary in the available green copies of the DRs and which I can introduce at an appropriate time. In addition, towards the end of the Agenda items, the Technical Committee was forced to conduct some of its work while the Plenary was in session. Again not a practice that is preferable.

The lack of time was a problem faced by other intra-sessional committees and of course the situation was compounded by DRs becoming available at the last moment.

Mr Chairman, the Technical Committee operates under an outdated set of guidelines, Doc. IOC/INF-734 rev, and this was recognized by the last Assembly and it was agreed that the IOC Executive Secretary should review these guidelines. I understand that such a review is under way but not yet complete, and I would reiterate the need to complete this task. In particular the format and language used in our Resolutions should be standardized as much as possible, especially in the way we address the reports and recommendations from our subsidiary bodies. As noted at the Assembly, there have been changes at the IOC in the conduct of our meetings and in the associated documentation and we also need to recognize the special challenges presented to us when we are adopting Resolutions that reflect decisions concerning joint subsidiary bodies. It would also help Member States to have advance indication of what agenda items were expected to generate DRs, who would be submitting the DR and the Secretariat member responsible. In this regard, I would like to state that the Technical Committee did profit greatly from the presence of the relevant drafters and Secretariat members for the DRs and who helped greatly in ensuring that any changes suggested did not alter the substantive content of the DRs.

Finally, Mr Chairman, I would be pleased to answer any question that may arise during the adoption of the DRs regarding amendments made by the Technical Committee and in one or two cases I will be able to intervene and introduce some clarifications to the text when these arose after the DR was submitted to translation.

ANNEX VII

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Document Code	Title	Agenda Items	Languages available
WORKING DOCUMENTS			
IOC/EC-XXXIX/1 Prov. Rev.2	Second Revised Provisional Agenda	2.1	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/1 Add. Prov. Rev.	Revised Provisional Timetable	2.4	E only
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Prov.	Provisional Action Paper	2.4	EFRS
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 1	Report by the IOC Executive Secretary on Programme Implementation	3.2 4.2.1	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 1 Add. 1	Implementation of IOC Governing Body Resolutions	3.2	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 1 Add. 2	Status of Implementation of the Recommendations of the IOC External Evaluation Report	3.2	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 2	Report on Budget Execution (2004–2005) and Budget Outline and Progress Report for 2006	3.2	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 3	Draft Guidelines for the IOC Medium Term Strategy, 2008–2013	4.1.2	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 4	Draft terms of reference for the ad hoc Working Group on Global Ocean-related Hazards Early Warning and Mitigation System	4.7.5	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 5	Proposed clarifications for consultation with the Director-General on the Appointment of the IOC Executive Secretary	5.3	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/2 Annex 6	A Proposal to Establish a GOOS-GTOS Joint Panel for Integrated Coastal Observations	4.3.2	E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Prov.	Draft Summary Report <i>(issued during the Session)</i>		E F R S
IOC/EC-XXXIX/4 Prov.	Provisional List of Documents		EFRS
IOC/EC-XXXIX/5 Prov.	Provisional List of Participants		E/F/S

REPORTS OF IOC AND COOPERATIVE BODIES REQUIRING ACTION

IOC Annual Report No. 12	IOC Annual Report, 2005				3.2	E only	
IOC-XXIII/3	Twenty-Third Session of the IOC Assembly					E F R S	
	(Paris, France, 2	1–30 June	2005))			
IOC/EC-XXXVII/3	Thirty-Seventh	Session	of	the	IOC		E F R S

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Annex VII - page 2

Document Code	Title	Agenda Items	Languages available
	Executive Council (Paris, France, 23–29 June 2004)		
IOC-WMO/JCOMM-II/3	Summary Report of the second session of the Joint IOC-WMO Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology (JCOMM-II, 15–25 September 2005, Halifax, Canada)	4.3.1	E [Ex. Sum. in F, R, S]
IOC/IOCINDIO-IV/3	Summary Report of the Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean (Colombo, Sri Lanka, 8–10 December 2005)	4.5.1	E [Ex. Sum. in F, R, S]
IOC/SC-IOCARIBE-IX/3	Summary Report of the Ninth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE, Cartagena, Colombia, 19–22 April 2006)	4.5.2	E [Ex. Sum. in F, R, S]
IOC/IOCWIO-VI/3	Summary Report of the Sixth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (Maputo, Mozambique, 1–4 November 2005)	4.5.3	E [Ex. Sum. in F, R, S]
IOC/ABE-LOS VI/3	Summary Report of the Sixth Meeting of the Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea (Málaga, Spain, 3–7 April 2006)	4.6.1	ΕF
ICG/IOTWS-II/3	Summary Report of the Second Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/IOTWS, Hyderabad, 14–16 December 2005)	4.7.1	E only
ICG/IOTWS-I/3	Summary Report of the First Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/IOTWS, Perth, 3–5 August 2005)	4.7.1	E only
ICG/NEAMTWS-II/3s	Executive Summary Report of the Second Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS, Nice, 22–24 May 2006)	4.7.2	E F R S
ICG/NEAMTWS-I/3	Summary Report of the First Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North-eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS, Rome, 21–22 November 2005)	4.7.2	E only
ICG/CARIBE-EWS-I/3	Summary Report of the First Session of the	4.7.3	E only

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Annex VII - page 3

Document Code	Title IOC Intergovernmental Coordination Group for Tsunami and other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (ICG/CARIBE-EWS, Bridgetown, Barbados 10–12 January 2006)	Agenda Items	Languages available
ICG/PTWS-XXI/3s	Executive Summary Report of the Twenty- First Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Pacific Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/PTWS-XXI, Melbourne, Australia, 1– 5 May 2006)	4.7.4	E F R S
IOC/ITSU-XX/3	Summary report of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific (IOC/ITSU- XX, Viña del Mar, Chile, 3–7 October 2005)	4.7.4	E only

INFORMATION AND OTHER REFERENCE DOCUMENTS

IOC/EC-XXXIX/Inf.1	Information and Guidelines for Participants	2.	E only
IOC/EC-XXXIX/Inf.2	Roger Revelle Memorial Lecture, 2006 by John Church — short summary and biography	2.5	E only
IOC-WMO/JCM-I/3	Report of the Joint Consultative Meeting of the IOC Officers and WMO Bureau Members, 20–21 January 2006, Buenos Aires, Argentina	3.1	E only
CEB/2006/HLCP/CRP.9	UN CEB High-Level Committee on Programmes – Relations with inter-agency bodies: (b) UN Oceans, Eleventh Session, Paris, France, 27 February–1 March 2006	3.2	E only
United Nations resolution A/RES/60/30	Oceans and the Law of the Sea	4.1.1	E F R S
United Nations document A/60/91/	Oceans and the law of the sea: regular process for global reporting and assessment of the state of the marine environment, including socioeconomic aspects, Second International Workshop, Report of the Secretary-General	4.1.1	E F R S
DG/Note/06/14	UNESCO Director-General's note on the Overall Review of Major Programmes II and III, 28 February 2006	4.1.2	ΕF
ODG/601/4	Draft Terms of Reference of the Overall Review Committee on Major Programmes II and III	4.1.2	ΕF
33 C/Resolution 2	Overall Review Committee on Major Programmes II and III	4.1.2	E F R S
U.S. National Academy of	Toward an Integrated Arctic Observing	4.13	E only

IOC/EC-XXXIX/3 Annex VII - page 4

Document Code	Title	Agenda Items	Languages available
Sciences report	Network (http://www.nap.edu/catalog/11607.html)		
GEO 0204-4, 30 March 2006	Group on Earth Observations 2006 – Work Plan for 2006, version 4	4.1.4	E only
	(http://earthobservations.org/docs/GEO- II/GEO_0204-4_060330.pdf)		
IOC/INF-1228	Agreement between the World Meteorological Organization, the International Council of Scientific Unions and the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission on the World Climate Research Programme	4.2.3	E only
IOC/INF-1224	IODE Officers Meeting, IOC Project Office for IODE, Ostend, Belgium, 6–7 February 2006	4.3.3	E only
IOC/IODE-XVIII/3s	Summary Report of the Eighteenth Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange, Ostend, Belgium, 26–30 April 2005	4.3.3	E F R S
IOC/INF-1229	Report on the activities of activities of the capacity-building section, June 2005–April 2006	4.4.1	E only
IOC/INF-1211	Principles and Strategy for Capacity- building	4.4.1	E only
IOC-XXIII/2 Annex 5	Enhancing the Effectiveness of Regional Cooperation in Marine Science and Technology and the Role of the IOC Regional Subsidiary Bodies	4.5.4	E F R S

ANNEX VIII

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

I. OFFICERS OF THE IOC/ BUREAU DE LA COI/ MESA DE LA COI

Chairperson

Prof. David T. PUGH Marine Science Adviser 3, Deeside Court, Dee Hills Park Chester CH3 5AU UNITED KINGDOM Tel: 44 1244 346 454 E-mail: d.pugh@mac.com

Vice-Chairperson

Prof. Mario RUIVO Chairman, Portuguese Committee for IOC Av. Infante Santo 42/4th Floor Lisbon 1350 PORTUGAL Tel: 351 21 390 43 30 Fax: 351 21 395 22 12 E-mail: cointersec.presid@fct.mces.pt

Vice-Chairperson

Dr Alexander FROLOV Deputy Head Russian Federal Service for Hydrometeorology & Environmental Monitoring (ROSGIDROMET) 12, Novovagan'kovsky Pereulok 123242 Moscow RUSSIAN FEDERATION Tel: 7 095 252 03 13 Fax: 7 095 255 22 69 E-mail: afrolov@mecom.ru

Vice-Chairperson

Sr. Javier Armando VALLADARES Servicio de Hidrografia Naval Av. Montes de Oca 2124 C1270ABV Buenos Aires ARGENTINA Tel: 54 11 4317-2359/2023 Fax: 54 11 4317-2490 E-mail: valladares@ara.mil.ar

Vice-Chairperson

Dr Neville SMITH Acting Chief of Division Bureau of Meteorology Research Centre 700 Collins St. Docklands, VIC 3008 AUSTRALIA Tel: 61 3 96 69 44 44 Fax: 61 3 96 69 46 60 E-mail: n.smith@bom.gov; aunsr@bom.gov.au

Vice-Chairperson

Dr Alfonse M. DUBI Director & Senior Research Fellow University of Dar es Salaam Institute of Marine Sciences P.O. Box 668 Zanzibar UNITED-REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA Tel: 255 24 223 0741 E-mail: dubi@ims.udsm.ac.tz

Former Chairperson

Prof. Jilan SU Advisor to the Administrator Second Institute of Oceanography State Oceanic Administration P.O. Box 1207, Hang Zhou Zheijiang 310012 CHINA Tel: 86 10 884 03 32 Fax: 82 10 807 15 39 E-mail: sujil@zgb.com.cn (Also representing China)

II. MEMBER STATES OF THE IOC EXECUTIVE COUNCIL/ETATS MEMBRES DU CONSEIL EXECUTIF DE LA COI/ESTADOS MIEMBROS DEL CONSEJO EJECUTIVO DE LA COI

Argentina/Argentine/Argentina

Head of Delegation

S. Exc. Miguel Angel ESTRELLA Embajador Extraordinario y Plenipotenciario Delegado Permanente Delegación Permanente de la Argentina ante la UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris Cedex 15 FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 38/36 Fax: 33 1 43 06 60 35 E-mail: dl.argentina@unesco.org

Alternates

Sr. Javier Armando VALLADARES Servicio de Hidrografía Naval Av. Montes de Oca 2124 C1270ABV Buenos Aires Tel: 54 11 4317-2359/2023 Fax: 54 11 4317-2490 E-mail: valladares@ara.mil.ar (also IOC Vice-Chair)

Sr. Ariel Hernán TROISI Director Centro Argentino de Datos Oceanográficos Servicio de Hidrografía Naval Av. Montes de Oca 2124 Tel/Fax: 54 11 4303 2240 E-mail: atroisi@hidro.gov.ar

Representatives

Sr. Miguel Angel HILDMANN Ministro, Delegación Permanente de la Argentina ante la UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris Cedex 15 FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 17 Fax: 33 1 43 06 60 35 E-mail: ma.hildmann@unesco.org Sr. Ariel Walter GONZÁLEZ Consejería Legal Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio Internacional y Culto Esmeralda 1212 – Piso 15° C1007ABR Buenos Aires Tel: 54 11 4819 8008/8012 Fax: 54 11 4819 8009 E-mail: awg@mrecic.gov.ar

Sr. José Luís FERNÁNDEZ VALONI Premier Secretario Delegación Permanente de la Argentina ante la UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris Cedex 15, FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 41 Fax: 33 1 43 06 60 35 E-mail: jl.fernandez@unesco.org

Australia/Australie/Australia

Head of Delegation

Dr Neville SMITH Acting Chief of Division Bureau of Meteorology Research Centre G.P.O. Box 1289, Melbourne VIC 3001 700 Collins St., Docklands VIC Tel: 61 3 9669 4444 Fax: 61 3 9669 4660 E-mail: csr@bom.gov.au (also IOC Vice-Chair)

Alternate

Dr Peter DEXTER Ocean Services Section Bureau of Meteorology G.P.O. Box 1289, Melbourne VIC 3001 700 Collins St., Docklands VIC Tel: 61 3 96 69 48 70 Fax: 61 3 96 69 46 95 E-mail: p.dexter@bom.gov.au (also Co-president JCOMM)

Mr Robert OWEN-JONES Director, Environment Dept. of Foreign Affairs & Trade R.G. Casey Building, John McEwen Crescent Barton ACT 0221 Tel: 61 2 6261 3516 Fax: 61 2 6112 1262 E-mail: robert.owen-jones@dfat.gov.au

Belgium/Belgique/Bélgica

Head of Delegation Dr Rudy HERMAN Senior Researcher Science & Innovation Administration Technology & Innovation Division Ministry of Flanders Boudewijnlaam, 30 1000 Brussels Tel: 32 2 553 60 01 Fax: 32 2 553 59 81 E-mail: rudy.herman@wim.vlaanderen.be

Representative

Mr David COX Research Programmes & Space – North Sea Belgian Science Policy Office Rue de la Science, 8 Wetenschapsstraat, 8 B - 1000 Brussels Tel: 32 2 238 34 08 Fax: 32 2 230 59 12 E-mail: david.cox@belspo.be

Brazil/Brésil/Brasil

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr Luiz Filipe MACEDO SOARES Ambassador, Permanent Delegate of Brazil to UNESCO Permanent Delegation of Brazil to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 28 88 Fax: 33 1 47 83 28 40 E-mail: dl.brasil@unesco.org

Alternate

Mr Luiz Antônio CASTRO National Secretary Secretariat of Policies & Programs in Research & Development Ministry of Science &Technology Esplanada dos Ministérios Bloco 'E' 2º Andar – Sala 206 Brasília, DF 70067-900 Tel: 55 61 3317 8128/8015 Fax: 55 61 3317 7766 E-mail: lbarreto@mct.gov.br

Representatives

Vice-Admiral Paulo Cesar Dias de LIMA Director, Directorate of Hydrography & Navigation Rua Barão de Jaceguai, s/no. Ponta da Armacão – Niteroi – RJ ZC 24.048-900 Tel: 55 21 2613 8001/8003 Fax: 55 21 2613 8063 E-mail: paulocesar@dhn.mar.mil.br

Ms Maria Cordélia MACHADO Cordenadora para Mar & Antartica Secretaria de Politicas e Programas de Pesquisas e Desenvolvimento Ministerio da Ciencia e Tecnologia Esplanada dos Ministérios Bloco 'E' - 2º Andar – Sala 235 CEP 70.067-900 Brasilia - DF Tel: 55 61 3317 7854 Fax: 55 61 3317 7766 E-mail: mmachado@mct.gov.br

Ms Janice R. TROTTE Adviser for International Relations Brazilian Navy Directorate of Hydrography & Navigation Rua Barão de Jaceguai, s/no. Niteroi – Rio de Janeiro 24.048-900

Tel: 55 21 2613 8013 Fax: 55 21 2613 8088 E-mail: janice.trotte@terra.com.br

Mr. Paulo Rogerio GONÇALVES Assessoria de Assuntos Internacionais Ministerio da Ciencia e Tecnologia Esplanada dos Ministerios Bloco E – 4º Andar – Sala 480 CEP 70067-900 – Brasilia – DF Tel: 55 61 3317 7519/7620/7529 Fax: 55 61 3317 7571 E-mail: progerio@mct.gov.br

Ms Daniela ARRUDA BENJAMIN Second Secretary Brazilian Permanent Delegation to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis Paris 75015, FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 28 88 Fax: 33 1 47 83 28 40 E-mail: d.benjamin@unesco.org

Canada/Canadá

Head of Delegation

Dr Wendy WATSON-WRIGHT Assistant Deputy Minister, Science Fisheries & Oceans Canada 200 Kent Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0E6 Tel: 1 613 990 5123 Fax: 1 613 990 5113 E-mail: watson-wright@dfo-mpo.gc.ca

Alternate

Dr Savithri (Savi) NARAYANAN Dominion Hydrographer Director General Ocean Sciences–Canadian Hydrographic Service Fisheries & Oceans Canada 615 Booth St., Suite 311 Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0E6 Tel: 1 613 995 4413 Fax: 1 613 947 4369 E-mail: nayanans@dfo-mpo.gc.ca

Representatives

Mr Douglas BANCROFT Director, Oceanography & Climate Branch 200 Kent St., Ottawa Ontario K1A 0E6 Tel: 1 513 990 0302 Fax: 1 513 990 7665 E-mail: brancoftdo@dfo-mpo.gc.ca

Mr Val R. SWAIL Chief, Climate Monitoring & Data Interpretation Division Climate Research Branch Meteorological Service of Canada 4905 Dufferin St., Downsview Ontario M3H 5T4 Tel: 1 416 739 4347 Fax: 1 416 739 5700 E-mail: val.swail@ec.gc.ca

Dr Gordon A. McBEAN Institute for Catastrophic Loss Reduction University of Western Ontario 1389 Western Rd. London Ontario N6A 5B9 Tel: 1 519 661 4274 Fax: 1 519 661 4273 E-mail: gmcbean@uwo.ca Mr Geoffrey HOLLAND Senior Advisor 2WE Consultants 1267 Gabriola Drive, Parksville BC V9P 2T5 Tel: 1 250 472 22 54 Fax: 1 250 472 94 75 E-mail: hollandg@shaw.ca

Mr Fred STEPHENSON Manager, Geomatics Engineering Canadian Hydrographic Service, Pacific Region Fisheries & Oceans Canada Institute of Ocean Sciences P.O. Box 6000 9860 West Saanich Rd., Sidney, BC V8L 4B2 Tel: 1 250 363 6350 Fax: 1 250 363 6323 E-mail: stephensonf@pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca (Also Vice-Chair, ICG/PTWS)

Chile/Chili/Chile

Head of Delegation

Capt. Jorge L. IBARRA Director, Hydrographic & Oceanographic Service of the Chilean Navy Errazuriz 254, Playa Ancha Valparaiso Tel: 56 32 26 65 55 Fax: 56 32 26 65 42 E-mail: jbarra@shoa.cl

Representative

Capt. Andrés Enríquez OLAVARRIA Jefe, Departamento de Oceanografía Servicio Hidrográfico y Oceanográfico de la Armada de Chile Errazuriz 254, Playa Ancha, CP 237-0168 Valparaiso Tel: 56 32 26 66 70 Fax: 56 32 26 65 42 E-mail: aenriquez@shoa.cl
China/Chine/China

Head of Delegation

Mr Haiqing LI Director General Dept. of International Cooperation State Oceanic Administration 1 Fuxingmenwai Ave. Beijing 100860 Tel: 86-10-68042695 Fax: 86-10-68048051 E-mail: hqli@soa.gov.cn (also Vice-chair WESTPAC)

Representatives

Prof. Jilan SU Researcher, State Oceanic Administration 1 Fuxingmenwai Ave. Beijing 100860 Tel: 86-10-68048051 Fax : 86-10-68048051 E-mail: sujil@zgb.com.cn (also former Chair IOC)

Mrs Shao Hua LIN Vice-Chair of I-GOOS National Marine Data & Information Services 93 Liu Wei Rd. Hedong District Tianjin 300171 Tel: 86-22-2401 0803 Fax: 86-10-2401 0926 E-mail: shlin@mail.nmdis.gov.cn (also Vice.chair of I-GOOS)

Mr Wenxi ZHU Director, Dept. of International Cooperation State Oceanic Administration 1 Fuxingmenwai Ave. Beijing 100860 Tel: 86-10-68019791 Fax: 86-10-68048051 E-mail: wenxizhu@yahoo.com

Mr Ya Feng YANG Program Officer Division of International Organizations Dept. of International Cooperation State Oceanic Administration 1 Fuxingmenwai Ave. Beijing 100860 Tel: 86-10-68048051 Fax: 86-22-68048051 E-mail: yyf@soa.gov.cn Ms Lin GAO Program Officer Dept. of International Cooperation State Oceanic Administration 1 Fuxingmenwai Ave. Beijing 100860 Tel: 86-10-68047637 Fax: 86-10-68047644 E-mail: gb@soa.gov.cn

Mr Tianhua HONG First Secretary Permanent Delegation of the People's Republic of China to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 53 Fax: 33 1 42 19 01 99 E-mail: dl.chine7@unesco.org

Prof. Jihui YAN Division of Science & Technology National Marine Environmental Forecasting Center State Oceanic Administration 8, Dahuisi, Haidian District 100081 Beijing Tel/Fax: 86 10 6217 3598/86/3620 E-mail: yanjh@nmefc.gov.cn

Colombia/Colombie/Colombia

Head of Delegation

Capt. Julian Augusto REYNA MORENO Secretario Ejecutivo Comisión Colombiana del Océano Transversal 41, No. 27-50 Piso 4° - CAN Bogotá, DC Tel: 57 1 222 04 21/36/49 Fax: 57 1 222 04 16 E-mail: seco@cco.gov.co

Congo

Head of Delegation

Mr Alain Claver BATCHY Consultant en Ecosystèmes Marin et Côtier Ministère des Transports Maritimes et de la Marine Marchande, Cabinet 16^{ème} étage, Tour Nabemba B.P. 15000 Brazzaville Tel: 242 82 55 16 ; Fax: 242 82 55 14 E-mail: mtmmm@hotmail.com; batchyalain@yahoo.fr

Mr Armand Joseph KOKOLO Ministère des Transports Maritimes et de la Marine Marchande B.P. 15000 Brazzaville Fax: 33 1 45 58 68 91 E-mail: ajkokolo@yahoo.fr

Cuba

Head of Delegation

Dr Guillermo GARCIA MONTERO Director, Acuario Nacional Cuba Ave. 1ra. y Calle 60, Miramar Ciudad Habana CD 11300 ZP 13 Tel: 537 203 6401/06 Fax : 537 209 2737 E-mail: ggarcia@ama.cu; guillermo@acuarionacional.cu (also Chair IOCARIBE)

Representative

Mr Andrés QUINTANA Premier Secrétaire Délégation permanente de Cuba auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, FRANCE Tel : 33 1 45 68 29 24 Fax: 33 1 45 6747 41 E-mail: a.quintana@unesco.org

Ecuador/Equateur/Ecuador

Head of Delegation

Capt. Mario PROAÑO SILVA Director, Instituto Oceanográfico de la Armada Ave. de la Marina – Base Naval Sur Guayaquíl Tel: 593 4 2481 100 E-mail: direccion@inocar.mil.ec

Representative

Mr Luís Fernando MORALES AUZ Head, Dept. of Marine Sciences – INOCAR Oceanographic Institute of the Navy - Ecuador Base Naval Sur Av. De la Marina Guayaquíl Tel: 593 4 248 1105 Fax: 593 4 248 51 66 E-mail: Imorales@inocar.mil.ec Mr Marcelo VAZQUEZ BERMUDEZ Minister, Permanent Delegation of Ecuador to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis, 75015 Paris, FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 33 03 E-mail : dl.ecuador@unesco.org

Egypt/Egypte/Egipto

Head of Delegation

Mrs Aida Botros TADROS Head, Marine Chemistry Laboratory Prof. Res: National Institute of Oceanography & Fisheries El Anfoushy Alexandria Tel: 203 480 7140/138 Fax: 203 4801 174 E-mail: niof@hotmail.com

France/France/Francia

Head of Delegation

Mr François GERARD Président du Comité National pour la COI Météo France 1, Quai Branly 75340 Paris Cédex 07 Tel: 33 1 45 56 70 22 Fax: 33 1 45 56 70 05 E-mail: <u>francoisgerard@meteo.fr</u> *(also Chair of I-GOOS)*

Representatives

M. Elie JARMACHE Chargé de mission Secrétariat Général de la mer 16, boulevard Raspail 75007 Paris Tel: 33 1 53 63 41 58 Fax: 33 1 53 63 41 78 E-mail: elie.jarmache@pm.gouv.fr *(also chair of IOC/ABE-LOS)*

Mme Hélène SEKUTOWICZ-LE BRIGANT Deuxième Secrétaire Délégation Permanente de la France auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris Tel : 33 1 45 68 35 03 E-mail : helene.sekutowicz@diplomatie.gouv.fr Dr Julien GALABRU Chargé de mission Ministère des Affaires étrangères 244, Boulevard St Germain 75006 Paris Tel: 33 1 43 17 82 85 E-mail: julien.galabru@diplomatie.gouv.fr

M. René FEUTEUN Sous direction de la prévention des risques majeurs Direction de la prévention des pollutions et des risques Ministère de l'Ecologie et du développement durable 20, av. Ségur 75007 Paris Tel: 33 1 42 19 15 63 Fax: 33 1 42 19 14 79 E-mail: rene.feunteun@ecologie.gouv.fr

M. Christophe VALIA-KOLLERY

Conseiller scientifique Commission nationale française pour l'UNESCO 57 Boulevard des Invalides 75700 Paris 07 SP Tel: 33 1 53 69 39 96 Fax: 33 1 53 69 32 23 E-mail: christophe-valia-kollery@diplomatic.gouv.fr

Advisers

Mme Nicole LENOTRE Head, Soil Erosion & Coastal Evolution Unit Development Planning & Natural Risks Division Geoscience for a Sustainable Earth 3, av. C. Guillemin – B.P. 6009 45060 Orléans Cedex 2 Tel: 33 2 38 64 37 22 Fax: 33 2 38 64 33 99 E-mail: n.lenotre@brgm.fr

Ms Hélène HEBERT Direction des Applications Militaires Dept. Analyse, Surveillance, Environnement Service Laboratoire de Détection et de Géophysique Laboratoire Risques Sismiques et Géologiques Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique Centre DAM – Ile de France B.P. 12 – 91680 Bruyères-le-Châtel Tel: 33 1 69 26 53 80 Fax: 33 1 69 26 71 30 E-mail: helene.hebert@cea.fr Mr Remy BOSSU Secretary General European Mediterranean Seismological Centre CSEM/EMSC – c/o LDG B "Sables" – B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères-le-Châtel Tel: 33 1 69 26 78 14 Fax: 33 1 69 26 70 00 E-mail: bssu@emsc-csem.org

Mr François SCHINDELE Scientific Adviser Département Analyse, Surveillance, Environnement Service Technologie de la Mesure dans la Géosphère Centre DAM – Ile de France DASE/TMG, B.P. 12 91680 Bruyères-le-Châtel Tel: 33-1 69 26 50 63 Fax: 33-1 69 26 70 85 E-mail: francois.schindel@cea.fr

Germany/Allemagne/Alemania

Head of Delegation

Prof. Dr Peter EHLERS President, Federal Maritime & Hydrographic Agency Bernhard-Nochtstr. 78 D-20359 Hamburg Tel: 49 40 31 80 10 00 Fax: 49 40 31 90 10 04 E-mail: peter.ehlers@bsh.de

Alternate

Dr Anna von GYLDENFELDT Oceanographer, Dept. of Marine Science Federal Maritime & Hydrographic Agency Bernhard-Nochtstr. 78 D-20359 Hamburg Tel: 49 40 3190 3111 Fax: 49 40 3190 5032 E-mail: anna.gyldenfeldt@bsh.de

Representatives

Dr Jörn LAUTERJUNG Physicist/Head of Staff Scientific Executive Board GeoForschungsZentrum Potsdam Helmholtz Centre Telegrafenberg 14473 Potsdam Tel: 49 331 288 10 20 Fax: 49 331 288 10 02 E-mail: lau@gfz-potsdam.de

Mr Reinhold OLLIG Director, Head of Division "System Earth" Federal Ministry of Education & Research Heinemannstr. 2 D-53175 Bonn Tel: 49 18 88 57 34 69 Fax: 49 18 88 57 834 69 E-mail: reinhold.ollig@bmbf.bund.de

Adviser

Mr Lutz MÖLLER Head of Section for Science German National Commission for UNESCO Colmantstr. 15 53115 Bonn Tel: 49 228 604 97 22 Fax: 49 228 604 97 20 E-mail: moeller@unesco.de

Greece/Grèce/Grecia

Head of Delegation

Dr Efstathios BALOPOULOS Research Director Hellenic Centre for Marine Research P.O. Box 712 Anavyssos 19013 Tel: 30 22 910 76367 Fax: 39 22 910 76323 E-mail: <u>efstathios.balopoulos@hnodc.ncmr.gr</u>

Representatives

Dr Emmanuel GOUNARIS Minister Plenipotentiary Ministry of Foreign Affairs Academias 3 Athens 11745 E-mail: do1@mfa.gr Dr Fanny VOUTSINOU-TALIADOURI Research Director Hellenic Centre for Marine Research 47,2 km Athens–Sounion Ave. Tel: 30 22 910 76366 Fax: 39 22 910 76347 E-mail: fvouts@ath.hcmr.gr

Alternate

Mr Alexandros THEOCHARIS Head, Physical Oceanography Dept. Hellenic Centre for Marine Research 46,7 km Athens–Sounion Ave., Mavro Lithari Anavyssos – Attica 19013 Tel: 30 22 910 76329 Fax: 30 22 910 76323 E-mail: <u>alekos@ath.hcmr.gr</u>

India/Inde/India

Head of Delegation

Mr Prem Shanker GOEL Secretary, Department of Ocean Development Mahasagar Bhavan, Block 12 C.G.O. Complex, Lodhi Rd. New Delhi 110 003 Tel: 91 11 2436 0874 Fax: 91 11 2436 0874 E-mail: dodsec@dod.delhi.nic.in *(also Chair ICG/IOTWS)*

Alternate

Dr Shailesh NAYAK Director, Indian National Centre for Ocean Information Services, Dept. Ocean Development Govt. of Indian, Ocean Valley P.B. No: 21, IDA Jeediemtla P.O. Hyderabad – 500 055 Tel: 91 40 238 95000 Fax: 91 40 238 95001 E-mail: director@incois.gov.in

Indonesia/Indonésie/Indonesia

Head of Delegation

Prof. Jan SOPAHELUWAKAN Deputy Chairman, Earth Sciences Indonesian Institute of Science Jl. Jenderal Gatot Subroto 10 Jakarta Selatan 12710 Tel/Fax: 62 21 526 0804 E-mail: jx hydrogene@yahoo.com

Alternate

H.E. Mr. Aman M. Wirakartakusumah Ambassador & Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of the Republic of Indonesia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 29 72 Fax: 33 1 45 66 02 37 E-mail: amb.indonesia@unesco.org

Italy/Italie/Italia

Head of Delegation

Prof. Ezio BUSSOLETTI Scientific Adviser Permanent Delegation of Italy to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 31 41/121 Fax: 33 1 45 66 41 78 E-mail: e.bussoletti@unesco.org

Alternates

Prof. Nadia PINARDI Prof. of Oceanography, Laboratorio Sincem Corso di Scienze Ambientali Via S. Alberto, 163 48100 Ravenna Tel: 39 544 937 332 Fax: 39 544 937 323 E-mail: n.pinardi@sincem.unibo.it Istituto Nazionale di Geofisica e Vulcanologia Via Donato Creti, 12 40128 Bologna Tel: 39 51 415 1412, 39 51 415 1441 (Anna Carta) Fax: 39 51 415 1499

Dr Adriana ZINGONE Stazione Zoologica 'A. Dohrn' Villa Comunale 80121 Napoli Tel: 39 081 583 3295 Fax: 39 081 764 1355 E-mail: zingone@szn.it

Representatives

Ms Cristina ALDERIGHI Dottore in Economia aziendale Via della Sierra Nevada, 3 00144 Roma Tel: 39 6 5421 0925 E-mail: crisalde@hotmail.com

Japan/Japon/Japón

Head of Delegation

Prof. Makoto TERAZAKI Director, Ocean Research Institute University of Tokyo 1-15-1 Minamidai, Nakano-ku, Tokyo 164-8639 Tel: 81 3 5351 6343 Fax: 81 3 5351 6836 E-mail: terazaki@ori.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Alternate

Mr Tetsuhito MINAMI Unit Chief for UNESCO Activities Office of the Director-General for International Affairs Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science & Technology 2-5-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8959 Tel: 81 3 5222 1007 Fax: 81 3 6734 3679 E-mail: t-minami@mext.go.jp

Representatives

Dr Kazuhiro KITAZAWA Special Advisor to the Director Planning Dept. Japan Agency for Marine-Earth Science & Technology (JAMSTEC) 2-15 Natsushima-cho Yokosuka 237-0061 Tel: 81 46 867 9191 Fax: 81-46-867-9195 E-mail : kitazawa@jamstec.go.jp

Mr Hiroshi OHNO Unit Chief, Ocean & Earth Division Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science & Technology (MEXT) 2-5-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8959 Tel: 81-3-5253 4111 Fax: 81-3-6734-4147 E-mail: h-ohno@mext.go.jp

Mr Osamu KAMIGAICHI

Senior Coordinator International Earthquake & Tsunami Information Earthquake & Tsunami Observations Division Seismologocal & Volcanological Dept. Japan Meteorological Agency 1-3-4 Ote-machi, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-81 22 Tel: 81 3 32 84 17 43 Fax: 81 3 32 15 29 63 E-mail: okamigai@met.kishou.go.jp

Prof. Yutaka MICHIDA Associate Professor Centre for International Cooperation Ocean Research Institute University of Tokyo 1-15-1 Minamidai, Nakano-ku Tokyo 164-8639 Tel: 81 3 5351 6532 Fax: 81 3 5351 6532 E-mail: ymichida@ori.u-tokyo.ac.jp

Dr Masashi NAGATA Head, Office of Marine Prediction Global Environment & Marine Dept. Japan Meteorological Agency 1-3-4 Ote-machi, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8122 Tel: 81 3 3212 8341 Fax: 81 3 3211 3047 E-mail: mnagata@met.kishou.go.jp

Mr Tokuji YAMAMOTO Director, Disaster Management Cabinet Office, Govt. of Japan 1-2-2 Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku Tokyo 100-8969 Tel: 81 3 3501 5408 Fax: 81 3 35 03 56 90 E-mail: tokuji.yamamoto@cao.go.jp Ms Mariko KOBAYASHI First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Japan to UNESCO 148, rue de l'Université 75007 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 53 59 27 00 Fax: 33 1 53 59 27 27 E-mail: deljpn.px@unesco.org

Ms Akiko WATANABE Third Secretary Permanent Delegation of Japan to UNESCO 148, rue de l'Université 75007 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 53 59 27 33 Fax: 33 1 53 59 27 27 E-mail: deljpn.clt@paris.unesco.org

Kenya

Head of Delegation

Mr Boniface W. WANYAMA Asst. Secretary General (Natural Science) Kenya National Commission for UNESCO 14th Floor, National Bank Building Harambee Av., P.O. Box 72107 00200 Nairobi Tel: 254 20 229 053/4 Fax: 254 20 213025 E-mail: bwwekesa@yahoo.com

Alternate

H.E. Ms Mary KHIMULU Ambassador, Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Kenya to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE E-mail: khimulu@wananchi.com

Adviser

Mr Frederic MAKINDI Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Kenya to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE E-mail: fred makindi@yahoo.com

Kuwait/Koweit/Kuwait

Head of Delegation

Dr Muhammad AL SHATTI Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Kuwait to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 26 68 E-mail: m.alshatti@unesco.org

Malaysia/Malaisie/Malasia

Head of Delegation

Prof. Dr Sinn Chye HO Director, National Oceanography Directorate Ministry of Science, Technology & Innovation Malaysia (MOSTI) Ground Floor, Block C5, Parcel C Federal Govt. Admin. Centre 62662 Putrajaya Tel: 60 3 88 85 8068/8889 3006 Fax: 60 3 88 89 30 08/8888 9000 E-mail: scho@mosti.gov.my

Representative

Capt. Sahak Bin OMAR Director General National Hydrographic Centre Royal Malaysian Navy, Bandar Armada Putra Pulau Indah, P.P. Box 272 42009 Port Klang Selangor Tel: 603 3169 4400 Fax: 603 3101 3111 E-mail: rmnodc@tm.net.my

Mexico/Mexique/México

Head of Delegation

Biol. Francisco BRIZUELA VENEGAS Director General Education, Science & Technology of the Sea Public Education Secretariat Viaducto Miguel Alemán, Distrito Federal 03810 Mexico DF Tel: 52 55 23 19 33 Fax: 52 55 23 19 13 E-mail: brizuela@sep.gob.mx

Representatives

Dr Francisco Javier OCAMPO TORRES Research Scientist, División de Oceanología Centro de Investigación Científica y de Educación Superior en Ensenada (CICESE) Km 107 Carretera Tijuana Ensenada BC 22860 Tel: 52 646 175 0500 Fax: 52 646 175 068 E-mail: ocampo@cicese.mx

Dr Ismael MADRIGAL Delegación Permanente de México ante la UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 33 55 Tel: 33 1 47 34 92 45 E-mail: dl.mexique@unesco.org

Nigeria/Nigeria/Nigéria

Head of Delegation

Dr Bernard I. EZENWA Director/CEO Nigerian Institute for Oceanography & Marine Research P.M.B. 12729, Victoria Island Lagos Tel/Fax: 234 1 261 7530 E-mail: niomr@linkserve.com.ng, niomr@hyperia.com

Dr Larry AWOSIKA Nigerian Institute for Oceanography & Marine Research Marine Geology/Geophysics Division Wilmot Point Road Bar Beach, Victoria Island P.M.B. 12729 Lagos Tel/Fax: 234 1 261 95 17 E-mail: niomr@linkserve.com.ng, larryawosika@yahoo.com

Norway/Norvège/Noruega

Head of Delegation

Prof. Peter M. HAUGAN Geophysical Institute, University of Bergen Allegaten 70 N-5007 Bergen Tel: 47 55 58 26 78 Fax: 47 55 58 98 83 E-mail: peter.haugan@gfi.uib.no

Peru/Pérou/Perú

Head of Delegation

CN Guillermo HASEMBANK ROTTA Subdirector Dirección de Hidrografía y Navegación Calle Gamarra NRO 500 - Chucuito Callao - Lima Tel/Fax: 51 1 429 98 68 E-mail: hasem001@marina.mil.pe

Representatives

CF David PORTILLA Jefe del Departamento de Medio Ambiente Dirección de Hidrografía y Navegación Calle Gamarra NRO 500 - Chucuito Callao – Lima Tel/Fax: 51 1 420 21 22 E-mail: dportilla@dhn.mil.pe

Almirante Hector SOLDI Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores v. Laguna Grande 1291 6 La Molina – Lima 12 Tel/Fax: 51 1 368 3166 E-mail: hecsoldi@hotmail.com

Dr Alfredo PICASSO DE OYAGUE Counsellor for Scientifc & Technological Cooperation 102, rue du Ranelagh 75016 Paris FRANCE Tel: 01.45.27 63 42 E-mail: apicasso@club-internet.fr

Adviser

Capt. James THORNBERRY Attaché Naval a l'Ambassade du Pérou en France Marina de Guerra del Perú 89, rue de la Tour 75016 Paris FRANCE Tel : 33 1 45 03 58 20 Fax : 33 1 45 03 58 18 E-mail: agrenapr@noos.fr

Portugal

Head of Delegation

Prof. Mario RUIVO Chairman, Portuguese Committee for IOC Av. Infante Santo 42/4th Floor Lisbon 1350 Tel: 351 21 390 43 30 Fax: 351 21 395 22 12 E-mail: cointersec.presid@fct.mces.pt (Also IOC Vice-Chair)

Representative

Ms Teresa SALADO Attachée Permanent Delegation of Portugal to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE E-mail: t.salado@unesco.org

Republic of Korea/République de Corée/ República de Corea

Head of Delegation

Mr JEONG Hee-Dong Director, KODC/Ocean Research Team National Fisheries Research & Development Institute 408-1 Sirang-ri, Gijang-eup, Gijang-gun 619-602 Busan Tel: 82 51 720 22 10 Fax: 82 51 720 22 25 E-mail: hdjeong@nfrdi.re.kr

Representatives

Mrs CHOI Eun-Ok First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Republic of Korea to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 31 52 Fax: 33 1 40 56 38 88 E-mail: echoi2@moe.go.kr; echoi2@hanmail.net

Mr KANG Seok-Jin Program Officer Marine Research & Development Division Ministry of Maritime Affairs & Fisheries 140-2 Gye-Dong, Jongno-Gu 110-793 Seoul Tel: 82 2 36 74 63 61 Fax: 82 2 36 74 67 85 E-mail: sea.feksj@momaf.go.kr

Dr SHIM Moon-Bo Head, Ocean Current Observation Team National Oceanographic Research Institute 1-17 7ga, Hang-Dong, Jung-Gu 400-800 Incheon Tel: 82 32 880 04 61 – (82 19) 224 2662 Fax: 82 32 891 22 33 E-mail: shimmb@momaf.go.kr

Dr SEO Jang-Won Senior Research Scientist Meteorological Research Institute - KMA 460-18 Shindgebang-dong, Deoglak-gu 156-720 Seoul Tel: 82 2 842 09 40 (ext: 873) Fax: 82 2 847 24 96 E-mail: jwseo@metri.re.kr

Advisers

Dr BYUN Sang-Kyung Principal Researcher Korea Ocean Research & Development Institute Marine Environment Research Dept. P.O. Box 29 425-600 Seoul Tel: 82 31 400 61 27 Fax: 82 31 406 58 29 E-mail: sbyun@kordi.re.kr

Dr HUH Sik

Principal Research Scientist Korea Ocean Research & Development Institute 1270 Sa-2-Dong, Sang-Gu Ansan, Gyeonggi-Do P.O. Box 29 425-600 Seoul Tel: 82 31 400 62 69 Fax: 82 31 406 69 25 E-mail: sikhuh@kordi.re.kr

Dr HUH Hyung Tack Senior Scientist Emeritus Korea Ocean Research & Development Institute 1270 Sa-dong, Sangrok-gu, Ansan P.O. Box 29 425-600 Seoul Tel: 82 31 400 62 01 Fax: 82 31 400 62 01 Fax: 82 31 408 593 4 E-mail: hthuh@kordi.re.kr (*Also Chair WESTPAC*)

Ms CHO Gyehyun Korean Ocean R & D Institute International Cooperation Division Ansan, Gyeonggi-Do P.O. Box 29 425-600 Seoul Tel: 82 31 400 7754 Fax: 82 31 406 6925 E-mail: ghcho@kordi.re.kr

Russian Federation/Fédération de Russie/ Federación de Rusia

Head of Delegation

Dr Alexander V. FROLOV Deputy Head Russian Federal Service for Hydrometeorology & Environmental Monitoring 12, Novovagankovsky St. 123242 Moscow Tel: 7 495 252 03 13 Fax: 7 095 255 22 69 E-mail: afrolov@mecom.ru (also IOC Vice-Chair)

Alternate

Dr Sergey SHAPOVALOV Head of the Center Center for Coordination of Ocean Research Russian Academy of Science 36 Nakhimovsky Ave. 117997 Moscow Tel: 7 495 124 59 81 Fax: 7 495 124 59 83 E-mail: smshap@ocean.iu

Representatives

Mr Pavel A.TATARINOV Head, Division of Earth & Ocean Sciences Federal Agency for Science & Innovation 11, Tverzskaya St. 125009 Moscow Tel: 7 495 629 93 42 Fax: 7 495 925 17 30 E-mail: tatarinov@fasi.gov.ru

Mr Mikhail D. BUBYNIN Director, Coordinating & Analytical Center on Environmental Problems Federal Agency for Science & Innovation 11 Tverzskaya St. 125009 Moscow Tel: 7 495 629 22 34 Fax: 7 495 925 17 30 E-mail: bubynin@fasi.gov.ru

Dr Vitaly SYCHEV Chief Dept. of Telecommunications, Russian State Hydrometeorological University, 98, Malookhtinsky Prospect 195196, St.Petersburg, Tel: 7 812 2243061 Fax: 7 812 4446090 E-mail: vsychev@bk.ru

Dr Vladimir F. KOMCHATOV Director, State Oceanographic Institute 6, Kropotkinsky Pereulok 119838 Moscow Tel: 7 495 246 72 88 Fax: 7 495 246 72 88 E-mail: adm@soi.msk.ru

Dr Sergey M. PRYAMIKOV Head of the Department of International Science Co-operation The Arctic & Antarctic Research Institute of Roshydromet 38 Bering Street 199397 St. Petersburg Tel: 7 812 352 00 96 Fax: 7 812 352 26 85 E-mail: priamiks@aari.nw.ru

Advisors

Mr Andrey A. AKIMOV Attaché, Legal Dept. Ministry of Foreign Affairs 32/34, Smolenskaya–Sennaya Square Moscow 119200 Tel: 7 495 241 77 18 Fax: 7 495 241 11 66 E-mail: dp@mid.ru

Mr Igor SOLOVIEV Consellor, Ministry of Foreign Affairs National Commission of the Russian Federation for UNESCO 32/34 Smolenskaya–Sennaya Square 200-G Moscow Tel: 7 495 244 24 35 Fax: 7 495 244 24 74 E-mail: rusnatcom@mid.ru

South Africa/Afrique du Sud/ Africa del Sur

Head of Delegation

Dr Ashley JOHNSON Deputy-Director Department of Environment Affairs & Tourism Foretrust Building M. Hamerschlag Way 8000 Foreshore Cape Town Tel: 27 21 402 33 06 Fax: 27 21 425 69 76 E-mail: ajohnson@deat.gov.za

Mr Ian DEAN Groman Consulting Box 259, Newlands Cape 7725 Tel: 27 21 683 2216 Fax: 27 21 683 2217 E-mail: iandean@iafrica.com

Sri Lanka

Head of Delegation

Mr Krunadasa HAPUTANTRI Chairman, National Aquatic Resources Research & Development Agency Crow Island, Mattakuliya 15 Colombo 15 Tel: 94 11 252 11 76, 252 18 81 Fax: 94 11 252 18 81 E-mail: chairman@nara.ac.lk

Representatives

Dr Kamal TENNAKOON Senior Research Officer Oceanography Division National Aquatic Resources Research & Development Agency (NARA) Crow Island, Mattakuliya 15 Colombo 15 Tel: 0112521000 - 0112521008 Fax: 0112521932 - 0112524430 E-mail: tkdkamal@nara.ac.lk

Mr Theshantha KUMARASIRI Second Secretary Permanent Delegation of Sri Lanka to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75732 Paris Cedex 15 FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 30 30 Fax: 33 1 47 83 29 45 E-mail: dl.sri-lanka@unesco.org

Thailand/Thaïlande/Tailandia

Head of Delegation

Dr Maitree DUANGSAWASDI Director-General Department of Marine & Coastal Resources 92 Phaholyothin 7 Phayathai 10400 Bangkok Tel: 66 2 298 26 40 Fax: 66 2 298 21 61 E-mail: maitree@dmcr.go.th

Alternates

Ms Cherdchinda CHOTIYAPUTTA Marine & Coastal Resources Management Specialist Department of Marine & Coastal Resources 92 Phaholyothin 7 Samsen Nai, Phayathai 10400 Bangkok Tel: 66 2 298 26 59 Fax: 66 2 298 21 59 E-mail: cherdchc@dmcr.go.th cherdchc@yahoo.com Ms Preeyanuch JARIYAVIDYANONT Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of Thailand to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 31 22 Fax: 33 1 45 68 31 24 E-mail: dl.thaïland@unesco.org

Tunisia/Tunisie/Túnez

Head of Delegation

Prof. Cherif SAMMARI Head, Laboratory of the Marine Environment Institut National des Sciences et Technologies de la Mer (INSTM) 28, rue 2 mars 1934 2025 Salammbô Tel: 216 71 730 420/277 735 Fax: 216 71 732 622 E-mail: cherif.sammari@instm.rnrt.tn

Turkey/Turquie/Turquía

Head of Delegation

Rear Admiral Nazim ÇUBUKÇU Navigator, Hydrographer & Oceanographer, Turkish Navy 81647 Çubuklu Istanbul Tel: 90 216 322 25 84/425 82 82 Fax: 90 216 331 05 25 E-mail: director@shodb.gov.tr

Cmdr. Erhan GEZGIN Chief, Oceanography Division Dept. of Navigation, Hydrography & Oceanography 34805 Çubuklu Istanbul Tel: 90 216 322 25 80 Fax: 90 215 331 05 25 E-mail: erhan@shodb.gov.tr

Adviser

Mr Şükrü BEŞIKTEPE Director, Institute of Marine Sciences Middle East Technical University P.O. Box 28 33731 Erdemli, Mersin Tel: 90 324 521 21 50/24 06 Fax: 90 324 521 23 27 E-mail: sukru@ims.metu.edu.tr

Ukraine/Ukraine/Ucrania

Head of Delegation

Prof. V.N. EREMEEV Director-General, Oceanological Center Ukrainian National Academy of Sciences 2, Kapitanskaya Street Sevastopol 99011 Tel: 38 692 54 04 52/41 10 Fax: 38 692 55 43 53/78 13 E-mail: eremeev@alpha.mhi.iuf.net; director@ibss.iuf.net (Also representing BSRC)

United Kingdom of Great Britain & Northern Ireland/Royaume-Uni de Grande Bretagne et d'Irlande du Nord/ Reino Unido de Gran Bretaña e Irlanda del Norte

Head of Delegation

Mr Trevor GUYMER Secretary IACMST National Oceanography Centre - Southampton University of Southampton - Waterfront Campus Southampton, Hampshire S014 3ZH Tel: 44 23 70 59 66 12 Fax: 44 23 80 59 62 04 E-mail: thg@noc.soton.ac.uk

Adviser

Dr John PORTMANN Adviser to IACMST 26, Sheepcotes Lane South Minster, Essex CM0 7AF Tel/Fax: 44 1621 772 702 E-mail: john@portmann.wanadoo.co.uk

United Republic of Tanzania/République-Unie de Tanzanie/República Unida de Tanzania

Head of Delegation

Dr Alfonse M. DUBI Director, Institute of Marine Sciences University of Dar es Salaam P.O. Box 668 Zanzibar Tel: 255 24 223 2128 Fax: 255 24 223 3050 E-mail: director@ims.udsm.ac.tz (Also Vice-Chair of IOC)

United States of America/Etats-Unis d'Amérique/Estados Unidos de América

Head of Delegation

Dr Richard SPINRAD Assistant Administrator Oceans & Atmospheric Research, NOAA SSMC3, 11th Floor 1315 East–West Highway Silver Spring, Maryland 20910 Tel: 1 301 713 24 58 Fax: 1 301 713 01 63 E-mail: richard.spinrad@noaa.gov

Alternate

Ms Elizabeth TIRPAK Foreign Affairs Officer US Dept. of State/OES/OA 2201 C St. NW, Room 5805 Washington DC 20520 Tel: 1 202 647 02 38 Fax: 1 202 647 11 06 E-mail: tirpakej@state.gov

Advisers

Mr Jeremy CHILD International Affairs Specialist NOAA/Office of International Affairs US Dept. of Commerce, Room 6228 14th Street & Constitution Avenue NW Washington DC 20230 Tel: 1 202 482 6196 Fax: 1 202 482 4307 E-mail: jeremy.child@noaa.gov

Ms Nancy COOPER Science Attaché, US Delegation to UNESCO 12 Av. Gabriel Paris 75382 FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 24 74 56 Fax: 33 1 45 24 74 58 E-mail: coopernj@state.gov

Representatives

Dr Ned CYR Chief, Marine Ecosystems Division, NOAA National Marine Fisheries Service Office of Science & Technology SSMC III – F/ST7 – Room 12555 1315 East–West Highway Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: 1 301 713 23 63 Ext. 159 Fax: 1 301 713 1875 E-mail: ned.cyr@noaa.gov

Dr David GREEN NOAA Tsunami Program Manager 1325 East–West Highway SSMC-2 Room 15426 Silver Spring, Maryland 20910 Tel: 1 301 713-3557 Ext. 172 Fax: 1 301 713-0173 E-mail: david.green@noaa.gov

Mr Arthur PATERSON International Affairs Specialist NOAA/National Ocean Service 1315 East–West Highway, Room 5627 Silver Spring, Maryland 20910 Tel: 1 301 713 30 78 (Ext. 217) Fax: 1 301 713 42 63 E-mail: arthur.e.paterson@noaa.gov

Dr Kevin PILZ Natural Sciences Officer Office of UNESCO Affairs Bureau of International Organization Affairs US Dept. of State 2121 Virginia Ave, NW Washington DC 20037 Tel: 1 202 663 00 33 Fax: 1 202 663 00 35 E-mail: pilzkm@state.gov

Dr Stephen PIOTROWICZ Oceanographer, NOAA/Oceans US 2300 Clarendon Blvd., Suite 1350 Arlington, VA 22201-3667 Tel: 1 701 588 0850 Fax: 1 701 585 0872 E-mail: steve.piotrowicz@noaa.gov Mr Terry L. SCHAEFER Program Analyst, Office of Scientific Support US Dept. of Commerce, NOAA 1315 East–West Highway (R/OSS) Silver Spring MD 20910 Tel: 301 713 2465, Ext. 184

Fax: 301 713 0158 E-mail: terry.schaefer@noaa.gov

Ms Mary-Dianne BURGESS Program Analyst, NOAA 1315 East–West Highway, Bld. 3, 11th floor Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: 1 301 855 5920 E-mail: Dianne.burgess@noaa.gov

Venezuela

Head of Delegation

Mr Lucas GONZALEZ Director de Fronteras Terrestres y Marítimas Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores Esq. Carmelitas MRE, Piso 13, Ala 'A' Caracas Fax : 58 212 806 385 E-mail : lmilla@cantv.net

Alternate

Sr. Hernán PEREZ NIETO Presidente, Comisión Nacional de Oceanología Dirección de Relaciones Internacionales, MCT Caracas, DF 1010 Tel: 58 212 987 6846 Fax: 58 212 985 4868 E-mail: pereznietoh@cantv.net (also Vice-chair of IOCARIBE)

Representatives

Dr Gustavo MALAVÉ BUCCE Presidente, Fundación Venezolana de Investigaciones Sismológicas (FUNVISIS) Final Calle Mara, Urb. Llanito Apdo. Postal 76880 Caracas 1070 Tel: 58 212 257 5153/7672/9346 Fax: 58 212 257 9977 Cell: 58 414 303 8165 E-mail: gmalave@funvisis.gob.ve (also Vice-chair ICG/IOCARIBE-EWS)

Capt. Luís Alejandro OJEDA PEREZ Director, Hidrografía y Navegación Armada de Venezuela Tel: 58 212 481 8666 Fax: 58 212 483 58 78 E-mail: dihn@dhn.com.ve/laop@cant.net

Mr Jonny VERA GONZALEZ Oficial de la Armada, Armada de Venezuela Tel: 58 212 361 7842/412 712 6157

Mr Santos VALERO División del Mar Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores Esquina de Carmelitas Torre MRE, Piso 13 Caracas Tel/Fax: 58 212 806 4385 E-mail: santosvalero@yahoo.com

III. OBSERVERS FROM NON-MEMBER STATES OF THE IOC EXECUTIVE COUNCIL/OBSERVATEURS D'ETATS NON-MEMBRES DU CONSEIL EXECUTIF DE LA COI/OBSERVADORES DE PAISES NO MIEMBROS DEL CONSEJO EJECUTIVO DE LA COI

Algeria/Algérie/Argelia

Head of Delegation

M. H. ZIDANI Conseiller, Délégation Permanente de l'Algérie auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 29 63/64 E-mail: dl.algerie@unesco.org

Belize/Belize/Belice

Head of Delegation

Ms Mireille CILBAULT Permanent Delegation of Belize to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris, FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 32 11 E-mail : dl.belize@unesco.org

Cameroon/Cameroun/Camerún

Dr Maurice DOUBE Secrétaire général Ministère de la Recherche scientifique et technique B.P. 1457 Yaoundé Tel/Fax: 237 223 54 67 E-mail : doubemaurice@hotmail.com

Côte d'Ivoire

Head of Delegation

Prof. Joël KOUASSI N'Guessan Directeur, Centre Recherches Océanologiques (CRO) 29, rue des Pêcheurs Treichville, B.P. V18 Abidjan Tel: 225 213) 56 448 Fax: 225 213 51 155 E-mail: knjoel@aviso.ci

Adviser

Mr Loukou KOUAMA Conseiller Délégation Permanente de Côte d'Ivoire auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel : 33 6 88 78 19 73 E-mail: k_loukou11@yahoo.fr

Costa Rica

Head of Delegation

Ms Carla SIENA Ministre Conseiller Permanent Delegation of Costa Rica to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 25 76 Fax: 33 1 42 73 16 45 E-mail: c.sierra@unesco.org

Czech Republic/République Tchèque/ República Checa

Ms Klára QUASNITZOVA Deputy Director Dept. of Environmental Policy & Multilateral Relations Ministry of the Environment Vrsovicka 65 Prague 100 10 Tel: 420 2 67 12 22 15 Fax: 420 2 67 12 27 81 E-mail: quasnitzova@env.cz

Representative

Ms Michaela ANDRESOVA Deputy Permanent Delegate Permanent Delegation of the Czech Republic to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 35 35 Fax: 33 1 42 73 21 80 E-mail: unesco.paris@embassy.mzv.cz

Dominican Republic/République Dominicaine/República Dominicana

Head of Delegation

H.E. Mr Carlos MECHELÉN Embajador/Vice-Presidente Conferencia del Caribe de Delimitación Marítima Secretaría de Estado de Relaciones Exteriores Av. Independencia 752 Santo Domingo Tel: 1 809 535 49 86 Fax: 1 809 284 4143 E-mail : carlosmichelen@gmail.com

Alternate

Ms A. GUZMAN AUBRY Conseillère Délégation Permanente de la République Dominicaine auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 27 10 E-mail: dl.rep-dominicaine@unesco.org

El Salvador

Head of Delegation

Ms Nanette VIAUD DESROCHES Conseillère, Délégué permanent Adjointe Délégation Permanente d'El Salvador auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 19 Fax: 33 1 47 34 41 86 E-mail: dl.el-salvador@unesco.org

Finland/Filande/Finlandia

Head of Delegation

Mr Tapani STIPA Scientist, Finish Institute of Marine Research Erik Palmenin aukio 1 P.O. Box 2 FI-00561 Helsinki Tel: 358 9 61 39 44 45 Fax: 358 9 323 29 70 E-mail: tapani.stipa@fimr.fi

Gabon/Gabón

Head of Delegation

Mr Paul BEKALE Permanent Delegation of Gabon to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 96 Fax: 33 1 45 68 34 94 E-mail: p.bakale@yahoo.fr

Iran, Islamic Republic of/République Islamique d'Iran/República Islámica del Irán

Head of Delegation

Mr E. HADAVI Conseiller Permanent Delegation of the Islamic Republic of Iran to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 30 99 ; Fax: 33 1 45 68 32 99 E-mail: e.hadavi@unesco.org

Israel/Isräel/Israel

Head of Delegation

Mr Daniel SAFRAN-HON Assistant Permanent Delegation of Israel to UNESCO Embassy of Israel 3, rue Rabelais 75008 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 40 76 54 51 Fax: 33 1 40 76 53 32 E-mail: Israel-unesco@paris.mfa.gov.il

Lybian Arab Jamahiriya/Jamahiriya Arabe Libyenne/Jamahiriya Arabe Libia

Head of Delegation

Mr Abdul Baset A. ABUISSA Director of Directorate of Studies & Consultations Marine Chemistry & Pollution Researcher Marine Biology Research Centre P.O. Box 30830 Tajura Tel: 218 21 369 0001/3 Fax: 218 21 369 0002 E-mail: abasetabuissa@hotmail.com abasetabuissa@mbrc-ly.org

Madagascar

Head of Delegation

Mr Jean-Jacques RANDRIAFAMANTANANTSOA Scientific Adviser Permanent Delegation of Madagascar to UNESCO 40, rue General Foy 75008 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 42 93 92 51 Fax: 33 1 45 22 22 89 E-mail: depemada@wanadoo.fr

Malta/Malte/Malta

Head of Delegation

Mr Aldo DRAGO Director, IOI, Malta Operational Centre University of Malta c/o 43, Valley Road Birkirkara Bkr 10 Tel/Fax: 356 2144 0972 E-mail: aldo.drago@um.edu.mt

Monaco/Mónaco

Head of Delegation

Mr Leif PEGUILLAN Permanent Delegation of Monaco to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 60 Fax : 33 1 45 63 24 52 E-mail : l.peguillan@unesco.org

Morocco/Maroc/Marruecos

Head of Delegation

Mr Rachid BIAZ Conseiller Scientifique a l'Institut National de Recherche Halieutique 1, rue de Tiznit Casablanca Tel: 212 22 20 08 68 Fax: 212 22 26 69 67 E-mail: rachidbiaz@yahoo.fr

Myanmar

Head of Delegation

Ms L. Nang TSAN Counsellor, Embassy of the Union of Myanmar 60, rue de Courcelles 75008 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 62 13 30 Fax: 33 1 56 88 15 90 E-mail: tsan.l-nang@wanadoo.fr

Namibia/Namibie/Namibia

Head of Delegation

Mr Wilfried J. Emoula Ambassadeur Extraordinaire et Plénipotentiare Ambassade de la République de Namibie 80, av. Foch/17, sq. de l'av. Foch 75016 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 44 17 32 65 Fax: 33 1 44 17 32 73 E-mail: namparis@club-internet.fr

Saint Lucia/Sainte Lucie/Santa Lucía

Head of Delegation

Ms Maya KHAWA Permanent Delegation of Saint Lucia to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 33 58 E-mail: dl.sainte-lucie@unesco.org

Saudi Arabia/Arabie Saoudite/ Arabia Saudita

Head of Delegation

Dr Assad Ahmed Mohamed AL-THUKAIR Assistant Prof., Chemistry Dept. King Fahd University of Petroleum & Minerals P.O. Box 157 Dhahran 31261 Tel: 966 3 860 3827 Fax: 966 3 860 4277 E-mail: thukair@kfupm.edu.sa

Spain/Espagne/España

Head of Delegation

Sr. Luis VALDÉS SANTURIO Director, Centro Oceanográfico de Gijón Instituto Español Oceanografía Avda. Principe de Asturia 706 33212 Gijón Tel: 34 985 30 86 72 Fax: 34 985 32 62 77 E-mail: luis.valdes@gc.ieo.es

Sudan/Soudan/Sudán

Head of Delegation

Dr Elhag Abu GABR ELHAG Associate Professor, AHLIA University Chairman IOC Committee National Committee for UNESCO – Sudan 14, Khartoum East 51 Khartoum Tel: 249 912 440 084 E-mail: elhagaelhag@yahoo.co.uk

Adviser

Mr Khalid Abdelgadir SHUKRI First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Sudan to UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 34 88/31 77/31 79 Fax: 33 1 47 34 37 04 E-mail: dl.soudan@unesco.org khalidshook@yahoo.com

Sweden/Suède/Suecia

Head of Delegation

Mr Stig CARLBERG Senior Oceanographer Swedish Meteorological & Hydrological Institute (SMHI) Nya Varvet 31 SE-426 71 Vastra Frolunda Tel: 46 31 751 89 76 Fax: 46 31 751 89 80 E-mail: stig.carlberg@smhi.se

Alternate

Mr Hans DAHLIN Swedish Meteorological & Hydrological Institute (SMHI) SE-601 76 Norrkoping Tel: 46 11 495 83 05 Fax: 46 11 495 80 01 E-mail: hans.dahlin@smhi.se (*Also representing EuroGOOS*)

Prof. Katarina ABRAHAMSSON Chair, Swedish IOC Committee Dept. of Chemical & Biological Engineering Chalmers University of Technology SE 41296 Göteborg Tel: 46 31 772 27 80 Fax: 46 31 772 27 85 E-mail: k@chalmers.se

Syrian Arab Republic/République arabe syrienne/República Árabe Siria

Head of Delegation

Prof. Seif E. NOUREDDIN Dean, High Institute of Marine Research Prof. of Marine Chemistry Tishreen University P.O. Box 2242 Lsttakia Tel: 963 41 42 86 90 Fax: 963 41 428 780 E-mail: dean-himr@tishreen.shern.net snoureddin@hotmail.com

Viet Nam

Head of Delegation

M. Vu Duc TAM Ambassadeur, Délégué Permanent Délégation Permanente du Vietnam auprès de l'UNESCO Représentant Personnel du Président du Vietnam auprès du Conseil Permanent de la Francophonie 2, rue Le Verrier 75006 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 44 32 08 70/72/77 Fax: 33 1 44 32 08 79 E-mail: unescovn@yahoo.com

Dr Tac An NGUYEN Chairman, Vietnam National IOC Committee Vietnam National Commission for UNESCO 1, Cau Da Nha Trang City Tel: 84 58 59 01 09 Fax: 84 58 59 00 34 E-mail: ngacan@dng.vnn.vn Prof. Dang Ngoc THANH Docteur ès Science Vietnam Academy of Science & Technology 18, Hoang Quoc Viet Road Cau Giay Hanoi Tel: 84 4 836 1778 Fax: 84 4 756 4483 E-mail: dnthanh@vast.ac.vn (also Vice-chair WESTPAC)

IV. NON-MEMBER STATES OF THE IOC/ETATS NON MEMBRES DE LA COI/ PAISES NO MIEMBROS DE LA COI

Bolivia/Bolivie/Bolivia

Head of Delegation

Ms Angela AYLLON First Secretary Permanent Delegation of Bolivia to UENSCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE E-mail: a.ayllon@unesco.org

Holy See/Saint Siège/Santa Sede

Head of Delegation

Ms Florence MOTTE Conseiller Délégation du Saint Siège auprès de l'UNESCO 1, rue Miollis 75015 Paris FRANCE Tel: 33 1 45 68 33 13 E-mail: op.saint-siege@unesco.org

V. REPRESENTATIVES & OBSERVERS OF ORGANIZATIONS/ REPRESENTANTS ET OBSERVATEURS D'ORGANISATIONS/ REPRESENTANTES Y OBSERVADORES DE ORGANIZACIONES

A – ICSPRO Agencies

United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

Ms Verle VANDEVEERD Coordinator, GPA Head, Regional Seas, Corals, SIDS OiC DEPI Coordination Office of the Global Programme of Action for the Protection of the Marine Environment from Land-based Activities United Nations Environment Programme P.O. Box 16227 2500 BE The Hague NETHERLANDS Tel: 31 70 311 44 61 Fax: 31 70 311 44 85 E-mail: v.vandeweerd@unep.nl

Mr E. Salif DIOP Head, Ecosystems Section Division of Early Warning & Assessment, UNEP P.O. Box 30552 Nairobi 00100 KENYA Tel: 254 20 762 2015 Fax: 254 20 762 2798 E-mail: salif.diop@unep.org

Mr Nelson Andrade COLMENARES Coordinator, Caribbean Environment Programme Regional Coordinating Unit UNEP-CAR/RCU 14-20 Port Royal Street Kingston JAMAICA Tel: 1 876 922 9267 to 9 Fax: 1 876 922 9292 E-mail: nac.uneprcuja@cwjamaica.com Dr Elaine BAKER Principal Research Fellow UNEP Shelf Programme School of Geosciences, FO5 University of Sydney Sydney NSW 2006 AUSTRALIA Tel: 61 2 9351 3000 Fax: 61 2 9351 0184 E-mail: ebaker@mail.usyd.edu.au

Dr Sarah PROSSER Geochemist, UNEP/GRID-Arendal UNEP Shelf Programme Longum Park, Service Box 706 N-4808 Arendal NORWAY Skype: sarahprosser Fax: 47 3703 5050 E-mail: sarah.prosser@grida.no

United Nations Environment Programme/Mediterranean Action Plan (UNEP/MAP)

Mr Ivica TRUMBIC Director, Priority Actions Programme UNEP/MAP Priority Actions Programme Regional Activity Centre (PAP/RAC) Kraj SV. Ivana II, HR- 21000 Split CROATIA Tel: 385 21 34 04 71 Fax: 385 21 34 04 90 E-mail: ivica.trumbic@ppa.htnet.hr

World Meteorological Organization/ Organisation Météorologique Mondiale /Organizacion Meteorologica Mundial (WMO)

Dr Eduard I. SARUKHANIAN Special Adviser to the Secretary-General on the International Polar Year 2007–2008 7bis, av. de la Paix, Case Postale 2300 1211 Geneva 2 SWITZERLAND Tel: 41 22 730 84 20 Fax: 41 22 730 80 49 E-mail: esarukhan@wmo.int

Mr Edgard CABRERA Chief, Ocean Affairs Division Applications Programme Dept. 7bis, av. de la Paix, Case Postale 2300 1211 Geneva 2 SWITZERLAND Tel: 41 22 730 82 37 Fax: 41 22 730 81 28 E-mail: ecabrera@wmo.int

Mr Dieter C. SCHIESSL Director, Cross-cutting Coordination, WMO 7bis, av. de la Paix, Case Postale 2300 1211 Geneva 2 SWITZERLAND Tel: 41 22 730 83 69 Fax: 41 22 730 80 21 E-mail: dschiessl@wmo.int

International Maritime Organization (IMO)

Mr Gurpreet S. SINGHOTA Senior Technical Officer Operational Safety Section Maritime Safety Division, IMO 4, Albert Embankment London SE1 7SR UNITED KINGDOM Tel: 44 20 7735 7611 Fax: 44 20 7587 3210 E-mail: gsinghota@imo.org

B – Other Intergovernmental Organizations

Intergovernmental Group on Earth Observations (GEO)

Vice Admiral Conrad LAUTENBACHER Jr. Co-Chairman Undersecretary for Oceans & Atmosphere/NOAA Administrator U.S. Dept. of Commerce, Room 5128 14th Street & Constitution Ave, NW Washington DC 20230 Tel: 1 202 482-3436 Fax: 1 202 408 9674 E-mail: conrad.lautenbacher@noaa.gov

International Hydrographic Bureau (IHB)

Capt. Hugo M. GORZIGLIA Chilean Navy, Director, IHB 4, Quai Antoine 1^{er} B.P. 445 MC 98011 Monaco Cedex MONACO Tel: 337 93 10 81 00 Fax: 337 93 10 81 40 E-mail: dir2@ihb.mc

International Ocean Institute/Institut international de l'océan/Instituto Oceánico Internacional (IOI)

Dr Iouri OLIOUNINE Executive Director P.O. Box 3 Gzira MALTA GZR 01 Tel: 356 21 34 65 28 Fax: 356 21 34 65 02 E-mail: ioihq@ioihq.org.mt

North Pacific Marine Science Organization (PICES)

Dr Skip M. McKINNELL Deputy Executive Secretary Institute of Ocean Sciences, PICES P.O. Box 6000 Sidney, British Columbia V8L 4B2 CANADA Tel: 1 250 363 68 26 Fax: 1 250 363 68 27 E-mail: mckinnell@pices.int

South Pacific Applied Geoscience Commission (SOPAC)

Ms Cristelle PRATT Director, SOPAC SOPAC Secretariat Private Mail Bag, G.P.O. Suva FIJI ISLANDS Tel: 679 338 1377 Fax: 379 337 0040 E-mail: cristelle@sopac.org

Centro de Investigación Científica y de Educación Superior en Ensenada (CICESE)

Dr Francisco Javier OCAMPO TORRES Research Scientist División de Oceanología (CICESE) Km 107 Carretera Tijuana Ensenada BC 22860 MEXICO Tel: 52 646 175 0500 Fax: 52 646 175 068 E-mail: ocampo@cicese.mx (Also representing Mexico)

C – Non-Governmental Organizations

Commission of the History of Oceanography

Dr Selim MORCOS 28204 Kenton Lane Santa Clara CA 91350, USA Tel/Fax: 1 661 296 1034 E-mail: selimmorx@aol.com

Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans (POGO)

Prof. Dr Jan W. de LEEUW Senior Scientist Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research Prof. Organic Geochemistry Fac. Geosciences & Biology University of Utrecht P.O. Box 59, 1790 AB Den Burg Texel NETHERLANDS Tel: 31 222 369 471 Fax: 31 222 319 674 E-mail: deleeuw@nioz.nl

Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research (SCOR)

Prof. Bjørn SUNDBY President, SCOR Institut des Sciences de la Mer de Rimouski 310 Allée des Ursulines Rimouski, QC G5L 3A1 CANADA Tel: 1 514 398 48 83 Fax: 1 514 398 46 80 E-mail: bjorn.sundby@mcgill.ca

Mr Ed URBAN

Executive Director, SCOR Dept. of Earth & Planetary Sciences The Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, MD 21218 USA Tel: 1 410 516 42 39 Fax: 1 410 516 40 19 E-mail: ed.urban@jhu.edu

D-International Programmes

Global Climate Observing System (GCOS)

Dr David M. GOODRICH Director, GCOS Secretariat, c/o WMO 7bis, av. de la Paix P.O. Box 2300 CH-1211 Geneva 2 SWITZERLAND Tel: 41 22 730 82 75 Fax: 41 22 730 80 52 E-mail: dgoodrich@wmo.int

EuroGOOS

Mr Hans DAHLIN Director EuroGOOS Director, Swedish Meteorological & Hydrological Institute (SMHI) SE-601 76 Norrkoping Tel: 46 11 495 83 05 Fax: 46 11 495 80 01 E-mail: hans.dahlin@smhi.se (*Also representing Sweden*)

World Climate Research Programme (WCRP)

Dr Vladimir RYABININ WMO/ICSU/IOC Joint Planning Staff (WCRP) Case Postale 2300 7bis, Av. de la Paix, Case Postale 2300 CH-1211 Geneva 2 SWITZERLAND Tel: 41 22 730 84 86 Fax: 41 22 730 80 36 E-mail: vryabinin@wmo.int

E – IOC Primary Subsidiary Bodies (regional & technical)

Black Sea Regional Committee (BSRC)

Prof. V.N. Eremeev Chairman BSRC Director-General, Oceanological Center Ukrainian National Academy of Sciences 2, Kapitanskaya Street Sevastopol 99011 UKRAINE Tel: 380 692 54 04 52/44 10 Fax: 380 692 55 43 52/28 13 E-mail: eremeev@mhi2.sebastopol.ua eremeev@alpha.mhi.iuf.net (Also representing the Ukraine)

Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning & Mitigation System in the North Eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean & Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS)

Prof. Stefano TINTI Chair, ICG/NEAMTWS University of Bologna Viale Berti Pichat, 8 Bologna ITALY Tel: +39 051 2095025 Fax: +39 347 9798409 E-mail: stefano.tinti@unibo.it

IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean (IOCINDIO)

Dr Nasser HADJIZADEH ZAKER Chairman IOCINDIO P.O. Box 14155-4781 Tehran IRAN, Islamic Republic of Tel: 98 21 694 48 67 Fax: 98 21 694 48 66 E-mail: nhzaker@chairman.ut.ac.ir nhzaker@gmail.com

Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Pacific Tsunami Warning & Mitigation System (ICG/PTWS)

Mr Fred STEPHENSON Manager, Geomatics Engineering Canadian Hydrographic Service, Pacific Region Fisheries & Oceans Canada Institute of Ocean Sciences P.O. Box 6000 9860 West Saanich Rd. Sidney, BC V8L 4B2 CANADA Tel: 1 250 363 6350 Fax: 1 250 363 6323 E-mail: stephensonf@pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca (Also representing Canada)

International Oceanographic Data & Information Exchange (IODE)

Dr Lesley J. RICKARDS Chairperson IODE Deputy-Director, Bidston Observatory British Oceanographic Data Centre (BODC) Natural Environment Research Council Bidston Hill, Prenton Merseyside CH43 7RA UNITED KINGDOM Tel: 44 151 795 4897 Fax: 44 151 795 4912 E-mail: ljr@bodc.ac.uk

Global Ocean Observing Systems (GOOS)

Dr Mary ALTALO Vice-chair of I-GOOS Director, Ocean US 1250 Clarendon Arlington, VA USA Tel: 703 588 0849 Fax: 703-588-0872 E-mail: m.altalo@ocean.us

IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (IOCWIO)

Dr Antonio HOGUANE Chairman IOCWIO Coordinator, UNESCO Chair in Marine Sciences & Oceanography Edouardo Mondlane University P.O. Box 257, Maputo MOZAMBIQUE Tel : 258 242 16672 Fax : 258 242 16626 E-mail : hoguane@yahoo.com.br

IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific/Sous-Commission de la COI pour le Pacifique occidental/Subcomisión de la COI para el Pacífico Occidental (WESTPAC)

Dr Hyung Tack HUH Senior Scientist Emeritus 1270 Sa-dong, Sangrak-gy Ansan 426-744 REPUBLIC OF KOREA Tel: 82 31 400 62 01 Fax: 82 31 408 593 4 E-mail: hthuh@kordi.re.kr (*Also representing the Rep. of Korea*)

F. Invited Organizations & Individuals

Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts & Islands

Dr Biliana CICIN-SAIN Co-Chair, Global Forum on Oceans, Coasts & Islands 5346 42nd St. NW Washington DC, 20015 USA Tel: 1 202 237 7272 Fax: 1 302 831 36 68 E-mail: bcs@udel.edu

Ms Lindsey C WILLIAMS. Research Assistant Gerard J. Mangone Center for Marine Policy Graduate College of Marine Studies University of Delaware 301 Robinson Hall Newark, Delaware 19711 USA Tel: 1-302-831-8086 Fax: 1-302-831-3668 Dr John CHURCH Chief Research Scientist Climate, Weather & Ocean Prediction Marine & Atmospheric Research, CSIRO G.P.O. Box 1538 Hobart TAS 7001 AUSTRALIA Tel: 61 3 6232 5207 Fax: 61 3 6232 5123 E-mail: john.church@csiro.au

Dr David CARLSON Director, International Polar Year International Programme Office British Antarctic Survey High Cross, Madingley Road Cambridge, CB3 0ET UNITED KINGDOM Tel: 44 1223 221 618 Fax: 44 1223 221 270 E-mail: ipy2@bas.ac.uk

VI. SECRETARIAT/SECRETARIAT/ SECRETARIA

Tel: 33 1 45 68 10 00/45 68 39 83 Fax: 33 1 45 68 58 12/10 Tlx: 20446 PARIS Cbl: UNESCO PARIS/740057 IOCS UC E-mail:@unesco.org

Executive Secretary

Dr Patricio BERNAL

Executive Secretary's Office

Mr Bernardo ALIAGA Ms Aurora MATEOS (Consultant) Mrs Réjane HERVÉ-SMADJA Mrs Ksenia YVINEC Mrs Silvia SERMENO

Documentation Office

Mr Patrice BONED Mrs Cigié PONTES

Tsunami Unit

Dr Peter KOLTERMANN Dr Masahiro YAMAMOTO Dr Ulrich WOLF Mr Dimitri TRAVIN (Consultant) Mrs Françoise RICOTOU Ms Forest COLLINS

Ocean Sciences Section

Dr Ümit ÜNLÜATA Mr Julian BARBIÈRE Dr Stefano BELFIORE Dr Maria HOOD Mr Roger DARGAVILLE (Consultant) Ms Christiane LE CONAN Ms Virginie BONNET

Intern

Mr Fabio Ledda

Operational Observing Systems and Ocean Services Section

Dr Keith ALVERSON Dr Thorkild AARUP Mr Peter PISSIERSSENS Mr Justin AHANHANZO (Consultant) Ms Candyce CLARK (Seconded Expert) Dr Albert FISCHER Ms Boram LEE Mr Benjamin SIMS Mrs Irene GAZAGNE Mr Adrien VANNIER Mrs Ho Hien LAM Ms Laurence FERRY Mrs Pamela COGHAN

Training, Education & Mutual Assistance

Dr Ehrlich DESA Mrs Sonia GUIRAUD

Intern

Mr Joannes BERQUE

Editor

Mr Ray GRIFFITHS

Staff away from Headquarters

Dr Cesar TORO IOCARIBE Secretariat Casa del Marqués de Valdehoyos Calle de la Factoría, Centro Cartagena COLOMBIA Tel: 57 5 664 6399 Fax: 57 5 660 0407 E-mail: iocaribe@enred.com; c.toro@unesco.org Dr Henrik ENEVOLDSEN Project Coordinator Harmful Algae Bloom Programme IOC Science & Communication Centre on Harmful Algae, Botanical Institute University of Copenhagen Oster Farimagsgade 2 D-1353 Copenhagen DENMARK Tel: 45 33 13 44 46 Fax: 45 33 13 44 47 E-mail: henrike@bot.ku.dk http://ioc.unesco.org/hab

Mr William ERB Head, Perth Regional Programme Office c/o Bureau of Meteorology P.O. Box 1370, West Perth, WA 6872 AUSTRALIA Tel: 61 8 9226 2899 Fax: 61 8 9226 0599 E-mail: w.erb@bom.gov.au

Dr Jane CUNNEEN Perth Regional Programme Office c/o Bureau of Meteorology P.O. Box 1370, West Perth, WA 6872 AUSTRALIA Tel: 61 8 9321 9976 Fax: 61 8 9226 0599 E-mail: j.cunneen@unesco.org

Ms Mónica LIÓN IOC-IEO Science & Communication Centre on Harmful Algae Instituto Español de Oceanografía Centro Oceanográfico de Vigo Aptdo 1552, 36200 Ponteverde Vigo SPAIN Tel: 34 986 4921 11 Fax: 4 986 49 2003 E-mail: monica/lion@vi.ieo.es

Mr Mika ODIDO Head, IOCWIO Project Office P.O. Box 95832 Mombasa 80106 KENYA Tel: 254 41 47 25 27 Fax: 254 41 47 51 57 E-mail: m.odido@unesco.org Mr Miguel FORTES UNESCO-IOC/WESTPAC Regional Secretariat c/o The Department of Marine and Coastal Resources (DMCR) Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment 92 soi Phaholyothin 7 Samsennai, Bangkok 10400 Thailand Tel: (+66) 2/2982142 Fax: (+66) 2/2982637 E-mail : m.fortes@unescobkk.org; westpac@unescobkk.org

Ms Janice TROTTE Rio GOOS Office Directoria de Hidrografia e Navegação Rua Barão de Jaceguai s/n° Niteroi CEP 24, 24 048 900 Rio de Janeiro BRAZIL Tel : 55 21 26 13 80 13 Fax : 55 21 26 13 80 88 E-mail : janice.trotte@terra.com.br (Also representing Brazil) Mr Mathieu BELBEOCH Technical Coordinator International Argo Information Centre JCOMMOPS 8-10, rue Hermes Parc Technologique du Canal 31520 Ramonville St Agne FRANCE Tel: 33 5 61 39 47 30 Fax: 33 5 61 39 47 97 E-mail: belboch@jcommops.org

Dr Vladimir VLADYMYROV Head, IODE Project Office, c/o VLIZ Flanders Marine Institute Wandelaarkaai 7 B-8400 Ostend BELGIUM Tel: (32) 59 34 01 58 Fax: (32) 59 34 01 52 E-mail: v.vladymyrov@unesco.org

Dr Laura S.L. KONG International Tsunami Information Centre Director, ITIC 737 Bishop St., Suite 2200 Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 USA Tel: 1 808 532 6423 Fax: 1 808 532 5576 E-mail: l.kong@unesco.org

ANNEX IX

LIST OF ACRONYMS

A/RES/	Resolution adopted by the UN General Assembly
ABE-LOS (IOC/)	Advisory Body of Experts on the Law of the Sea
AoA	Assessment of Assessments
Argo	GODAE global profiling float project [not an acronym]
ATWC	Atlantic Tsunami Warning Centre
CAR/CU	Regional Coordination Unit for the Caribbean (UNEP)
CARIBE-EWS	Tsunami and Other Coastal Hazards Warning System for the
	Caribbean and Adjacent Regions
CARICOM	Caribbean Community
CDERA	Caribbean Disaster Emergency Response Agency
CERMES	Centre for Resource Management and Environmental Studies
	(University of the West Indies, Barbados)
CGTMT	IOC Criteria and Guidelines on the Transfer of Marine Technology
CliC	Climate and Cryosphere Programme (WMO)
CLIVAR	Climate Variability and Predictability (WMO)
CLME	Caribbean Large Marine Ecosystem
CoML	Census of Marine Life
COSMAR	Coastal and Marine Secretariat (NEPAD)
CPPS	Permanent Commission for the South Pacific
CRFM	Caribbean Regional Fisheries Mechanism
CSIRO	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization
СТВТО	Commission for the Nuclear-Test Ban Treaty Organization
DART	Deep-ocean Assessment and Reporting of Tsunamis
DBCP	Data Buoy Cooperation Panel
DMCG	Data Management Coordination Group (JCOMM)
DOALOS	Department of Ocean Affairs and the Law of the Sea (UN)
DR	Draft Resolution
EC	Executive Council
EEZ	Exclusive Economic Zone
ESEAS	European Sea-level Service
FAO EM A D	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Future of Marine Animal Populations (CoML)
FMAP FUST	Flanders UNESCO Science Trust Fund
G77	Group of Seventy-Seven at the United Nations (signatories of the
G//	"Joint Declaration of the Seventy-Seven Countries", 15 june 1964)
GCLME	Guinea Current Large Marine Ecosystem
GEF	Global Environment Facility (World Bank–UNEP–UNDP)
GEO	Group on Earth Observations [ad hoc intergovernmental group]
GEOSS	Global Earth Observation System of Systems
GLOSS	Global Sea Level Observing System (IOC)
GOHWMS	Ad hoc Working Group on Global Ocean-related Hazards Warning
	and Mitigation System (IOC)
GOOS	Global Ocean Observing System (IOC–WMO–UNEP–ICSU)
GRA	GOOS Regional Alliance
GSSC	GOOS Scientific Steering Committee (I-GOOS)

GTOS	Global Terrestrial Observing System (FAO–UNEP–WMO–
6105	UNESCO-ICSU)
GTS	Global Telecommunication System (WMO)
HMAP	History of Marine Animal Populations (CoML)
ICAM	Integrated Coastal Area Management Programme (IOC)
ICES	International Council for the Exploration of the Sea
ICES	Intergovernmental Coordination Group (IOC)
ICSU	International Council for Science [formerly International Council of
10.00	Scientific Unions]
I-GOOS	Intergovernmental Committee for GOOS (IOC–WMO–UNEP)
IHB	International Hydrographic Bureau
IHO	International Hydrographic Organization
IMO	International Maritime Organization
INCO	Iranian National Centre for Oceanography
INF	IOC Information document
IOCARIBE	IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions
IOCINDIO	IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean
IOCWIO	IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean
IODE	International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange (IOC)
IOGOOS	Global Ocean Observing System in the Indian Ocean (IOC/GOOS)
IOI	International Ocean Institute
IOTWS	Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (IOC)
IPY	International Polar Year
ISDR	International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UN)
ITIC	International Tsunami Information Centre (IOC)
ITSU	Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific (IOC)
JCOMM	IOC–WMO Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and
JCOMMOPS	Marine Meteorology
JMA	JCOMM Observing Platform Support Japan Meteorological Agency
J-PICO	Joint GOOS-GTOS Panel for Integrated Coastal Observations
LME	Large marine ecosystem
LOICZ	Land–Ocean Interaction in the Coastal Zone (ICSU)
MarBEF	Marine Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning
MDG	Millennium Development Goals (UN)
MLA	Main Lines of Action [UNESCO budgetary designation]
MoU	Memorandum of Understanding
NEAMTWS	Tsunami Early Warning System in the North-east Atlantic and the
	Mediterranean and Connected Seas (IOC)
NEPAD	New Partnership for Africa's Development
NGO	Non-governmental organization
NOAA	U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NODC	National Oceanographic Data Centre (IOC/IODE)
NWPTAC	North West Pacific Tsunami Advisory Centre
NWS	U.S. National Weather Service
OBIS	Ocean Biogeographic Information System (CoML)
ODIN ODINA EDICA	Oceanographic Data and Information Network (IOC/IODE)
ODINAFRICA	Ocean Data and Information Network for Africa (IOC/IODE)
ODINCARSA	Ocean Data and Information Network for the Caribbean and South
	America Regions (IOC/IODE)

ODINGUNDIO	
ODINCINDIO	Ocean Data and Information Network for the IOCINDIO region
	(IOC/IODE)
ODINWESTPAC	Ocean Data and Information Network for the WESTPAC region
	(IOC/IODE)
OLA	Office of Legal Affairs (DOALOS)
PICES	North Pacific Marine Science Organization
POGO	Partnership for Observation of the Global Oceans
PTWC	Pacific Tsunami Warning Centre (IOC)
PTWS	Pacific Tsunami Warning System (IOC)
ROPME	Regional Organization for the Protection of the Marine Environment
SOPAC	South Pacific Applied Geoscience Council
TOPS	The Ocean Policy Summit 2005
TOR	Terms of Reference
TTR	Training-Through-Research Programme (IOC)
UN	United Nations
UNCLOS	United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFCCC	UN Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNGA	United Nations General Assembly
UNIDO	United Nations Industrial Development Organization
UNITWIN	University Twinning Programme
WC/ATWC	West Coast/Alaska Tsunami Warning Centre
WCRP	World Climate Research Programme (WMO-IOC-ICSU)
WDC-A	World Data Centre A
WESTPAC	IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific
WIOMSA	Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association
WIS	WMO Information Systems
WMO	World Meteorological Organization

In thi	s Series	Languages
	orts of Governing and Major Subsidiary Bodies, which was initiated at the beginning of 1984, apports of the following meetings have already been issued:	
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	Eleventh Session of the Working Committee on international Oceanographic Data Exchange Seventeenth Session of the Executive Council Fourth Session of the Working Committee for Training, Education and Mutual Assistance Fifth Session of the Working Committee for the Global Investigation of Pollution in the Marine Environment First Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions Third Session of the <i>ad hoc</i> Task team to Study the Implications, for the Commission, of the UN Convention on the	E, F, S, R E , F, S, R,Ar E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S E, F, S E, F, S, R
7. 8. 9. 10.	Law of the Sea and the New Ocean Regime First Session of the Programme Group on Ocean Processes and Climate Eighteenth Session of the Executive Council Thirteenth Session of the Assembly Tenth Session of the International Co-ordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific	E, F, S, R E, F, S, R, Ar E, F, S, R, Ar
10. 11. 12. 13. 14. 15. 16. 17. 18. 19. 20.	Nineteenth Session of the INC Regional Co-Cordination For the Global Investigation of Pollution in the Marine Environment Sixth Session of the IOC Scientific Committee for the Global Investigation of Pollution in the Marine Environment Twelfth Session of the IOC Scientific Committee on International Oceanographic Data Exchange Second Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions, Havana, 1986 First Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Eastern Atlantic, Praia, 1987 Second Session of the IOC Programme Group on Ocean Processes and Climate Twentieth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1987 Fourteenth Session of the Assembly, Paris, 1987 Fifth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Southern Ocean Eleventh Session of the International Co-ordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Beijing, 1987	E, F, S, R, Ar E, F, S E, F, S, R E, F, S E, F, S E, F, S E, F, S, R, Ar E, F, S, R E, F, S, R
21.	Second Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean, Arusha, 1987	E, F
22. 23. 24. 25. 26. 27.	Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Pacific, Bangkok, 1987 Twenty-first Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1988 Twenty-second Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1989 Fifteenth Session of the Assembly, Paris, 1989 Third Session of the IOC Committee on Ocean Processes and Climate, Paris, 1989 Twelfth Session of the International Co-ordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Novosibirski,	E only E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R
28. 29. 30. 31. 32.	1989 Third Session of the Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions, Caracas, 1989 First Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific, Hangzhou, 1990 Fifth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Pacific, Hangzhou, 1990 Twenty-third Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1990 Thirteenth Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange, New York, 1990	E, S E only E only E, F, S, R E only
33. 34. 35. 36. 37. 38.	Seventh Session of the IOC Committee for the Global Investigation of Pollution in the Marine Environment, Paris, 1991 Fifth Session of the IOC Committee for Training, Education and Mutual Assistance in Marine Sciences, Paris, 1991 Fourth Session of the IOC Committee on Ocean Processes and Climate, Paris, 1991 Twenty-fourth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1991 Sixteenth Session of the Assembly, Paris, 1991 Thirteenth Session of the International Co-ordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Baja	E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R, Ar E, F, S, R
39. 40. 41. 42. 43.	California, 1991 Second Session of the IOC-WMO Intergovernmental WOCE Panel, Paris, 1992 Twenty-fifth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1992 Fifth Session of the IOC Committee on Ocean Processes and Climate, Paris, 1992 Second Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Eastern Atlantic, Lagos, 1990 First Session of the Joint IOC-UNEP Intergovernmental Panel for the Global Investigation of Pollution in the Marine	E only E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F E, F, S, R
44. 45.	Environment, Paris, 1992 First Session of the IOC-FAO Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms, Paris, 1992 Fourteenth Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange, Paris,	E, F, S E, F, S, R
46.	1992 Third Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean, Vascoas, 1992	E, F
47. 48. 49. 50. 51. 52. 53.	Second Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific, Bangkok, 1993 Fourth Session of the IOC Sub-Cornmission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions, Veracruz, 1992 Third Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Eastern Atlantic, Dakar, 1993 First Session of the IOC Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 1993 Twenty-sixth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1993 Seventeenth Session of the Assembly, Paris, 1993 Fourteenth Session of the International Co-ordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Tokyo,	E only E, S E, F E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R
54. 55. 56. 57.	1993 Second Session of the IOC-FAO Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms, Paris, 1993 Twenty-seventh Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1994 First Planning Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Melbourne, 1994 Eighth Session of the IOC-UNEP-IMO Committee for the Global Investigation of Pollution in the Marine Environment, San José, Costa Rica, 1994	E, F, S E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S
58. 59. 60.	Twenty-eighth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1995 Eighteenth Session of the Assembly, Paris, 1995 Second Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 1995	E, F, S, R E, F, S, R E, F, S, R

61.	Third Session of the IOC-WMO Intergovernmental WOCE Panel, Paris, 1995	E only
62.	Fifteenth Session of the International Co-ordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Papetee, 1995	E, F, S, R
63. 64.	Third Session of the IOC-FAO Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms, Paris, 1995 Fifteenth Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange	E, F, S E, F, S, R
65.	Second Planning Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 1995	E only
66.	Third Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific, Tokyo, 1996	E only
67.	Fifth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions, Christ Church, 1995	E, S
68. 69.	Intergovernmental Meeting on the IOC Black Sea Regional Programme in Marine Sciences and Services Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Eastern Atlantic, Las Palmas, 1995	E, R E, F, S
70.	Twenty-ninth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1996	E, F, S, R
71.	Sixth Session for the IOC Regional Committee for the Southern Ocean and the First Southern Ocean Forum,	E, F, S,
72.	Bremerhaven, 1996 IOC Black Sea Regional Committee, First Session, Varna, 1996	E, R
73.	IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean, Fourth	E, F
	Session, Mombasa, 1997	
74. 75.	Nineteenth Session of the Assembly, Paris, 1997	E, F, S, R
76.	Third Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 1997 Thirtieth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1997	E, F, S, R E, F, S, R
77.	Second Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean, Goa, 1996	E only
78.	Sixteenth Session of the International Co-ordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Lima, 1997	E, F, S, R
79.	Thirty-first Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1998	E, F, S, R
80. 81.	Thirty-second Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 1999 Second Session of the IOC Black Sea Regional Committee, Istanbul, 1999	E, F, S, R E only
82.	Twentieth Session of the Assembly, Paris, 1999	E, F, S, R
83.	Fourth Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 1999	E, F, S, R
84.	Seventeenth Session of the International Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Seoul, 1999	E, F, S, R
85.	Fourth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific, Seoul, 1999	E only
86.	Thirty-third Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 2000	E, F, S, R
87.	Thirty-fourth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 2001	E, F, S, R
88.	Extraordinary Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 2001	E, F, S, R
89. 90.	Sixth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions, San José, 1999 Twenty-first Session of the Assembly, Paris, 2001	E only E, F, S, R
91.	Thirty-fifth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 2001	E, F, S, R
92.	Sixteenth Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange, Lisbon, 2000	E, F, S, R
93.	Eighteenth Session of the International Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Cartagena, 2001	E, F, S, R
94.	Fifth Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 2001	E, F, S, R
95. 96.	Seventh Session of the IOC Sub-commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE), Mexico, 2002 Fifth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific, Australia, 2002	E, S E only
97.	Thirty-sixth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 2003	E only E, F, S, R
98.	Twenty-second Session of the Assembly, Paris, 2003	E, F, S, R
99.	Fifth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Co-operative Investigation in the North and Central Western Indian Ocean, Kenya, 2002 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E*
100.	Sixth Session of the IOC Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal Blooms, St. Petersburg (USA), 2002 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E*
101.	Seventeenth Session of the IOC Committee on International Oceanographic Data and Information Exchange, Paris, 2003 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E*
102.	Sixth Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 2003 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E*
103.	Nineteenth Session of the International Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific, Wellington, New Zealand, 2003 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E*
104.	Third Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean, Tehran, Islamic Republic of Iran, 21-23 February 2000	Eonly
105.	Thirty-seventh Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 2004	E, F, S, R E*
106. 107.	Seventh Session of the IOC-WMO-UNEP Committee for the Global Ocean Observing System, Paris, 2005 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R); and Extraordinary Session, Paris, 20 June 2005 First Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation	E only
107.	System (ICG/IOTWS), Perth, Australia, 3–5 August 2005 Twentieth Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Warning System in the Pacific,	E only E*
109.	Viña del Mar, Chile, 3–7 October 2005 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R) Twenty-Third Session of the Assembly, Paris, 21–30 June 2005	L E, F, S, R
109.	First Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami Early Warning and Mitigation System in the North Eastern Atlantic, the Mediterranean and Connected Seas (ICG/NEAMTWS), Rome, Italy,	E, F, S, R E only
111.	21–22 November 2005 Eighth Session of the IOC Sub-commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE), Recife, Brazil,	E*
112.	14–17 April 2004 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R) First Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Tsunami and other Coastal Hazards Warning	E only
440	System for the Caribbean Sea and Adjacent Regions (ICG/CARIBE-EWS), Bridgetown, Barbados, 10–12 January 2006	
113.	Ninth Session of the IOC Sub-Commission for the Caribbean and Adjacent Regions (IOCARIBE), Cartagena de Indias, Colombia, 19–22 April 2006 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E S*

114.	Second Session of the Intergovernmental Coordination Group for the Indian Ocean Tsunami Warning and Mitigation System (ICG/IOTWS), Hyderabad, India, 14–16 December 2005	E
115.	Second Session of the WMO-IOC Joint Technical Commission for Oceanography and Marine Meteorology, Halifax, Canada, 19–27 September 2005 (Abridged final report with resolutions and recommendations)	E, F, R, S
116.	Sixth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Western Indian Ocean (IOCWIO), Maputo, Mozambique, 2–4 November 2005 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E*
117.	Fourth Session of the IOC Regional Committee for the Central Indian Ocean, Colombo, Sri Lanka 8–10 December 2005 (* Executive Summary available separately in E, F, S & R)	E*
118. 119.	Thirty-eighth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 20 June 2005 (Electronic copy only) Thirty-ninth Session of the Executive Council, Paris, 21–28 June 2006	E, F, R, S E, F, R, S